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Before COVID-19 disrupted lives and livelihoods, across 
the world, Pakistan was already in the midst of an 
education crisis with millions of vulnerable children out 
of school. Now, as the pandemic pushes more families 
into poverty, many school–going children may be forced 
to work full–time, and girls in particular might never 
return to school – putting learning opportunities for an 
entire generation, at risk.

For over 25 years, The Citizens Foundation has built a 
global movement for education in Pakistan with support 
from ordinary citizens. While we have come far, this 
pandemic has made our task even more challenging. As 
we move ahead with renewed vigour and resolve, we 
need your support more than ever.

Join us in bringing our children 
back to school, and in keeping 
their dreams alive.





Legal Status and Nature of Operations
The Citizens Foundation (‘the Foundation’) was incorporated in Pakistan as a company limited by guarantee on 24 September 1996 under section 
42 of the Companies Act 2017. The Foundation is principally engaged in establishing schools to promote education. The Foundation receives funds 
from cross sections of society within and outside Pakistan for building primary and secondary schools as well as for operation of schools. These 
donations are made by organisations, institutions and individuals. All donations to TCF by individuals or corporates are exempt from Income tax as 
per prescribed limits given in Income tax Ordinance 2001.
 
The registered office of the Foundation is situated at Plot No. 20, Sector No. 14, Near Brookes Chowrangi, Korangi Industrial Area, Karachi, Pakistan

JCR-VIS Credit Rating
JCR-VIS Credit Rating Company Limited has affirmed the Nonprofit Organisation Governance rating of The Citizens Foundation at ‘GR-9+’ on a 
scale of 1 to 10, which reflects a “Very High Level of Governance”. 
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The Citizens Foundation (TCF) is a professionally managed, 
not-for-profit organisation set up in 1995 by a group of 
citizens who wanted to bring about positive social change 
through education. 25 years later, TCF is now one of 
Pakistan’s leading organisations in the field of education for 
the less privileged.

The TCF model focuses on providing quality education 
through purpose-built schools located in the heart of 
Pakistan’s urban slums and rural communities. The 
organisation ensures that girls make up nearly 50% of overall 
student strength. To magnify its impact, improve enrolment 
and quality of education, TCF also adopts Government 
schools across Pakistan.



Integrity

Ownership  

Continuous Improvement

Positive Change
To remove barriers of class and privilege, to make the citizens of Pakistan agents of positive change.

Quality Education
Through the power of quality education, enabling moral, spiritual and intellectual enlightenment.

Better Future
Creating opportunities to improve quality of life.

MISSION

VISION

VALUES
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OUR IMPACT
IN NUMBERS

Communities reached
across Pakistan

700+

25 years of believing in 
the power of education

School Units operational
in all provinces

1,652

Students reading,
learning and dreaming

266,000

90% of TCF matriculates
pursue Intermediate education 

45% of them go ahead to complete
their tertiary education

71%* of TCF alumni above the age
of 22 are gainfully employed and
another 15% are still studying 

41,521
Graduates empowered
to pursue their dreams

Adult learners empowered
to read and write

120,000

*This percentage number is based on an alumni survey conducted in 2017

**The infographic shows cumulative running totals of volunteers and adult learners.

All numbers are projected totals for 2020-21
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In more than 700 locations across Pakistan, we are on-the-ground 
providing quality education where it is needed the most.

PROVIDING EDUCATION
ACROSS THE NATION

A bigger dot plotted for school locations in Karachi in this dot density map denotes 400+ schools in peripheral areas and slums in the city.

School Units

08  |  Keeping dreams alive  

Sindh

Punjab

Balochistan

KPK

AJK 

768

716

84

74

10
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A GENERATION
AT RISK

“Pakistan is one of 12 
countries at extreme 
risk of increased 
school dropouts and 
wider learning 
inequalities.” 

The COVID-19 pandemic has 
triggered an education emergency 
of unprecedented scale. A recent 
report published by, ‘Save the 
Children’ estimates that at least 10 
million school-going children across 
the world will be forced to drop out 
of school due to the impact of the 
pandemic.

The report states that: 



1 Only one million school-age children have regular access to digital devices and bandwidth, according to the Pakistan Telecommunications Authority.

More boys will take
up full-time jobs

More children, particularly boys, will be forced 
to work full time to help families cope with 
income losses during the crisis.

More girls will be forced 
into early marriages

Loss of income will drive more parents to 
marry off their young daughters to reduce 
their economic burden. 

Learning inequality
will increase

The digital divide1 in Pakistan has resulted 
in severe learning losses for marginalized 
students and may lead them to drop out of 
the education system forever. 

Rising poverty 
levels risk a rise 
in out-of-school 
children



TCF students take over 
responsibility of their father's 
studio when he leaves town.

Ayesha (holding a camera) with her sisters
and father in their photography studio.



“Our father had to leave for Punjab when our grandfather 
fell ill amid COVID-19, leaving me and my four sisters in 
charge of his shop. He is a photographer, and so we had 
to figure out how to operate the system, deal with 
customers and manage the finances in his absence. 
Because of the pandemic, we also had to make sure 
that we were following all preventive guidelines in our 
shop while providing service. At the same time we were 
keeping up with the learning opportunities that our 
school was providing us with. 

Our father has returned now, but we still go and help him 
out in the shop. Something worthwhile to keep in mind is 
that, as children, we should always be our parents’ 
courage. My teachers have always encouraged me to 
believe in myself and remain confident no matter how 
hard the circumstances are. We were nervous but that 
didn’t stop us. Through thick and thin we stood shoulder 
to shoulder with our parents in support and persevered 
through this difficult time.”

Ayesha Salim
Grade 8   |   Musa Goth, Karachi



DIRECTORS’
REPORT

The pandemic is a call to renew our 
commitment to the children of this 
country, ensuring that they have 
the opportunity to succeed at 
school and develop the knowledge, 
skills, attitudes and values that will 
allow them to contribute to society. 



The Directors of The Citizens Foundation (TCF) are pleased to 
present to you the Annual Report along with the organisation's 
audited financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2020.

Pakistan's Macroeconomic Situation 

The present government, through readjustments in fiscal and 
monetary policies, has been trying to stabilise the economic 
environment of the country. As the new fiscal year began, the 
stabilisation process gained momentum with the 
commencement of the IMF supported economic reforms 
programme in July 2019. In months that followed, the 
economy showed some early signs of recovery. 

However, the COVID-19 outbreak in February 2020 brought all 
economic activities to a near-halt. The country was placed 
under lockdown. The closure of non-essential businesses had 
a significant impact on wholesale and retail trade. The drop in 
domestic and global demand also compounded the strains on 
the industrial sector. The country’s main industrial sector – 
textile and apparel - was highly exposed to COVID-19-related 
disruptions due to its high labour-intensity and cancellation of 
export orders. According to a survey conducted by Gallup 
Pakistan, over 54% of Pakistanis faced pay cuts or layoffs 
due to the pandemic, which adversely impacted their 
household income. 

In the last few months, as the spread of infections has eased in 
the country, businesses have started to reopen. However, the 
road to recovery will be much longer. According to the Pakistan 
Economic Survey 2019-20, the country’s GDP is expected to 
contract by 3% in FY2020. The fiscal deficit is also projected to 
go as high as 8.1% of the GDP. The government is fully 
committed to make way for new investments in the 
manufacturing sector to boost exports, reorganise its tax 
system and energy sector and to improve the overall business 
environment. The IMF in its report - “Policy Actions Taken by 
Countries” has reviewed various steps taken by Pakistan’s 
government since March to deal with the COVID-19 crisis and 
has forecasted a gradual economic recovery in the fiscal year 
2021 as the country reopens.

The E�ect of an Economic Crisis on Educational 
Outcomes

The COVID-19 pandemic affected educational systems 
worldwide. Schools, colleges and universities closed; and by 
early April 2020, according to a report published by Save the 
Children International, 1.6 billion learners globally had their 
education disrupted. In Pakistan, almost 46 million learners 
and 1.5 million teachers employed nationwide were impacted 
by the pandemic. Prolonged closures of educational 
institutions highlighted inequalities in education, digital divide 
and gaps in distance and remote learning. The same report 
from Save the Children states that Pakistan is one of 12 
countries ‘at extreme risk’ of increased school dropouts and 
wider learning inequalities. According to the Pakistan 
Telecommunication Authority, nearly 98% of 50 million 
school-aged children in Pakistan don’t have regular access to 
digital devices and internet. School shutdowns have caused 

disproportionate learning losses for less privileged 
students—compounding existing gaps. This could have 
long-term effects on these children's education, their 
economic well-being and on the economy as a whole. 

Amidst these challenges, TCF remains committed to its 
mission of educating the most vulnerable children of Pakistan. 
Essential guidelines and protocols are being prepared to 
enable the safe reopening of TCF Schools from September 
2020, ensuring health, safety, and well-being of our students, 
principals and teachers as they return to school.

Our Response to COVID-19

During this unprecedented time, TCF launched a Rs 500 
million COVID-19 Response Appeal on April 1, 2020, to battle 
the devastating impact of the coronavirus crisis. With the 
support of our donors, we mobilised substantial cash-based 
relief in the most vulnerable communities where we operate. 
More than 700 TCF alumni and teachers led this effort and 
reached out to 45,000+ households in more than 250 
communities across the country. Building on this, we also 
extended support to 33 hospitals and healthcare centres in 18 
towns and cities of the country, providing a total of 20,000 
personal protection (PPE) kits urgently needed for healthcare 
workers to save lives. By the end of June 2020, a total of Rs 
114 million was spent on these initiatives. 

To ensure continuity of the learning and engagement for 
millions of children who were forced to stay out of school, TCF 
made its first foray into TV-based edutainment. We went on to 
produce “Ilm ka Aangan” – a TV show for early learners which 
is being aired across 4 TV channels of the country, receiving 6 
million+ views every week. We also started publishing a 
magazine by the same name “Ilm ka Angan”, which is being 
printed and dispatched every fortnight in Urdu and Sindhi 
languages to our communities. TCF plans to continue building 
on these initiatives in the coming year as well.  
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Khalil, a TCF student in Gwadar, selling candies and snacks after school to
support his family.



Directors

At the date of this report, the Directors of TCF are:

Non-Executive Directors*

Mr Ahsan M. Saleem
Mr Ateed Riaz              
Ms Farzana Zulqarnain
Mr Imtiaz Sultanali Dossa
Mr Ishaque Noor 
Mr Mushtaq K. Chhapra
Ms Nilofer Saeed
Mr Rashid Abdulla
Mr Riyaz Chinoy
Gen. (R) Sabeeh Qamar uz Zaman
Mr. Shahbaz Yasin Malik

Executive Director

Syed Asaad Ayub Ahmad,
President and Chief Executive Officer

Composition of the Board of Directors

The total number of Directors is 12 and male to female
ratio 10:2

Foundation’s Principal Activities

The Foundation is principally engaged in establishing schools 
across Pakistan for the less privileged children, giving them 
support and opportunities they deserve to become productive 
global citizens. The Foundation received funds from a broad 
cross-section of society within and outside Pakistan to 
support operations of its primary and secondary schools.

Operational Performance & Results

TCF is currently operating a network of 1,652 school units, 
including 299 government schools with 266,000 students 
across the country.

Organisation’s total expenses grew by 9% as compared to the 
previous year. It also includes the support extended under the 
COVID-19 Response Appeal. The year marked a relatively 
lower increase in the operating expenditure due to coronavirus 
related school closures. Under programme administration, the 
increase is mainly due to the salaries of employees hired for 
new programmes to realise TCF’s Vision 2030.

Core donation income inclusive of tuition fee and 
reimbursement from the government is 5% less than last year 
due to low and controlled charitable giving during these 
uncertain times. Hence, the deficit of Rs. 125m. Zakat 
process (both collection and utilisation) is regularly reviewed 
by the Shariah Advisor. His report has also been annexed as 
part of this Annual Report.

Liquidity Profile

Cash flow projections are prepared, monitored and reviewed 
regularly. This practise ensures seamless operations and 
facilitates effective investment decisions in order to maximise 
returns. Additionally, under this uncertain economic climate, 
the management is meeting more often, using data-rich 
financial dashboards to monitor donation flows.

Corporate Governance
   
The Foundation strives to comply with the requirements of the 
Code of Corporate Governance Regulations 2019. This is 
practiced on a voluntary basis to ensure good governance.

Human Capital

The development of human capital is of utmost importance at 
TCF. We strongly believe that without investment in human 
capital, the organisation goals and strategies cannot be 
accomplished. Our focus in 2019/20 remained on attracting 
and developing the best talent within the financial constraints,
and reinforcing positive performance through rewards, 
trainings and appraisals. We strongly believe in diversity and 
its strength. We strive to give equal opportunity to all 
candidates irrespective of their gender, religion or background 
to develop an inclusive culture. Moving forward, we aim to 
equip our human resource with updated technology-driven 
tools to take better decisions. 

Relationship Capital 

Our relationship with donors, stakeholders, grantors, 
students, suppliers and civil society is based on ethics and 
transparency. In particular, digital transformation, is an 
essential part of our strategic progress, to enhance the donor 
experience, among other goals. Moreover, several other 
programmes are launched at regular intervals to strengthen 
relationships. 

Description
PKR in million

4,405

3,913

263

488

17,503

10,088

Donations and Fees

Operating Expenditure

Education Programme

Other Programmes

Programme Administration

Total Assets

Net Assets

2020 2019

4,375

3,762

121

401

16,677

  9,805
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*The names have been arranged in alphabetical order.



Intellectual Capital

Intellectual capital at TCF is based on protection of 
trademarks and respecting the rights to copyrights. 

Financial Capital

One of the most significant aspects of strategic planning at 
TCF is maintenance of robust financial capital at all times. 
Vigilant and appropriate risk allocation decisions have led to 
maintenance of adequate financial capital as reflected in 
financial statements. 

Risk Management and Compliance

Owing to the changing landscape and intermittent regulations, 
guidelines and rules for non-profits, legal and compliance 
areas require constant attention. The Board is cognisant of 
the matter and has strengthened the Risk & Compliance 
Committee. During the year, the committee met once and has 
made necessary changes for effective risk management and 
compliance. 

Principal risks and uncertainties of the Foundation are:

Mitigating ActionRisks
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We manage this through organisational training, implementation of policies and 
procedures that ensure that all TCF employees know how to act and respond 
appropriately in any situation.

We keep up with the regulatory changes and create internal policies and procedures 
to implement them.

This is managed by diversifying our financial resources for continuous flow of funds.

We stay diversified within each type of investment.

We manage this through an independent internal audit function that reports directly 
to the Board. Other monitoring mechanisms are in place at an organisational and 
departmental level as well.

We attract, develop and retain the best talent at all levels of the organisation.

A set of policies, procedures and practices are in place to ensure that no harm 
comes to children or other stakeholders as a result of their contact with the 
organisation, its programmes or people. 

Reputational Risk

Regulatory Risk

Contribution Risk

Investment Risk

Internal Control Risk

Recruitment & Retention Risk

Safeguarding Risk



Statement on Corporate and Financial Reporting 
Framework

•  These financial statements prepared by the management of  
   TCF present fairly - its state of affairs, the result of its  
   operations, cash flows and changes in funds and reserves.

•  Proper books of accounts of the Foundation have been
   maintained.

•  Appropriate accounting policies have been consistently                
   applied in preparation of the financial statements and          
   accounting estimates. 

•  Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as applicable in      
   Pakistan have been followed to prepare the Foundation’s  
   financial statements. Approved accounting standards  
   comprise of such International Accounting Standards as  
   notified under provisions of the Companies Act 2017. In  
   case the requirements differ, the provisions of or directives  
   issued under the Companies Act 2017 shall prevail.

•  The Internal control systems have effectively been designed  
   and implemented. These systems are continuously  
   monitored by Internal Audit and through other monitoring  
   mechanisms. The process of monitoring internal controls  
   will continue as an ongoing process with the objective to  
   further strengthen the controls and bring improvements to  
   the system.

•  There are no significant doubts upon the Foundation’s ability  
   to continue as a going concern.

•  There has been no material departure from the best  
   practices of corporate governance.

Appropriation of Reserves

Members of the TCF Board approved an appropriation of 
deficit fund of PKR 125 million at the end of the year to be 
transferred to general funds in 2020-21.

Subsequent Events

No material changes or commitments affecting the financial 
position of the Foundation have taken place between the end 
of the financial year and the date of the Report except for the 
appropriation of deficit as mentioned above.

Board Meetings and Attendance

The Board holds regular scheduled meetings throughout the 
year. During the financial year ended June 30, 2020, six 
meetings of the Board of Directors were held. None of the 
meetings were held outside Pakistan.

Related Party Information 

All related party transactions during the year 2019-20 were 
placed before the Audit Committee and the Board for their 
review and approval. These transactions were duly approved. 
The related party transactions mainly comprised of:

a) PKR 344.5 million as donations received from the 
companies, in which Directors of the Foundation hold 
directorial positions. 

b) PKR 8.9 million in respect of donations from the 
Foundation's Directors.

c) PKR 57.4 million paid as remuneration/compensation to 
key management personnel and PKR 1.0 million received in 
respect of donation to the Foundation from their personal 
income.

Board Members Attendence

/6

/6

/6

/6

/6

/6

/6

/6

/6

/6

/6

/6

5

5

2

5

5

5

6

0

6

0

6

5

Mr Ahsan M. Saleem
Non-Executive Director

Mr Ateed Riaz
Non-Executive Director

Ms Farzana Zulqarnain
Non-Executive Director

Mr Imtiaz Sultanali Dossa
Non-Executive Director

Mr Ishaque Noor
Non-Executive Director

Mr Mushtaq K. Chhapra
Non-Executive Director

Ms Nilofer Saeed
Non-Executive Director

Mr Rashid Abdulla
Non-Executive Director

Mr Riyaz Chinoy
Non-Executive Director

Gen. (R) Sabeeh Qamar uz Zaman
Non-Executive Director

Mr Shahbaz Yasin Malik
Non-Executive Director

Syed Asaad Ayub Ahmad
Executive Director
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Leave of absence was granted to the Directors who did not attend the meetings



d) PKR 7.6 million paid to the companies on account of 
goods/services received as well as membership fee, in which 
Directors of the Foundation also held/ holding directorial 
positions. Further, PKR 0.8 million paid to a relative of the 
Director of the Foundation under employment contract.

Abstract under section 213 (1) of the Companies
Act, 2017

During the year ended June 30, 2020, the remuneration of 
Syed Asaad Ayub Ahmad, Chief Executive Officer was 
increased from PKR 919,850 per month to PKR 1,033,700 per 
month w.e.f. November 2019. There was no change in other 
terms and conditions of his appointment. 

Involvement of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors of TCF are experienced and qualified 
professionals who bring a diverse range of professional and 
technical expertise to the organisation. The members discuss 
strategic objectives, budgetary expenses and receipts, 
national landscape, international macroeconomic indicators 
and challenges to ensure that the Foundation’s strategy stays 
aligned with the core vision.

The Board of Directors provides oversight on the Foundation’s 
strategy and management effectiveness in order to ensure 
alignment with its core mission as well as its operating 
environment.

The Board also plays a critical role in ensuring the 
Foundation's financial sustainability through its fundraising 
efforts as well as being a source of guidance and expertise for 
all functional leaders within the organisation.

Financial Statements

The financial statements of the Foundation have been 
approved and duly audited without qualification by the 
auditors of the Foundation and KPMG Taseer Hadi & Co. 
Chartered Accountants; their report is attached with the 
financial statements.

Recommendation for Change of Auditors

In order to follow the good governance practices, the audit 
committee has recommended the appointment of PwC A.F. 
Fergusons & Co. as statutory auditors of the Foundation for 
the next audit cycle, replacing the existing auditors KPMG 
Taseer Hadi & Co. who have been the external auditors of the 
Foundation for the past 18 years. 

Based on the recommendation by the Audit Committee, the 
Board has duly endorsed and have proposed the appointment 
of PwC A. F. Fergusons & Co. Chartered Accountants, as 
external auditors for the year ending 30 June 2021, for 
consideration at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

Syed Asaad Ayub Ahmad
Chief Executive Officer

31 August, 2020

Ateed Riaz
Chairman & Director
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GROWTH THROUGH
GOOD GOVERNANCE
Review Report by the Chairman

TCF continues to strive towards 
strong ethics, highest level of 
transparency and corporate 
governance, and the Board has 
been a key catalyst in all that we 
have accomplished.

Mehreen, a TCF student in Karachi,
watering the plants in a Nursery where she is employed.



Dear Stakeholders,

On behalf of the Board, I am pleased to present my review 
report for the year.

The report highlights the performance of the Board and its 
effectiveness in achieving the organisation’s aims and 
objectives for the year ended June 30, 2020.

An Unprecedented Challenge

The global pandemic posed challenges of an unparalleled 
nature this year. The social, economic and health implications 
of coronavirus have been witnessed by everyone, everywhere 
across the world.

TCF faced a number of critical challenges as a result of this 
pandemic, including school closures all across Pakistan - 
causing a massive disruption in education, especially for 
children living in impoverished areas of the country.

Amidst this uncertainty, TCF remained resilient and committed 
in its mission to educate. We continued to move forward 
towards our vision, through innovative and dynamic strategies 
whilst tackling the challenges brought about by the pandemic.

Board’s Performance and E�ectiveness

TCF has a strong governance framework, supportive of an 
effective and prudent management of business matters, 
which has helped manage the emanating risks and turbulence 
of the COVID-19 crisis.

The Board Committees continue to work with a great measure 
of proficiency. The Audit Committee focused, in particular, on 
the strengthening of internal audit systems and on ensuring 

risk-based management, particularly those risks associated 
with the COVID-19 crisis. This is of particular significance as 
this situation is unique and unprecedented - affecting the 
organisation’s core and other operations.

The Risk and Compliance Committee also met during the year 
to discuss strategies for the identification and mitigation of 
the key risks throughout the organisation, with special 
emphasis on risks associated with the COVID-19 situation.

The Human Resource and Remuneration Committee ensured 
that HR policies regarding performance management, staffing, 
compensation and benefits remain market-driven and are 
aligned to the organisation’s performance and stakeholders’ 
interests with appropriate adjustments due to the pandemic.

The Investment Management Committee, headed by an 
industry expert, continued to perform well – enabling safe and 
steady returns. The fast changing economic realities, 
heightened amid COVID-19, have been strategically managed 
under the recommendations of the Committee.

On the financial front, costs, operations and cash flow 
management have remained key priorities. TCF has managed 
to remain stable amid this crisis and has moved forward on its 
growth path.

The Board has reviewed the Annual Report and Financial 
Statements, and is pleased to confirm that in its view, the 
report and financial statements taken as a whole are fair, 
balanced and understandable.

The Board carries out a review of its effectiveness and 
performance each year after the closure of the Fiscal year. 
Overall effectiveness of the Board was assessed as 
satisfactory in achieving the Foundation’s objectives.
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The overall assessment by the Board was based on an 
evaluation of the following integral components:

Vision, mission and values
The Board members are familiar with the vision, mission and 
values, which are supported by them and deemed appropriate 
for the Foundation.

Engagement in strategic planning
The Board has a clear understanding of the stakeholders 
whom the organisation is accountable to, including students, 
donors, grantors, employees, vendors and the society in 
general. The Board has the strategic vision of how the 
organisation should be evolving over the next ten years and is 
steadily inching towards progress with due tracking.

Formulation of policies
The Board has established policies that cover all essential 
areas of the Board’s responsibilities and operations of the 
Foundation.

Monitoring the Foundation’s operating activities
The Board is knowledgeable about the Foundation’s 
operations, and has an effective process for tracking various 
programmes and activities under certain parameters.

Adequacy of financial resources management
The Board is knowledgeable about the key aspects of 
managing the financial resources of the Foundation and 
provides appropriate direction and oversight on a timely 
basis.

Provide effective fiscal oversight
The Board ensures that the budget reflects the priorities 

established in the annual strategic plan and it complies with 
regulations governing the audit or independent examination of 
financial statements. The Board considers all the 
recommendations made in the management letter.

Act as a responsible employer
The Board has created necessary policies in order to ensure 
that the organisation behaves in an equitable and legal 
manner towards staff, contractors, vendors and any other 
individual working on its behalf.

Relationship between Board and staff
Roles and Responsibilities of the Board and management 
staff are clearly defined and understood and a climate of 
mutual trust and respect exists between the Board and the 
Management.

Foundation’s public image
The Board members promote positive image of the 
Foundation in their respective circles.

Review of the CEO’s performance
The Board assesses the performance of the CEO in a fair and 
systematic manner and ensures that CEO’s remuneration is 
aligned with the Foundation’s performance, stakeholders’ 
interest and the sustainable success.

Board structure and dynamics
The size and composition of the Board is adequate and 
consists of a good mix of new and old directors that govern 
Board procedures. The engagement is active and the Board 
meets frequently enough to adequately discharge its 
responsibilities.

The strategic direction of the organisation for the long term is 
clear and appropriate. We remain committed to being 
accountable to all our stakeholders - donors, volunteers, 
employees, supporters, regulators and most of all our 
students who are central to our purpose - in a fair and 
transparent way. While this dynamic challenge stands in our 
way, we will continue to work towards our mission.

I want to express my gratitude to all the stakeholders across 
the globe for their continued and unflinching support towards 
our cause. Your belief in education will enable our students to 
become agents of positive change, and take Pakistan to 
greater heights.

Ateed Riaz
Chairman & Director
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WITH EVERY HARDSHIP
COMES EASE 

The TCF team rose up to this novel 
COVID-19 situation, acting swiftly to 
put our work back on track and 
move forward with our mission. 

CEO’s Message



With Every Hardship Comes Ease

In over two decades of our work to enable quality education for 
the less privileged, we have not witnessed such disruption and 
uncertainty as caused by the coronavirus crisis this year. Our 
schools and all other programmes came to a screeching halt in 
April - leaving us, like the rest of the world, to figure out how to 
adapt to new ways of working. I’m extremely proud and 
grateful to my team at TCF who rose up to this novel situation, 
acting swiftly to put our work back on track and move forward 
with our mission. The conversations around the COVID-19 
pandemic are dominated by challenges posed to human lives 
and global economies. But amidst this, I also believe that this 
crisis gave us an opportunity to deconstruct the ‘normal’ and 
reimagine our lives, our work and our future. While we continue 
to unfold the ‘new normal,’ I’d like to share a few initiatives that 
we all can take pride in.

Sustaining our Team 

In the midst of job losses, pay cuts and furloughs, the TCF 
Board and Management decided that it will not lay off any TCF 
employee, including our teachers and principals, during the 
COVID-19 crisis. This decision was taken in early March when 
there was uncertainty as to how this pandemic would impact 
our donation flow. We committed ourselves to stand by our 
TCF family – our people who work tirelessly every day for the 
cause. It helped to keep the morale of our employees high and 
give them a sense of security. They were able to focus on their 
families, helping them sustain through the crisis rather than 
worry about their jobs.

TCF’s Youth-led Appeal

TCF alumni came together as a unified youth movement on the 
frontlines of our COVID-19 Response. They were on the ground 
for almost two months (including the holy month of Ramzan) to 
lead our efforts to provide cash-based relief to more than 
45,500 households in need, in 250 TCF communities all over 
the country. They surveyed, collected data and facilitated 
economic relief for hundreds of deserving families. I believe this 
is something we can all take pride in; our 25-year-old 
movement to empower children and youth of this country is 
now blooming!

TV – a Medium for Teaching

In Pakistan, it is unfortunate that no quality and culturally 
relevant programming is available for children on local TV 
channels. When schools across the country abruptly closed, 
we were able to produce a TV show called “Ilm ka Aangan” for 
early learners on PTV Teleschool – a new education channel 
initiated by the Ministry of Federal Education. TCF took its 
curriculum for early childhood education to TV. We produced a 
show that engaged children through theme-based videos, 
activities, storytelling sessions and much more. So far, we have 
produced 18 episodes of the show, which is now being aired 
on 3 private TV channels as well, receiving a total of 6 million+ 
views every week. This project has opened doors for us to 

explore TV as a medium for teaching and learning, expanding 
our work and impact. 

Bringing Joy through Stories

In 2018, the TCF programme design team developed 80 short 
story books in Urdu language as part of our lab school initiative 
– an effort to revamp the Early Years Programme at TCF. These 
story books are meant to provide joyful, meaningful and 
context-appropriate Urdu content for children. This year, these 
Urdu stories went beyond our classrooms when renowned TV 
actor, Sania Saeed, volunteered to narrate our stories as part of 
the “Ilm ka Aangan” programme. She used her amazing talent - 
her voice, facial expressions and body language to create 
characters and express emotions, making each story come 
alive for the children. These stories are now also available on 
TCF’s YouTube channel.  

TCF Alumni – First Generation College Students

As our bright young students graduate from TCF schools 
across the country, many take a road their families never 
thought possible. Right now, 100% of our alumni who get 
enrolled in undergraduate colleges are first-generation 
learners - the first in their family to go to college! It is college 
admission season now in Pakistan. Hundreds of our alumni 
are making their way into some of the best colleges and 
universities of the country - including LUMS, IBA, NED, GIKI, 
FAST, DOW Medical University, IoBM, and many others. While 
this uncharted territory comes with a range of emotions, for all 
of them, it means the chance to change the trajectory of their 
entire families’ and communities’ future. Together, we have 
empowered them to achieve their dreams. 

We’re Ready to Reopen

We are preparing to reopen all TCF schools in September 
2020. Our teams are working tirelessly to address challenges 
such as: increased school dropouts, learning losses, 
socio-emotional impact of the pandemic on students and staff 
as well as their health and safety. Schools will be reopened in 
2 phases. Phase 1 is characterized by a strict emphasis on 
personal hygiene, sanitization of premises, social distancing, 
and ability to cope with emergency situations. Only 50% 
students will attend school each day of the school week. 
Phase 2 will only begin after the risk level for COVID-19 is 
reduced. All children will be allowed to attend school together 
based on government and WHO recommendations. We will 
continue to follow our protocols on hygiene from Phase 1. If 
health risks return, schools will return to Phase 1 protocols 
and guidelines.
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______________________________
Syed Asaad Ayub Ahmad
President & CEO

Prioritizing Social & Emotional Well-being

The COVID-19 pandemic turned out to be much more than a 
health crisis. It did not only disrupt social and economic 
activities, but also severely impacted emotional well-being of 
millions across the globe. Lives of TCF principals, teachers, 
students and their parents have also been deeply impacted as 
a result of this crisis. As we reopen, we are committing 
ourselves to realign our priorities and ensure an adequate 
balance between academic learning and mental health & 
well-being with the intention of fostering a sense of safety, 
hope, compassion and belonging. Some of our well-being 
strategies include – structured time for students to immerse 
themselves in engaging discussions and activities within 
which there will be a conscious effort to weave in cognitive, 
social and emotional skills, gratitude and mindfulness. We will 
hold regular ‘Staff Circles,’ for our faculty members focused 
on open conversations on feelings, concerns and 
experiences, providing a collaborative space for emotional 
peer support.

As I close, I want to thank each and every member of the TCF 
family – our donors, volunteers, supporters, faculty, 
non-faculty and office staff who stood by us in this difficult 
time and continued to support us in their capacities. Thank 
you for supporting the dreams of these children under our 
care and enabling them to be agents of positive change for 
their families and communities at large.   

With Gratitude
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Boota, a TCF student in Lahore, bathing his little brother in their makeshift tent.



TCF COVID-19
RESPONSE APPEAL
In April 2020, The Citizens Foundation 
launched its COVID-19 Response Appeal 
to battle the devastating impact of the 
coronavirus crisis. Under this appeal 20% 
of Sadqah, Zakat or general donations 
given to TCF went towards providing 
essential relief to impacted communities 
and support to frontline healthcare 
professionals and volunteers, along with 
ensuring continuity of learning for 
millions of children who were forced to 
stay out of school.



We provided cash-based relief to struggling families in our most 
vulnerable school communities.

Sustaining TCF Communities

Households
45,500

Communities 
250

distributed in
relief e�orts

PKR 110 MILLION

We supported frontline healthcare professionals and volunteers with 
protective gear that they urgently needed.

Supporting Frontline Healthcare Workers

PPE Kits
20,000

Healthcare Centers
34+

invested in PPE Kits
PKR 26 MILLION

Highlights

We provided support to community based hospitals 
and healthcare centers.

Our PPE kits included non-woven 60GSM coverall, 
N-95 masks and latex gloves.

The protective gear helped in protecting our frontline 
fighters - doctors, nurses, clinical staff and healthcare 
volunteers, braving the frontlines to save lives.

Highlights

The relief efforts were led by thousands of TCF 
teachers and alumni who identified the most deserving 
households suffering amid the lockdown.

We partnered with JazzCash to disburse relief via 
mobile-cash transfers for impacted households.

Upon receiving relief funds, the families purchased 
groceries from their own neighbourhoods, which gave 
a boost to the economic activity in the community.
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LEARNING IN TIMES
OF COVID-19

TCF designed and 
launched its 
Distance Learning 
and Support 
Programme in 
response to the 
COVID-19 pandemic. 
With no access to digital tools to 
receive an education online, we 
ensured that our students stay 
connected with the culture of formal 
learning during school closures, 
enhance their functional literacy and 
numeracy skills while at home and 
follow a sense of routine and 
discipline to manage the emotional 
impact of the pandemic. 





ILM KA AANGAN TV SHOW
TEACHING QUALITY LESSONS 
TO CHILDREN ON TV
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were narrated
by Kahani Aunty,
Sania Saeed.

18 URDU
STORIES

Tuned in every week across 4 national channels to watch the show. 
6 MILLION+ VIEWERS

The show was designed on 
TCF’s play-based early 
childhood education model.

It focused on basic literacy, 
numeracy and 
socio-emotional well-being.

Highlights

In April 2020, TCF made its first foray in TV-based edutainment in collaboration with Pakistan Television’s Tele-school and the 
Federal Ministry of Education.

This 45-minute long TV programme, Ilm Ka Aangan, ran for 18 weeks and engaged children across Pakistan through 
theme-based videos, activities, storytelling sessions by renowned actor Sania Saeed, physical exercise segments and much 
more amid school closures.



ILM KA AANGAN MAGAZINE 
MAKING GREAT LEARNING 
MATERIAL FOR CHILDREN



TCF began publishing an edutainment magazine, Ilm Ka Aangan, for primary and secondary school learners separately.

Each issue featured a variety of fun exercises including math quizzes, riddles, DIY activities, reading comprehension, stories and 
much more. Copies of the magazine were collected fortnightly by TCF students or parents from school campuses across our 
network. TCF is likely to continue offering this magazine to its students for the next two to three years.
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copies of each issue are
being printed in Urdu and
Sindhi languages.

182,000+

branches of 21 other school
systems partnered with
TCF to print the magazine
for their students.

96+

Every issue of the Ilm ka Aangan magazine is being reviewed and 
edited by Mr. Salim Mughal, Ex Editor-in-Chief of the famous Hamdard 
Naunehal magazine started for children in Pakistan in 1953. 

Highlights



ILM UJALA 
CONNECTING COMMUNITY 
THROUGH TUTORING



TCF launched small tutoring groups in its school communities across Pakistan to enable learning amid school 
closures.

Under the Ilm Ujala initiative we mobilised our teachers, alumni and other volunteers, who identified a space in their 
communities and put together their tuition group with guidance from TCF school principals. Students were 
instructed to adhere to social distancing recommendations, wear mask and to avoid close contact.

Given the uncertainty of the virus situation there is a possibility that authorities may reopen schools for a period of 
time and then decide to close them again temporarily. However, we foresee that our Ilm Ujala volunteers will be 
flexible and would resume their tuitions if schools in the country close again. 
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There is a special focus on learning
topics essential for grade progression.

2,500+

Highlights

A typical group
comprises of one tutor and

5-7
STUDENTS

Volunteer tutors are now a part of the
Ilm Ujala programme.



WELCOMING OUR CHILDREN
BACK TO SCHOOL

Safe Reopening
of Schools
As we welcome our children back 
into their classrooms, we are 
ensuring that our operations are 
aligned with public health and safety 
guidelines on COVID-19 to protect 
our sta� and students. We are 
reopening our schools in a phased 
manner based on guidelines in four 
key areas.



Social Distancing

• Reducing the class size by 50%
• Discontinuing assemblies
• Keeping students 2 meters apart
• Limiting student interaction 
• Holding in-class recess 
• Closing school canteens and   
  discouraging students from sharing food.

Monitoring Health

• Daily health checks
• Prompt action upon identification of     
  students showing symptoms

Cleaning and Hygiene

• Encouraging students to wash hands     
  frequently
• Cleaning floors and surfaces regularly
• Deep cleaning of schools if needed

Educating Communities

• Prioritising community engagement to     
  address concerns
• Sharing clear messaging for COVID-19     
  prevention and control in schools



PRIORITISING 
SOCIO-EMOTIONAL
WELL-BEING
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The COVID-19 pandemic turned out to be much more than a health crisis. It disrupted social and economic activities and 
severely impacted the socio-emotional and financial well-being of millions across the globe. Lives of TCF principals, teachers, 
students and their parents have also been deeply impacted.

As we reopen our 1600+ schools across the country, we have committed ourselves to realign our priorities and ensure an 
adequate balance between academic learning and emotional well-being, whilst fostering a sense of safety, hope, compassion 
and belonging.

The beginning and end 
of each day is dedicated 
to open conversation 
and reflection. 

Structured 40-minute 
periods have also been 
introduced throughout 
the week to improve 
students’ physical and 
mental well-being.

TCF sta� is actively engaging 
with parents, encouraging them 
to ensure continuity in their 
child’s learning.

Students' Socio-emotional Well-being

School-Community
Relationship

Sta� has more clarity in policy 
matters and the burden of 
routine tasks has been reduced 
so they can focus on bridging the 
learning gap and on the child’s 
well-being.

An Enabling Policy
Environment

Sta� circles are being conducted 
to provide sta� a collaborative 
space for social and emotional 
peer support, problem solving 
and discussions on self-care.

Sta� Circles
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OTHER PROGRAMME
HIGHLIGHTS

Making progress as a 
knowledge-sharing organisation 

With 25 years of experience in content development and teacher 
training, TCF as part of its Strategy 2030, instated a team that can help 
market and offer its books and teacher training material developed in 
the last two decades to those outside the organisation. Now, more 
than 240+ low-cost private schools use TCF textbooks, teacher guides 
and workbooks in the quest to provide better learning opportunities 
and outcomes in classrooms. A teacher training programme was also 
piloted in four low-income areas on effective techniques in pedagogy 
to improve the quality of teaching and learning in classrooms beyond 
TCF schools. This initiative will be scaled up in 2020-21.  

Living the ‘Care and 
Growth’ values

Last year, the HR Department formally 
introduced the Care and Growth Model to its 
school principals and other leaders within the 
organisation. This leadership model focuses 
on preparing people for success and posits 
that a leader through his/her genuine intent, 
care, fairness, humility, trust and respect can 
help people prosper and, in the process, can 
grow and realize one’s own full potential as 
well. Mr. Fakhir Shah, CEO, Schuitema, 
Pakistan, is leading this project for TCF and 
has been assisting with content, processes, 
and applications of this model. TCF intends 
to strengthen this theme and is working 
towards embedding it as part of its 
organisational culture. 

While maintaining focus on its 
Education Programme, TCF is 
moving ahead with its 
community and alumni support 
initiatives and engaging with all 
stakeholders to help shape the 
education landscape in Pakistan.
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100% of our alumni who get enrolled in undergraduate colleges 
are first-generation learners - the first in their family to go to 
college. Every year, almost 45% of TCF graduates who 
complete their Intermediate education make way to higher 
education institutions in varied disciplines. This year, nearly 
600+ students have been admitted, out of which 60% are girls. 
TCF with support of its donors and university partners provides 
assistance to its deserving students who are not in a position to 
continue their education because of financial constraints. 

TCF’s Adult Literacy Programme, Aagahi, enables out 
of school girls and community women to read and 
write in Urdu, do basic Math, and learn about health 
and hygiene. Over the past 15 years, 6,300+ Aagahi 
classes have been held across Pakistan, impacting 
the lives of 120,000+ women. In 2019-20, 11,000+ 
learners successfully learned to read and write. 
Supporters of this programme include - Shield 
Corporation Ltd., Bayer Pakistan Ltd., National Foods 
Limited, UNESCO, Mary M. Dansbury Trust, 
International Textiles Ltd., Mr. Sajjad Ebrahim, the 
family of Mr. Masood Sheikh, and various other 
philanthropic donors. Additionally, the ‘Aagahi for 
Factory Workers’ project was also launched this year, 
in partnership with Levi Strauss Foundation and 
Artistic Milliners, targeting 900+ adult learners. 

Alumni making inroads into 
higher education

TCF’s Community Development team also 
manages our ‘Clean Water Initiative’ 
which involves installing, running and 
maintaining water filtration plants within 
TCF school premises to benefit the 
community. This year, around 19 clean 
water plants benefitted 24,000 men, 
women and children daily across Punjab, 
Sindh and Balochistan. A 3-year MoU has 
also been signed with The Water 
Foundation for the installation of up to 20 
more clean water plants in TCF schools. 

Increasing access
to clean water

Spreading the
light of literacy

Under the ‘Empowering Women through Skills Training and 
Micro-enterprise’ project, 180 girls from TCF school communities across 
Sindh, Punjab and AJK received training in domestic tailoring and fashion 
design - the latter being offered in collaboration with Karvaan Crafts 
Foundation. Upon certification, 164 girls registered as apprentices to work 
for TCF and other customers. This year, these apprentices were able to 
earn an income by stitching more than 14,000 TCF school uniforms. TCF is 
also collaborating with Target International and Artistic Milliners for 
upcycling excess material to develop products, which the apprentices can 
stitch to earn an income. Supporters of this project include Trafigura 
Foundation, Mr. Sajjad Ebrahim, and TCF-USA (Washington DC Group, 
Seeds of Learning, and Sacramento Chapter).

Empowering women through 
vocational training
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FUNDRAISING
HIGHLIGHTS

Melodies for a Cause - Supporters of TCF hold yet another 
season of Obhartay Sitaray

Obhartay Sitaray, an inter-school singing competition, was hosted for the 8th consecutive year, bringing together 
over 200+ teams from 136 school units of Karachi. The event helped support educational efforts by TCF and 
provided a platform to the young, emerging talent of Pakistan. This year, more than 1,500 students, teachers, 
parents and community members marched out in support of education at Ilmathon - a walk for education hosted 
by Young Education Supporters (YES) and sponsored by the Engro Foundation. TCF also hosted its 16th Annual 
Golf Tournament, bringing together more than 112 avid golfers who played to raise funds to cover operational 
costs of afternoon school shifts in 5 villages across Sindh. TCF’s Baghbaan Programme witnessed overwhelming 
support from its volunteers who organised several virtual meet-ups over the year to raise funds for education.

In the latter half of the year, the coronavirus 
pandemic put much of our global on-ground 
fundraising events on hold. However, we are 
extremely grateful to our partners, supporters and 
grantors who extended incredible support through 
their virtual activities and events and kept TCF’s 
mission alive. Let’s take a look back at the year.
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TCF-USA hosted its biennial chapters 
conference, ‘Moving Forward | The Next 
Decade’ where leaders and volunteers from 
across the USA, along with representatives 
of TCF-Canada, TCF-UK and TCF-Pakistan, 
came together as part of the global TCF 
family. The event helped inspire, and aid 
learning and sharing of valuable ideas to 
drive TCF’s vision forward. 

During the year, 8,000+ participants 
attended more than 40 in-person and virtual 
TCF-USA local chapter events ranging from 
annual fundraising galas, donor appreciation 
dinners, golf and cricket tournaments, 
marathons, book reading sessions, and 
much more. 

Moving Forward -
The Next Decade | TCF-USA enables education for many 

In October, 2019, an exclusive fundraising dinner themed ‘The Symposium 
of Queens’ was hosted by TCF-UK. The event paid homage to three 
enigmatic queens: Queen Elizabeth, Queen Hurrem Sultan and Queen Nur 
Jahan, who were all embodiment of strength and empowerment in the 16th 
century. The event showcased some great fashion, music and poetry from 
three eras - The Tudors, The Ottomans and The Mughals - and helped raise 
invaluable funds for the cause of education.  

Later, smaller online fundraising events included a virtual concert featuring 
singer Nazia Zuberi Hassan, a virtual ‘Quarantine Quiz Night’ organised by 
the South London Chapter, and virtual yoga classes by Farah 
Wigmore-Sykes among others. 

The Symposium of Queens | TCF-UK takes 
its fundraising e�orts to new heights



44  |  Keeping dreams alive  

In October 2019, TCF-Ireland 
hosted its first fundraising gala in 
Dublin. The event featured great 
music maestro Alamgir, Pakistan's 
legendary pop music icon and 
was attended by more than 700 
supporters. Now registered with 
Company Formation Ireland (CFI) 
to manage funds, TCF-Ireland 
aims to broaden its donor base in 
Ireland.

Dublin Fundraising Gala | TCF Ireland 
takes its fundraising o� the ground

This year during Ramzan, ‘The Literacy 
Challenge’ which is TCF-Canada’s annual, 
peer-to-peer fundraising campaign, 
brought together 141 participants who 
pledged to spend 3 hours without using 
their ability to read or write. That meant no 
emails, books, or social media! After the 
three hours, participants were encouraged 
to reflect on their experience on social 
media and start a conversation with their 
friends and family. Their participation 
generated much needed funds and helped 
bring the light of literacy to a large number 
of less privileged children in Pakistan. In 
October 2019, TCF-Canada also hosted 
its 14th Annual Fundraising Gala in 
Toronto which helped raise funds for over 
2,000 deserving children in Pakistan.

The Literacy Challenge | 
TCF-Canada forges ahead 
with its commitment to 
help educate

Annual Gala in Gallerie 
d’Italia | Italian Friends of 
TCF continue with their 
art-based fundraising

In September 2019, Italian Friends of TCF organised their flagship gala 
event in the prestigious setting of Gallerie d’Italia in Milan. The event 
included a guided tour of the Canova and Thorvaldsen exhibition. More 
than 120 supporters of the Italian chapter gathered to support quality 
education in Pakistan. Later, a Christmas fundraiser called ‘Dolcetti per 
Bene,’ was organised where volunteers wrapped and sold traditional 
cookies and cakes, Pecan Balls and Panettoni to generate funds. 
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In November 2019, the TCF Education Programme was selected as 
one of the top 25 projects worldwide to be showcased under the Expo 
2020 Dubai’s Global Best Practice Programme. This programme 
highlighted projects from around the world that have proven impactful 
and sustainable and are aimed at achieving the Sustainable 
Development Goals.

Around 100+ young professionals also came together at an event in 
Dubai in January 2020 to sign up for TCF UAE’s Baghbaan 
Ambassador’s Programme, to help raise awareness about the cause. 
TCF-UAE also successfully arranged a school visit at the TCF Uthal 
Campus in Islamabad for Her Highness Sheikha Jawaher bint 
Mohammed al Qasimi, Chairperson of The Big Heart Foundation, 
Eminent Advocate for refugee children at UNHCR and wife of the Ruler 
of Sharjah. The Big Heart Foundation and Her Highness Sheikha 
Jawaher have been longtime supporters of TCF. TCF-UAE also received 
a special award from its regulator, the International Humanitarian City 
recognizing it as the oldest member of the IHC since 2004. 

In September 2019, TCF-Norway completed a big milestone by 
building and fully supporting its first TCF School outside of 
Lahore. A delegation from Norway comprising of chapter 
members and donors travelled to Pakistan for the inauguration 
ceremony. Mr. Kjell-Gunnar Eriksen, Ambassador of Norway to 
Pakistan also attended the event. This year, TCF-Norway also 
welcomed some new board members - Usman A Mushtaq, 
Bushra Butt, Friha Aftab and Maryam Khan and also formed an 
advisory board with prominent leaders in Norway.

In October 2019, TCF-Australia organised a 
successful Annual Fundraising Gala that featured a 
Comedy Bingo Night. The gala was a sell-out event, 
truly enjoyed by all. Once again this year, 
TCF-Australia took part in Blackmores Sydney 
Running Festival to raise awareness and funds for 
TCF. ‘Team Khan’ consisted of Subha Khan, Ghazala 
Khan and Dr. Sayeed Khan. TCF-Australia also 
stepped forward to help people in crisis affected by 
the devastating bushfires in the country. The team 
held an urgent food drive in January 2020 and 
partnered with Foodbank, Australia’s largest food 
relief charity, to help people in crisis. 

Opening of the first school | 
TCF-Norway moves ahead with 
its e�orts to make a di�erence

Annual Gala | TCF-Australia 
continues its fundraising 
e�orts with great vigour

TCF at Dubai Expo 2020 | 
TCF-UAE showcases best 
practices to the world



A TCF student's 
learning journey 
continues with support 
from a TCF alumna.



“Noor Muhammad is a very diligent student so the school principal was quite 
surprised when he didn’t turn up for the tutoring sessions arranged by the 
school,” recalls Shahana Ali, a TCF alumna living in Ghulam Hussain Jhokio 
Village, located a few kilometers away from Karachi. “We live in the same 
neighbourhood so she asked me to check up on him.”  
 
Shahana immediately visited Noor’s family to inquire about his absence. Upon 
meeting his mother, she learned that Noor’s elder brother had lost his job amid 
COVID-19 and his father had been very ill. Amid such circumstances, Noor had 
been sent to Gwadar, Balochistan, to work as a labourer with his uncle.  
 
“Noor doesn’t have a smartphone or internet. How was he to attend online 
classes?” Noor’s mother had asked Shahana. 
 
“After speaking to Noor’s mother, I immediately turned to my brother for help. 
He is a dish TV cable operator and has his own shop in the community.  I 
convinced him to hire Noor as a helper so he could manage to earn a living 
while staying in the village. I also requested him to lend Noor his mobile during 
the class time so the boy could also continue his studies,” shared Shahana.
 
Shahana’s brother agreed and within a few days, Noor was called back from 
Gwadar. Not only did he learn how to install dish TV cable in peoples’ homes, 
but he was able to continue his studies. Noor missed a few classes in the 
beginning, but was soon able to catch up on the syllabus.  

Noor Muhammad
Grade 10  |  Ghulam Hussain Jokhio Village, Karachi



Ahsan M. Saleem

One of TCF’s Co-Founders, Mr. 
Ahsan M. Saleem is the Chief 
Executive Officer of Crescent 
Steel & Allied Products Limited. 
He is also presently serving on 
the Board of several listed 
companies. Mr. Saleem has also 
served as Chairman of TCF from 
1998 till 2006. 

Ateed Riaz

One of TCF’s Co-Founders, Mr. Ateed Riaz currently serves as the Chairman of 
the Board. He also served as Chief Executive Officer of TCF (in honorary 
capacity) from July 2002 till March 2005. Mr. Riaz is also the Co-Chairman and 
advisor to the Imrooz Association of Companies which includes First Imrooz 
Modaraba, Tarseel Private Limited and Atherton Imrooz Company.

Lt. Gen. Sabeeh Qamar uz Zaman, 
(Retd.)

A Founding Member of the TCF’s Board, 
Gen. Sabeeh served as the CEO of TCF 
from 1995 till 2001. He has received 
Hilal-e-Imtiaz and Sitara-e-Bisalat for his 
distinguished service in the Army. He is 
the Chairman and CEO of Quality Schools 
Foundation and was honoured with a UN 
Award for ‘his and his organisation’s 
outstanding work in the field of education. 

Imtiaz Sultanali Dossa

Mr. Imtiaz Dossa has been a supporter of TCF since its 
inception. He also serves as a trustee of TCF-UK. Mr. Dossa 
was also a trustee of Sightsavers International, an international 
eye charity that helped set up LRBT in Pakistan. Before this, 
he ran a successful trading company which he sold in 2005.

Farzana Zulqarnain

Ms. Farzana Zulqarnain is the 
Vice Chairperson of SOS 
Children’s Village, Faisalabad 
and a member of the managing 
committee of Faisalabad 
Literary Festival. Ms. Farzana 
is also a devoted TCF 
volunteer and an active 
member of Interloop Limited.

Ishaque Noor

Mr. Ishaque Noor is the Group Managing 
Director of Albatha Group, United Arab 
Emirates. He has also served for several 
years as member of the Executive 
Committee of the Professionals Wing of 
Pakistan Association in Dubai.

PROFILES OF THE
BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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Mushtaq K. Chhapra

One of TCF’s Co-Founders, Mr. 
Chhapra has played a crucial role 
in nurturing several prominent 
nonprofit organisations. He serves 
on the Boards of Patients’ Aid 
Foundation and The Kidney Centre 
as well. Mr. Chhapra was also 
hounoured by the Sitara-i-Imtiaz by 
the President in 2016.

Nilofer Saeed

An entrepreneur and a successful 
businesswoman, Ms. Nilofer is a 
member of the Supporters of The 
Citizens Foundation (STCF). She has 
been presented with the Woman 
Entrepreneurship Momentum Award 
for 2010 and was also awarded the 
Sitara-i-Imtiaz by the President of 
Pakistan in 2019.

Rashid Abdulla

A Founding Member and the first Chairman of the 
Board of TCF, Mr. Rashid Abdulla is a leading 
businessman. He serves as Director on the 
boards of several companies associated with the 
IBL Group including The Searle Company 
Limited, International Brands Limited and IBL 
Health Care Limited.

Riyaz Chinoy

Mr. Riyaz Chinoy serves as the CEO of International 
Industries Limited. He is also associated with 
International Steels Limited, Bulleh Shah Packaging, IIL 
Australia, IIL Stainless Steel, Amit Sultan Chinoy 
Foundation, Pakistan Business Council, and the 
Management of Association of Pakistan.

Shahbaz Yasin Malik

Mr. Shahbaz Yasin Malik and his family have been 
supporters of TCF for over a decade and have built 
several schools. Mr. Malik serves as the President 
and CEO of Hilton Pharma.

Syed Asaad Ayub Ahmad

Syed Asaad Ayub Ahmad is the President and CEO of TCF. 
He has been part of the TCF family since January 2009. 
Before joining TCF, he served in several senior positions at 
British Petroleum, Exxon Mobile and Shell. He holds an MBA 
from the University of Texas at Austin.
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BOARD COMMITTEES
AND MEETINGS

TCF Board Committees assist the 
board in carrying out its work by 
providing expertise and advice in 
selected areas. 



TCF’s Board consists of twelve Directors including CEO. Board 
is headed by Chairman elected amongst the directors who 
meet regularly to provide guidance and support to the 
organisation. Six meetings of the Board of Directors were held 
during the financial year ended on 30 June, 2020. The 
attendance of the meeting of Board of Directors is presented in 
the Directors’ report included in the Annual Report.

Statutory Committees

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is established to review the principles, 
policies and practices adopted in the preparation of the 
financial statements of the organisation. It aims at ensuring that 
the Annual Report of the organisation and any other 
announcement relating to financial performance comply with all 
statutory requirements. The terms of reference include:

• to determine and monitor compliance with statutory  
  requirements and with the best practices of corporate  
  governance;

• to oversee the process for selecting the external auditors,  
  their appointment, reappointment and removal; to approve the  
  audit fee or any fees in respect of non audit services provided  
  by the external auditors ensuring that the provision of non  
  audit services does not impair the external auditors’  
  independence or objectivity;

• to review quarterly, half year and year end financial  
  statements of TCF, providing information to the Board on  
  organisation’s assets, its cash flows, net asset value  
  calculations, any changes in accounting policies and  
  practices and significant related party transactions;

• to ensure coordination between the internal and external  
  auditors of the organisation;

• to review the external auditors’ audit report; 

• to review the findings of the audit with the external auditors  
  including, but not limited to: a discussion of any major issues  
  which arose during the audit; materiality levels; key  
  accounting and audit judgments; levels of errors identified  
  during the audit; and the effectiveness of the audit process; 

• to ensure that the internal audit function has adequate  
  resources and is appropriately placed;

• to determine that the internal control systems including  
  financial and operational controls, accounting systems and  
  reporting structures are adequate and effective;  

• to consider major findings of internal investigations of  
  activities characterized by fraud, corruption and abuse of  
  power and management's response thereto;

• to consider any other issue or matter as may be assigned by  
  the Board of Directors.  

Four meetings of the committee was held in the financial year 
ended 30 June 2020. 

Members of the Committee are:    

Mr. Riyaz Chinoy | Chairman
Mr. Ahsan M. Saleem | Non-Executive Director
Mr. Imtiaz Sultanali Dossa | Non-Executive Director
Mrs. Nilofer Saeed | Non-Executive Director
Mr. Shamshad Nabi | Non-Executive Member
Mr. S.M Estisham Ullah | Non-Executive Member

Human Resource and Remuneration Committee

The HR & Remuneration Committee assists the Board in 
fulfilling its obligations relating to human resource matters, 
through oversight of the internal Human Resource Policies and 
practices that support strong organisational performance and 
people risk management. The terms of reference include:

• to review and recommend Human Resource Management  
  (HRM) policies to the Board (including recruitment, retention,  
  training, performance and compensation);

• to ensure that the HRM policies are in compliance with 
  applicable laws;

• to review and recommend to the Board selection, evaluation,  
  compensation (including retirement benefits) and succession  
  planning of the CEO and other senior management;

• to consider major changes in the organisational structure;

• to review the annual salary plan including increments and  
  performance related bonuses of the staff;

• to ensure leadership continuity in the event of an unexpected  
  departure or emergency leave of the CEO or any senior staff  
  member.

Two meetings of the committee was held in the financial year 
ended 30 June 2020. 

Members of the Committee are:    

Mr. Ahsan M. Saleem | Chairman
Mr. Ateed Riaz | Non-Executive Director
Mr. Mushtaq K Chhapra | Non-Executive Director
Mr. Shahbaz Yasin Malik | Non-Executive Director
Syed Asaad Ayub Ahmad | Executive Director   

Procurement Committee

The committee ensures transparency in procurement and 
dealing with suppliers and service providers. The terms of 
reference include:
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• to suggest measures to streamline and simplify procurement  
  of goods and services;

• to review the major decisions taken by the Procurement  
  Department on the basis of quality, cost, quantity, condition,  
  location, documentation and timeliness of delivery;

• to identify, review and approve better procurement policies  
  and practices that strengthen and speedup the procurement  
  process and achieve value for money;

• to monitor that the sub committees formed by the  
  Procurement Department are active and involved in the  
  decision making process;

• to review, in consultation with the CEO, the effectiveness of  
  the standard operating procedure and purchase policy and  
  provide feedback.

• to recommend to the Board, improvements in the procedures  
  for raising and approving purchase requisitions and orders;

• to recommend improvements to the Board on those sections  
  of the schedule of financial delegation of authority which fall  
  under the Procurement Department’s purview. 

No meeting of the committee was held in the financial year 
ended 30 June 2020. 

Members of the Committee are:

Mr. Mushtaq K Chhapra | Chairman
Mr. Ahsan M. Saleem | Non-Executive Director
Mrs. Nilofer Saeed | Non-Executive Director
Syed Asaad Ayub Ahmad | Executive Director

Governance and Nomination Committee

The objective of the committee is to evaluate the effectiveness 
of the Board and to assist the Board in the discharge of its 
functions as well as to ensure compliance with the governing 
principles of TCF. The Committee takes a leadership role in 
shaping the governing principles for TCF and to keep the 
organisation aligned with international best practices. The 
terms of reference include: 

• to recommend qualified candidates for Board membership  
  and to structure, monitor and review the collective and  
  individual responsibilities of the Board and its members;

• to evaluate the performance of the Directors; to review the  
  Board structure and organisational architecture;

• to monitor the overall compliance with the SECP’s Code of  
  Corporate Governance and governing principles of TCF;

• to recommend CEO’s and senior management’s  
  compensation and benefits for Board approval, exclusive of  
  what is mandated to the HR&R Committee;

• to oversee the succession planning of the CEO and other  
  senior management;

No meeting of the Committee was held in the financial year 
ended 30 June, 2020.

Members of the Committee are:

Mr. Ahsan M. Saleem | Chairman
Mr. Mushtaq K Chhapra | Non-Executive Director
Syed Asaad Ayub Ahmad | Executive Director

Resource Mobilisation Committee

The Resource Mobilisation Committee assists the Board for the 
purpose of increasing donations and reviewing TCF's 
fundraising strategy. The terms of reference include:

• to periodically review the fundraising targets set for various  
  support groups and Global Chapters of TCF and evaluate  
  performance;

• to review and report to the Board on business development  
  strategies;

• to review tactical plans developed to achieve business  
  development goals set out in the strategic plan;

• to review, monitor and report to the Board on business  
  development projects, initiatives and potential opportunities;

• to monitor compliance with guidelines established by TCF  
  relating to business development; 

• to evaluate donor management standards and the Resource  
  Mobilisation Department’s adherence to these standards;

• to review TCF publications and donor reports and  
  recommend changes to the format or information that is being    
  provided;

• to monitor TCF’s fundraising campaign related activities and  
  ensure their cost efficiency.

Two meetings of the committee was held in the financial year 
ended 30 June 2020. 

Members of the Committee are:

Mrs. Nilofer Saeed | Chairperson
Mr. Ahsan M. Saleem | Non-Executive Director
Mr. Ateed Riaz | Non-Executive Director
Mr. Mushtaq K Chhapra | Non-Executive Director
Mr. Ishaque Noor | Non-Executive Director
Mrs. Farzana Zulqarnain | Non-Executive Director
Syed Asaad Ayub Ahmad | Executive Director
Ms. Sarah Siddiqui | Executive Member
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Technology Steering Committee

The purpose of the Committee is to oversee the IT related 
activities and provide guidance for effective implementation of 
projects. The terms of reference include:

• to prepare multi-year academic and administrative plan with  
  respect to IT;

• to review and monitor IT projects and assign priorities;

• to approve major IT initiatives and projects;

• to provide strategic direction for adaptation of emerging  
  technologies;

• to discuss any other matter proposed to the committee.

No meeting of the committee was held in the financial year 
ended 30 June 2020. 

Members of the Committee are:

Mr. Shahbaz Yasin Malik | Chairman
Mrs. Nilofer Saeed | Non-Executive Director
Mr. Riyaz Chinoy | Non-Executive Director
Syed Asaad Ayub Ahmad | Executive Director
Mr. Adnan Asdar | Non-Executive Member

Education Committee

The Purpose of the Education Committee (the Committee), is to 
assist the Board in overseeing TCF’s Education Division 
management activities. The terms of reference include:

• to prepare multi-year education plan covering quantitative  
  and qualitative parameters with respect to the school system;

• to review and monitor the plan on a half yearly basis;

• to approve major Education division initiatives and projects  
  and assign implementation priorities; 

• to assess HR capacity and recommend capacity building  
  initiatives;

• to assess overall funding requirement for the education for the  
  school system in terms of per student fund allocation;

• to receive quarterly dashboard on Annual Plan KPIs from  
  management; 

• to ensure all major project spending of TCF Education Plan  
  have been included in every year OPEX and CAPEX budget of  
  TCF;

No meeting of the committee was held in the financial year 
ended 30 June 2020.
 

Members of the Committee are:

Mr. Ateed Riaz | Chairman
Mr. Ishaque Noor | Non-Executive Director
Mrs. Farzana Zulqarnain | Non-Executive Director
Syed Asaad Ayub Ahmad | Executive Director
Mr. Riaz Ahmed Kamlani | Executive Member

Risk & Compliance Committee

The Risk and Compliance Committee (R&CC) was formed in 
February 2019. Its first meeting was held in the month of June 
2020 where, interalia, its Terms of Reference (TORs) were also 
approved. Syed Asaad Ayub Ahmad (Chief Executive and 
President) has been appointed as the Chief Risk and 
Compliance Officer (CRCO). Mr. Talha Bin Hamid, Head of 
Internal Audit was appointed as in-charge of Risk & 
Compliance function with direct reporting to CRCO as well as 
Chairman of the Committee. The role and objective of the 
Committee shall be to assist and support the Board in fulfilling 
its risk and compliance oversight responsibilities more 
effectively, by and for & on behalf of the Board:

a. Having oversight of the integrity of TCF’s statutory risk and  
compliance framework;

b. Monitoring that Management has an appropriate framework 
in place to identify and effectively manage risk and that 
Management ensures that TCF operates within the risk appetite 
set by the Board in protecting TCF’s beneficiaries, staff, assets 
and its public profile; 

c. Monitoring that Management has an appropriate framework 
in place to ensure compliance with regulatory, prudential, legal 
and ethical standards and monitoring the efficacy of that 
framework and ensuring TCF’s operations are conducted within 
the scope of those frameworks;

d. Reviewing compliance with internal guidelines, policies and 
procedures and other prescribed internal standards of 
behaviour and ethics; and

e. Monitoring, and where applicable taking into consideration, 
trends on the state of risk and compliance culture globally.

One meeting of the committee was held in the financial year 
ended 30 June 2020.

Members of the Committee are: 

Mr. Ishaque Noor | Chairman
Mr. Ahsan M. Saleem | Non-Executive Director
Mr. Imtiaz Sultanali Dossa | Non-Executive Director
Mr. Riyaz Chinoy | Non-Executive Director
Syed Asaad Ayub Ahmad | Executive Director
Ms. Saima Amin Khawaja | Non-Executive Member
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REPORT OF THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee assists the Board 
in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities in 
areas such as the integrity of financial 
reporting, the effectiveness of the risk 
management framework and internal 
control system as well as consideration 
of compliance matters. 

Miraj and his younger brother, TCF students in Gwadar, on their way to collect fresh water from a facility 45-minutes away.



The Audit Committee comprises only of Non-Executive 
Directors and professional members. Details of the Audit 
Committee are set out in this section which specifies the 
composition of committees of Board of Directors in this report. 
The Chief Executive officer (CEO), Chief Financial Officer (CFO), 
Chief Audit Executive (CAE) and External Auditor attend Audit 
Committee meeting by invitation. The Committee meets with 
CAE and External Auditor with and without CEO and CFO 
being present, as needed. The Committee performs its 
functions in accordance with the Terms of Reference (TORs) 
approved by the Board of Directors. Four meetings of the Audit 
Committee were held during the year ended 30 June 2020 
prescribed by the Chairman Board Audit Committee (BAC).

Role of the Committee 

The role and responsibilities of the BAC are set out in written 
terms of reference which are reviewed annually by the 
Committee taking into account relevant legislation and 
recommended good practice. The Committee’s responsibilities 
include, but are not limited to, the following matters with a view 
to bringing any relevant issues to the attention of the Board: 
 
• Oversight of the integrity of Foundation’s Financial  
  Statements. 

• Review of Foundation’s quarterly and annual Financial  
  Statements (including clarity and completeness of disclosure  
  together with Related Party Transactions), and recommend  
  them to the Board of Directors for approval.

• Oversight of Risk Management and Compliances (through  
  risk and compliance committee) and internal control  
  arrangements.

• Oversight of compliance with legal and regulatory  
  requirements.

• Oversight of the external auditors’ performance, objectivity,  
  qualifications and independence; the approval process of  
  non-audit services; recommendation to the Board of their  
  nomination.

• Ensure that proper and adequate accounting records have  
  been maintained by the Foundation in accordance with the  
  Companies Act, 2017 and external reporting is consistent  
  with the management processes.

• The performance of the Internal Audit Function.

Internal Audit Function 

• The Internal control framework has been effectively  
  implemented through an independent in-house internal audit  
  function established by the Board, direct reporting to audit  
  committee.

• Internal Audit department, during the year, has also  
  undertaken various development initiatives, including, but not  
  limited to, comprehensive revamp of schools’ internal audit  
  mechanism, simplification and digitization of processes,  

  development of internal audit manuals and SOPs. Further,  
  Internal Audit is also assisting the organisation with enterprise         
  risk management and compliance. 

• Field work of internal audit of Schools in all TCF Regions was  
  conducted through Internal Audit department of the  
  foundation. TCF internal audit department carries out audit of  
  those financial units which have operated for one year as at  
  the beginning of financial year i.e. 01 July. For the year ending  
  June 30, 2020, 1118 financial units were audited which  
  represent 100% school units as at the beginning of the year  
  i.e. July 01, 2019.

• Audit Reports of Schools in all six regions have been  
  processed and generated through an audit software by the  
  Internal Audit Department. A performance audit score is being  
  calculated by the School Management System (SMS) for each  
  school audited. This audit Score is used to measures schools/  
  Region’s performance. For improvement as well as for better     
  control in Schools, Area office, and Regional office, several      
  trainings / meetings were conducted with Principals and Area    
  Managers throughout the year. This year several new  
  initiatives were taken by the Internal Audit department for     
  maintaining control in departments and other TCF functions.    

• Internal Audit Department also conducted internal audit of all  
  Regions, Area offices and selected Head office functions in   
  accordance with internal audit plan duly approved by the    
  Audit committee. Certain follow-up audits were also  
  conducted for actions taken. 

• The Head of Internal Audit has direct access to the Chairman   
  of Audit Committee for discussing any serious matter and for  
  guidance in performing the assigned task professionally and  
  diligently. 

• The BAC has ensured achievements of operational,  
  compliance and financial reporting objectives and  
  safeguarding the assets of the Foundation through effective  
  internal control and risk management at all levels within the  
  Foundation. 

• Coordination between External and Internal Auditors has  
  facilitated to ensure efficiency and contribution to the  
  Foundation’s objective, including a reliable financial reporting  
  system and compliance with Laws and regulations

External Audit

• Statutory auditors of the Foundation, M/s. KPMG Taseer Hadi  
  & Co. Chartered Accountants, have completed their audit  
  engagement of the “Foundation’s Financial Statements” for  
  the year ended 30 June 2020 and shall retire on the  
  conclusion of the 24th Annual General Meeting.

• BAC has reviewed and discussed the auditors’ report.

• The Board Audit Committee recommends appointment of M/s  
  A. F. Ferguson & Co, Chartered Accountants, as external  
  auditors for the year ending 30 June 2021.
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CODE OF CONDUCT AND
GOVERNANCE POLICIES

Our code of conduct defines the 
boundaries within which TCF employees 
must act to comply with laws and 
internal policies.  



Our code of conduct and governance policies form the 
framework for all our operations and sets out standards of 
behaviour for all TCF employees including senior 
management and directors without exception. Non-adherence 
to the code of conduct and policies can result in strict 
disciplinary action. The Code of Conduct and governance 
policies have been approved by the Board of Directors.

Whistle Blowing Policy

TCF has implemented a Whistle Blowing Policy with effect 
from 01 July 2014 through which employees can report a 
violation in the code of conduct and policies. This policy has 
laid out procedures for lodging, handling and reporting of 
concerns whilst ensuring protection of the whistle blower’s 
identity. Monitoring the effectiveness and compliance of the 
Whistle Blowing Policy has to be carried out by the Audit 
Committee. During the year ended 30 June 2020, no 
complaint was reported.

Operational Continuity Planning & Procedures for Data 
Protection

As part of the Foundation’s efforts to ensure continuity of 
operations, TCF has formulated detailed standard operation 
procedures (SOPs) for the backup of its assets including 
critical data and information in case of interruptions in 
operations caused by any unexpected event or natural 
disaster. 

Mechanism for Providing Information to the Board 

There are six regions and broadly twenty departments of the 
Foundation, each led by a Head reporting directly to the Vice 
Presidents / Executive Vice Presidents. The Vice Presidents / 
Executive Vice Presidents report to the CEO. Clear lines of 
authority run from top to bottom of the organisational 
structure and represent formal communication channels. The 
CEO is responsible for formally communicating with the 
Board.

Employees

To promote a culture of openness and freedom of expression, 
we provide several forums for our employees to bring their 
valuable suggestions and feedback to the management and 
the Board. TCF has provided a server based Improvement 
Opportunity System (IOS) accessible to all employees 
allowing them to share their feedback, concerns and 
recommendations directly with the CEO and Head of 
Departments.

Donors

The Foundation has provided its contact details and other 
information to facilitate donors on its website www.tcf.org.pk.

Managing Conflict of Interest

As per the provisions of the Companies Act, 2017, every 
Director is required to provide the Board with complete details 
regarding any material transaction which may cause a conflict 
of interest with the Foundation, for prior approval of the 
Board. The interested Director(s) do not participate in the 
discussion nor do they vote on such matters.

The transactions with all the related parties are made on an 
arms-length basis and complete details are provided to the 
Board for their approval. Furthermore, all transactions with the 
related parties are fully disclosed in the Financial Statements 
of the Foundation.

Fit and Proper Criteria

An undertaking has been taken from the Directors in respect 
of fit and proper criteria as set out under regulation 10 of 
Associations with Charitable and Not for Profit Objects 
Regulations, 2018 issued vide S.R.O. 733(I)/2018 dated 7 
June 2018.

Quality Control Measures

The Quality Assurance (QA) team reinforces accountability, 
transparency and organisational learning of all stakeholders 
through systematic evaluation of educational policies, 
programmes and processes. To assess the quality of 
students’ learning the team has developed a systematic, 
centralised assessment system. The QA team conducts two 
centralised exams (Mid Term and Final Term) in an academic 
year. Students’ results are then entered into the system for 
report generation and future planning.

Procedures Adopted for Stakeholder Engagement

The Foundation recognises and respects the rights of each 
and every stakeholder. The Foundation is also cognizant of its 
legal and constructive obligations towards its stakeholders 
and takes their input into consideration. 

Regulators

TCF continually engages with the Government of Pakistan 
and other regulatory bodies at local, provincial and federal 
levels on various educational matters and issues.

Media

TCF engages with media through press releases as and when 
required.

Other Stakeholders

Other stakeholders include donors, bankers, suppliers and 
employees. TCF engages with these stakeholders on a regular 
basis through meetings and other ways of correspondence.
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ROLE OF THE
CHAIRMAN AND CEO

Ahsaan, TCF student in Muzaffarabad, reading at home with his elder sister. 



Role of the Chairman

The Chairman of the Board of Directors ensures that the 
organisation’s trajectory is aligned with its vision, at all times. 
Providing leadership and direction to the Board, the Chairman 
ensures that the Board fulfills its responsibilities in a diligent 
manner. The Chairman’s role entails the following:

• To make sure that all members of the Board participate in all  
  meetings and have the opportunity to explain their opinion;

• To act as a liaison between management and the Board;

• To provide independent advice and counsel to the CEO;

• To keep abreast generally of the activities of the organisation  
  and its management;

• To ensure that the Directors are properly informed and that  
  sufficient information is provided to enable the Directors to  
  form appropriate judgments;

• To ensure that dissent of Directors, if any, is properly  
  recorded in the minutes of meetings;

• To assist the Board in fulfilling its role effectively and swiftly  
  in line with regulatory requirements;

• To ensure that the Board subcommittees perform their  
  designated functions with due diligence. 

Role of The President & CEO

The role of the President and CEO constitutes an absolutely 
engaged position, demanding complete involvement in 
leading the organisation. The role entails the following:

• To ensure execution of the strategy developed by the Board;

• To make sure that the Foundation maintains its business  
  position and brand image as one of the leading non-profit  
  organisations of the country;

• To efficiently allocate and manage organisational resources  
  and budgets, ensuring attainment of its long-term strategic  
  goals;

• To establishing systems of checks and controls to support  
  the fast-paced growth of the Foundation;

• To providing liaison between the Board and the Foundation’s  
  management to ensure alignment of managerial efforts with  
  Board’s directives; 

• To foster a culture of professionalism and high ethical  
  standards within the Foundation; 

• To facilitate an organisational culture of continuous  
  improvement to ensure quality education outcomes and  
  enhanced donor services.  
 

President & CEO’s
Performance Review

The President and CEO of TCF is responsible for supervising 
and leading the strategic and managerial affairs of the 
organisation. Various elements of the President and CEO’s 
performance are monitored and discussed periodically by the 
Board. As leader of the organisation and executor of its long- 
term strategy approved by the Board, the President and CEO 
is evaluated on parameters such as governance and 
compliance, business processes and policies, financial 
performance, people management and facilitating the desired 
organisational culture of integrity, ownership and continuous 
improvement.  
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  نحمدە و نصلی علٰی رسولہ ال���م

Shariah Advisor's Report 
For the year ended June 2020 

 
 

Introduction: 
 

TCF is a professionally managed, non-profit and philanthropic organization set up in 1995 by a group 
of citizens concerned with the dismal state of education in Pakistan. It is now one of Pakistan's 
leading organizations in the field of formal education. The vision of TCF is to remove barriers of class 
and privilege and to make the citizens of Pakistan agents of positive change. TCF believe that access 
to basic education is the right of each individual and not a privilege. Apart from following the regular 
curriculum, TCF focus on the character building of students to equip them with high moral values 
and confidence. The organization supports the education of less-privileged children. Under the 
administration of TCF hundreds of schools spread throughout Pakistan are providing education to 
thousands of children. 
 
Method of utilization of Zakat: 
 

The organization’s financial needs are being covered by zakat  and donations that Pakistani 
individuals and corporate throughout the world contribute towards. Zakat received by TCF is spent 
for the educational expenses of needy students. According to Shariah, Zakat can be used on the 
educational expenses of needy students.  
 
Shariah Ruling: 
 
It is confirmed that The Citizens Foundation collects and spends Zakat fund in accordance with the 
instructions of Shariah. It is also confirmed that whosoever will give Zakat to this Foundation; their 
Zakat will be paid as per Shariah point of view. 
 

May Allah grant the management of The Citizens Foundation best reward for their services, and 
may give in their mission more blessings and sincerity. Aameen 
 

 
______________________   ______________________ 
Mufti Muhammad Ibrahim Essa   Mufti Ubaid ur Rahman Zubairi 
Chief Executive Officer     Director 
Alhamd Shariah Advisory Services (Pvt.) Limited Alhamd Shariah Advisory Services (Pvt.) Limited 

Aug 17, 2020 
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Notice of 24th Annual General Meeting of Members

Notice is hereby given to all the members of The Citizens Foundation that 24th Annual General Meeting of the Foundation will 
be held on Thursday, 29 October 2020 at 1130 hours via Zoom App/Microsoft Teams App to transact the following business: 
 

Ordinary Business:

 1. To receive, consider and adopt the Audited financial statements of the Foundation for the year ended   
  30 June 2020 together with Auditors’ report thereon.

 2. To adopt the Directors’ Report and Review Report by the Chairman for the year ended 30 June 2020.

 3. To appoint External Auditors of the Company for the financial year 2020/21, and to fix their remuneration. The  
  Board of Directors, on the recommendation of Audit Committee of the Company, has proposed the   
  appointment of M/s PwC A.F. Ferguson & Co. Chartered Accountants as external auditors for the financial year  
  ended 30 June 2021, at the same fee of Rs. 600,000/ plus out of pocket expenses and applicable sales tax   
  as paid to retiring external auditors M/s KPMG Taseer Hadi & Co. Chartered Accountants for the year ended
  30 June 2020.

By order of the Board.

Khwaja Bakhtiar Ahmed
Company Secretary

Date: 8 October 2020
Place: Karachi  
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A young girl at the risk 
of dropping out of 
school is saved by a 
concerned principal.



"The coronavirus crisis turned Marium's life upside down," shared Ms. Sania 
Javed, principal at the TCF school where 13-year-old Marium is a student. 
“Once the lockdown was enforced, her father lost his daily earnings as a 
labourer, and her mother suffered a paralysis attack. During this time, a 
marriage proposal came in for Marium's elder sister, who was only 15 at the 
time. The family accepted it and when her sister left suddenly, all 
responsibilities landed onto Marium's shoulders. Every morning she has to 
collect fresh water for her family by taking a one-hour trek down the steep 
hills, cook and clean, as well as look after her mother, who is now confined to 
a charpoy (woven bed).”

When schools reopened in September, Marium's father could not afford to 
send her back. Ms. Sania Javed spent hours counselling the parents to let 
their daughter continue her education. It was only when she offered them 
flexibility in schools hours did they finally agree. For the first time in over 6 
months, Marium returned to her classroom.

Marium Bibi
Class 4, Chamankotli, Azad Kashmir



Property and Equipment

Advances and Prepayments

Intangible Assets

Accrued Income and Other Receivables

Long Term Investments

Short Term Investments

Long Term Deposits

Cash and Bank Balances

Assets 2020

Funds and Reserves 2020

61%

19%

0%
1%
2%

14%
2%1%

0% 0%

Surplus / (Deficit) of Income Over Expenditure

Endowment Fund General Fund

Capital Fund

Books, Copies, Uniforms and Other School Supplies Right-of-use Assets

Foreign Currency Translation Reserve

67%

-1%

0%

1%

32.1%

Funds and Reserves 2019

Rs. 16.68
Billion

Assets 2019

63%6%
0%
1%
1%

25%

3%1%

0%
0%

Rs. 16.68
Billion

62.6%

7.9%

0.3%
0.0%

29.2%

Rs. 9.80
Billion

Rs. 17.50
Billion

Rs. 10.08
Billion

Financial Highlights

Graphical Presentation of Statement of Financial Position
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Receipts Pattern

This receipts pattern includes donations for school support, students’ education (KG to Matric), building schools and other 
incomes. Donations received for TCF relief operations are not included in this pattern.

2011 2012 2013 2014

1,395m 1,682m 1,873m 2,321m
2015

2,864m
2016

3,229m
2017

3,505m

27% 21% 11% 24% 23% 13% 9%

2018

4,106m

17%

2019

4,831m

18%

2020

4,546m

-6%

Graphical Presentation of Statement of Income and Expenditure

Growth %

Amount

Operating
Expenditure 2020

84%

9%

1%

6%

Education Programme Programme Administration Other Programmes

*Programme administration expenses for Strategy 2030 Programmes are being covered by specific grants, keeping the total overhead expenses below 10%.

Programme Administration Strategy 2030*

Contribution from Government Fees Income on investments etc

Fair Value of Contributed Land and Assets Related Donations Support Donations

Operating
Expenditure 2019

88%

9%

3%
Rs. 4.66
Billion

Rs. 4.28
Billion

Income 2020

75%

9%

5%

3%

8%

Income 2019

74%

9%

5%

2%

10%

Rs. 4.57
Billion

Rs. 4.54
Billion
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Six Years Financial and Operating Information at a Glance (2015 to 2020)

Financial Position (Rupees in Million)

Land and Building

Other Non-Current Assets 

Current Assets

Total Assets

Non Current Liabilities 

Current Liabilities

Total Liabilities

Net Assets

Capital Fund

General and Other Funds

Endowment Fund

Foreign Currency Translation Reserve
Unrealized gain on remeasurement of available for sale 
investments
Total Funds

Expenses Pattern (in %)

Key Financial Ratios (in Times)

Current Ratio

Cash to Current Liabilities

Summary of Cash Flow Statement (Rupees in Million)

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of the Year

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Cash Flows from Financial Activities

Decrease / (Increase) in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Currency Translation Difference on Cash and Cash 
Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of the Year

Other Data (Rupees in Million)

Foreign Exchange Remittance (Pak Rupee Equivalent) 
for all Donations Received

Tax Deducted and Deposited into Government Treasury
as Withholding Tax Agent

Financial Position (Rupees in Million)

Land and Building

Other Non-Current Assets 

Current Assets

Total Assets

Non Current Liabilities 

Current Liabilities

Total Liabilities

Net Assets

Capital Fund

General and Other Funds

Endowment Fund

Foreign Currency Translation Reserve
Unrealized gain on remeasurement of available for sale 
investments
Total Funds

Expenses Pattern (in %)

Key Financial Ratios (in Times)

Current Ratio

Cash to Current Liabilities

Summary of Cash Flow Statement (Rupees in Million)

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of the Year

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Cash Flows from Financial Activities

Decrease / (Increase) in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Currency Translation Difference on Cash and Cash 
Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of the Year

Other Data (Rupees in Million)

Foreign Exchange Remittance (Pak Rupee Equivalent) 
for all Donations Received

Tax Deducted and Deposited into Government Treasury
as Withholding Tax Agent

    

 
9,850.4 

 1,767.2 

 5,059.2

16,676.8 

 6,017.3

854.2 

 6,871.5 

 9,805.2 

 3.1 

 6,136.6 

 2,860.8 

 25.4 

 -  

 9,805.2 

 5.9 

 0.7 

 2,667.2
 

 673.6
 

 (571.2)

 915.1
 

 1,017.5
 

 15.8
 

 3,700.5 

 2,602.9

 
 75.7

    

 
 10,033.1  

 4,168.8   

3,300.9 

 17,502.8 

  6,292.7 

 1,122.2 

  7,414.9 

10,087.8  

 3.1 

 6,915.9

 3,233.6

 60.8

 -  

 10,087.8

 2.9 

 0.2 

 3,700.5
 

 (336.1)
 

 (3,266.0)

863.1
 

 (2,739.0)
 

 35.4
 

 996.8

 2314.6

 
 95.9

    

 9,703.5
 

 1,268.4
 

 4,427.4
 

 15,399.3
 

 5,383.7
 

 774.1
 

 6,157.8
 

 9,241.5 

 2.4 

 5,543.1 

 2,602.8
 

 9.6 

 112.4
 

 9,241.5 

 5.7
 

 0.4 

 1,703.1
 

 306.2
 

 (92.4)

 740.6
 

 954.4
 

 9.6 

 2,667.2
 

 2,192.6 

 77.2 

   

 8,897.9
 

 1,509.5
 

 3,648.9
 

 14,056.3 

 5,061.9 

 612.3 

 5,674.2
 

 8,382.1 

 2.4 

 667.0 

 2,378.7
 

 (0.0)

 145.5

 8,382.1
 

 6.0
 

 1.4 

 
941.9 

 (146.1)

 (132.3)

 1,039.6
 

 761.2
 

 (0.0)

 1,703.1 

 1,660.0
 

 84.7 

    

 3,296.2
 

 2,446.0
 

 2,319.0
 

 8,061.2
 

 5,074.3
 

 388.1
 

 5,462.3 

 2,598.9 

 2.4
 

 658.6 

 1,865.0 

 -
  

 64.5
 

 2,598.9
 

 6.0 

 0.7 

 760.5
 

 (595.4)

 (1,073.0)

 1,849.8
 

 181.4 
 - 

 
 941.9 

 1,673.0
 

 82.7 

    

 3,032.9 

 2,423.2 

 1,516.8 

 6,972.9 

 4,417.3
 

 397.8 

 4,815.1 

 2,157.8 

 2.2 

 656.8 

1,369.9 

 -  

 89.9 

 2,157.8 

 3.8 

 0.4 

 681.1 

 (457.4)

 (1,083.3)

 1,620.1 

 79.4 
 -  

 760.5 

 1,668.0
 

 57.5 
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Operating Results (Rupees in Million)

Donations and Fees
Other Income
Education Programme
Other Programmes Expenses
Programme Administration 
Deficit / (Surplus) of Income over Expenditure for the Year

2020

  4,404.8
 

 133.8
 

 3,912.7

262.9
 

 487.5
 

 (124.5)

2019

  4,374.6
 

 75.2
 

 3,761.7
120.7

 
 400.6

 
 289.3 

2018

   3,980.0
 

 82.6
 

 3,517.5
83.6

 
 322.5

 
 658.7 

 2017

    3,658.9
 

 95.4
 

 3,362.8
65.0

 
 239.5 

 5,188.5 

2016

     2,862.5 
 36.0

 
 2,643.5

16.8

 229.7
 

 8.4 

2015

      2,368.4 
 138.0 

 2,277.6
-
 

 189.8
 

 39.0 

Education Programme
Other Programme Expenses
Programme Administration

83.9%
5.6%

10.5%

87.8%
2.8%
9.4%

89.7%
2.1%
8.2%

91.7%
1.8%
6.5%

91.5%
0.6%
7.9%

92.3%
0.0%
7.7%



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the members of The Citizens Foundation

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the annexed financial statements of The Citizens Foundation (the 
Foundation), which comprise the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2020, and 
the statement of income and expenditure, the statement of comprehensive income, the 
statement of changes in funds and reserves, the statement of cash flows for the year 
then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information, and we state that we have 
obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of our knowledge and 
belief, were necessary for the purposes of the audit.

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given 
to us, the statement of financial position, statement of income and expenditure, the 
statement of comprehensive income, the statement of changes in funds and reserves 
and the statement of cash flows together with the notes forming part thereof conform 
with the accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan and give the 
information required by the Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of 2017), in the manner so required 
and respectively give a true and fair view of the state of the Foundation’s affairs as at 30 
June 2020 and of the deficit and other comprehensive income, the changes in funds and 
reserves and its cash flows for the year then ended.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) as 
applicable in Pakistan. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in 
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the Foundation in accordance with the International Ethics 
Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants as 
adopted by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan (the Code) and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.

Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon

Management is responsible for the Other Information. The Other Information comprises 
the information included in the Annual Report but does not include the financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

KPMG Taseer Hadi & Co.
Chartered Accountants 
Sheikh Sultan Trust Building No. 2, Beaumont Road
Karachi, 75530 Pakistan
+92 (21) 3568 5847, Fax +92 (21) 3568 5095

KPMG Taseer Hadi & Co., a Partnership firm registered in Pakistan and a member firm of the KPMG network of
independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity.
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Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the Other Information and we do 
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
Other Information and, in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this Other Information, we are required to report that fact. We have 
nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Board of Directors for the Financial 
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with the accounting and reporting standards as applicable in 
Pakistan and the requirements of Companies Act, 2017(XIX of 2017) and for such internal 
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Foundation’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the Foundation or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so.

Board of directors are responsible for overseeing the Foundation’s financial reporting 
process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a 
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with ISAs as applicable in Pakistan will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

KPMG Taseer Hadi & Co.
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As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs as applicable in Pakistan, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We 
also:

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial   
 statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures  
 responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and  
 appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a  
 material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from  
 error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,   
 misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to  
 design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for  
 the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Foundation’s  
 internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the   
 reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by  
 management.
 
 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern  
 basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a  
 material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast  
 significant doubt on the Foundation’s ability to continue as a going concern. If  
 we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention  
 in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if  
 such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are  
 based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.  
 However, future events or conditions may cause the Foundation to cease to  
 continue as a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial   
 statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements  
 represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair  
 presentation.

We communicate with the board of directors regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

•

•

•

•

• 

KPMG Taseer Hadi & Co.
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Based on our audit, we further report that in our opinion:

a)  proper books of account have been kept by the Foundation as required by  
 the Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of 2017);

b)  the statement of financial position, the statement of income and expenditure,  
 the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of changes in funds and  
 reserves and the statement of cash flows together with the notes thereon have  
 been drawn up in conformity with the Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of 2017) and  
 are in agreement with the books of account and returns;

c)  investments made, expenditure incurred and guarantees extended during the  
 year were for the purpose of the Foundation’s business; and

d) no Zakat was deductible at source under the Zakat and Ushr Ordinance. 1980  
 (XVIII of 1980).

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is 
Moneeza Usman Butt.

Date: 03 September 2020
Karachi 

KPMG Taseer Hadi & Co.

KPMG Taseer Hadi & Co.
Chartered Accountants 
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 10,743,343 
 42,723 
 7,353 

 3,396,084 
 12,322 

 14,201,825 

 114,608 
 291,366 

 2,406,844 
 238,340 
 249,788 

 3,300,946 

 17,502,771 

 5,153,005 

 1,094,876 
 44,861 

 6,292,742 

 436,750 
 2,691 

 682,745 
 1,122,186 

 7,414,928 

 10,087,843 

 3,100 
 6,915,934 
 3,233,562 

 (125,517)
 60,764 

 10,087,843 

 10,614,905 
 -   

 6,843 
 983,181 

 12,658 
 11,617,587 

 108,848 
 110,962 

 4,145,746 
 131,553 
 562,062 

 5,059,171 

 16,676,758 

 5,004,154 

 1,013,180 
-      

 6,017,334 

 402,714 
-      

 451,498 
 854,212 

 6,871,546 

 9,805,212 

 3,100 
 6,136,635 
 2,860,774 

 779,299 
 25,404 

 9,805,212 

The annexed notes 1 to 35 form an integral part of these financial statements.

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Intangible assets
Long term investments
Long term deposits

Current assets
Advances and prepayments
Accrued income and other receivables
Short term investments
Books, copies, uniforms and other school supplies
Cash and bank balances

Total Assets

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Deferred income relating to operating fixed assets
Deferred income relating to school support, grants   
 and children education
Lease liabilities

Current liabilities
Current portion of deferred income relating to school
 support, grants and children education
Current portion of lease liabilities
Accrued and other liabilities

Total liabilities

Net assets

REPRESENTED BY:

FUNDS AND RESERVES
Capital fund
General fund
Endowment fund - externally restricted
(Deficit) / surplus of income over expenditure
Foreign currency translation reserve

Contingencies and Commitments

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Intangible assets
Long term investments
Long term deposits

Current assets
Advances and prepayments
Accrued income and other receivables
Short term investments
Books, copies, uniforms and other school supplies
Cash and bank balances

Total Assets

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Deferred income relating to operating fixed assets
Deferred income relating to school support, grants   
 and children education
Lease liabilities

Current liabilities
Current portion of deferred income relating to school
 support, grants and children education
Current portion of lease liabilities
Accrued and other liabilities

Total liabilities

Net assets

REPRESENTED BY:

FUNDS AND RESERVES
Capital fund
General fund
Endowment fund - externally restricted
(Deficit) / surplus of income over expenditure
Foreign currency translation reserve

Contingencies and Commitments

4
5
6
7

8
9

10

11

12

13
5

13
5

14

15
16
17

18

19

Note 2020 2019

Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial OfficerDirector
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The annexed notes 1 to 35 form an integral part of these financial statements.

INCOME
Donations and fees
Fair value of contributed land
Income on investments - net
Other income / (loss)

OPERATING EXPENDITURE
Education programme
School expenditures
Books, copies, uniforms and other school supplies
Repair and maintenance charges
School vehicle running and maintenance
Teachers' training
School supervision and monitoring
Depreciation on school assets
Depreciation on right-of-use assets
Other expenses

Other programmes
Post matric scholarship
Community development programmes
COVID-19 response appeal

Programme administration
Salaries and other benefits
Marketing expense
Vehicle running and maintenance 
Travelling and conveyance
Utilities
Communication
Printing and stationery 
Depreciation
Other expenses

Total operating expenditure

(Deficit) / Surplus of income over expenditure for the year

INCOME
Donations and fees
Fair value of contributed land
Income on investments - net
Other income / (loss)

OPERATING EXPENDITURE
Education programme
School expenditures
Books, copies, uniforms and other school supplies
Repair and maintenance charges
School vehicle running and maintenance
Teachers' training
School supervision and monitoring
Depreciation on school assets
Depreciation on right-of-use assets
Other expenses

Other programmes
Post matric scholarship
Community development programmes
COVID-19 response appeal

Programme administration
Salaries and other benefits
Marketing expense
Vehicle running and maintenance 
Travelling and conveyance
Utilities
Communication
Printing and stationery 
Depreciation
Other expenses

Total operating expenditure

(Deficit) / Surplus of income over expenditure for the year

 4,404,789 
 -   

 99,592 
 34,253 

 4,538,634 

 2,655,534 
 313,843 
 78,788 

 102,307 
 10,520 

 261,883 
 440,592 

 6,759 
 42,450 

 3,912,676 

 112,260 
 36,207 

 114,459 
 262,926 

 329,025 
 56,309 
 11,921 
 9,476 
 5,539 
 7,250 
 5,370 

 22,558 
 40,059 

 487,507 

 4,663,109 

 (124,475)

 4,374,590 
 122,525 
 184,654 
 (109,436)

 4,572,333 

 2,462,285 
 314,181 

 87,938 
 132,490 

 32,248 
 272,493 
 416,551 

 -   
 43,485 

 3,761,671 

 82,085 
 38,638 

 -   
 120,723 

 245,038 
 67,380 

 9,918 
 8,413 
 5,964 
 5,739 
 6,117 

 28,870 
 23,198 

 400,637 

 4,283,031 

 289,302 

Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial OfficerDirector

20

21
22

23

4.3
5.1.1
24

25

13.4

26

4.3
27

Note 2020 2019
(Rupees in '000)

Statement of Income and Expenditure 
For the year ended 30 June 2020
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(Deficit) / surplus of income over expenditure for the year

Other comprehensive income:

 Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently
  to statement of income and expenditure:

 Net investment in foreign operations - foreign currency 
  translation differences

Other comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive (loss) / income for the year

The annexed notes 1 to 35 form an integral part of these financial statements.

(Deficit) / surplus of income over expenditure for the year

Other comprehensive income:

 Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently
  to statement of income and expenditure:

 Net investment in foreign operations - foreign currency 
  translation differences

Other comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive (loss) / income for the year

The annexed notes 1 to 35 form an integral part of these financial statements.

 (124,475)

 35,360 

 35,360 

 (89,115)

 289,302 

 15,778 

 15,778 

 305,080 

Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial OfficerDirector
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
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The annexed notes 1 to 35 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Balance as at 01 July 2018

Addition during the year

Transfer of surplus of income over expenditure
 to the general fund

Total comprehensive income for the year

Surplus of income over expenditure for the year

Other comprehensive income

Foreign operations - foreign currency
 translation differences
Total comprehensive income for the year 

Balance as at 30 June 2019 

Adjustment of initial application of IFRS 16 -
   (refer note 3.1)

Balance as at 01 July 2019

Addition during the year

Transfer of surplus of income over expenditure
  to the general fund

Total comprehensive income for the year

Deficit of income over expenditure for the year

Other comprehensive income

Foreign operations - foreign currency
 translation differences
Total comprehensive loss for the year

Balance as at 30 June 2020

Balance as at 01 July 2018

Addition during the year

Transfer of surplus of income over expenditure
 to the general fund

Total comprehensive income for the year

Surplus of income over expenditure for the year

Other comprehensive income

Foreign operations - foreign currency
 translation differences
Total comprehensive income for the year 

Balance as at 30 June 2019 

Adjustment of initial application of IFRS 16 -
   (refer note 3.1)

Balance as at 01 July 2019

Addition during the year

Transfer of surplus of income over expenditure
  to the general fund

Total comprehensive income for the year

Deficit of income over expenditure for the year

Other comprehensive income

Foreign operations - foreign currency
 translation differences
Total comprehensive loss for the year

Balance as at 30 June 2020

Total(Deficit) /
Surplus of

income over
expenditure 

Foreign
currency

translation
reserve

 Endowment 
 fund 

 (Externally 
 restricted) 

 General 
 fund 

Capital
fund

(Rupees in '000)
 2,400 

 700 

 -   
 700 

 -   

 -   
 -   

 3,100 

 -   

 3,100 

 -   

 -   
 -   

 -   

 -   
 -   

 3,100 

 5,543,078 

 -   

 593,557 
 593,557 

 -   

 -   
 -   

 6,136,635 

 -      

 6,136,635 

 -   

 779,299 
 779,299 

 -   

 -   
 -   

 6,915,934 

 2,602,792 

 257,982 

 -   
 257,982 

 -   

 -   
 -   

 2,860,774 

 -   

 2,860,774 

 372,788 

 -   
 372,788 

 -   

 -   
 -   

 3,233,562 

 1,083,554 

 -   

 (593,557)
 (593,557)

 289,302 

 -   
 289,302 

 779,299 

 (1,042)

 778,257 

 -   

 (779,299)
 (779,299)

 (124,475)

 -   
 (124,475)

 (125,517)

 9,626 

 -   

 -   
 -   

 -   

 15,778 
 15,778 

 25,404 

 -   

 25,404 

 -   

 -   
 -   

 -   

 35,360 
 35,360 

 60,764 

 9,241,450 

 258,682 

 -   
 258,682 

 289,302 

 15,778 
 305,080 

 9,805,212 

 (1,042)

 9,804,170 

 372,788 

 -   
 372,788 

 (124,475)

 35,360 
 (89,115)

 10,087,843 

Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial OfficerDirector

Statement of Changes in Funds & Reserves 
For the year ended 30 June 2020

76  |  Keeping dreams alive  



The annexed notes 1 to 35 form an integral part of these financial statements.

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash used in operations
Long term deposits
Deferred receipts relating to school support, grants and
  children education
Taxes refunded / (deducted)
Finance costs paid
Net cash (used in) / generated from operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Capital expenditure including intangible assets
Sales proceeds on disposal of fixed assets
Purchase of investments
Proceeds from sale and maturity of investments
Profit on bank deposits received
Dividends received
Income on investments
Net cash used in investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Endowment fund
Payments of lease liabilities
Capital fund
Deferred receipts relating to build donations
Cash generated from financing activities
Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year
Currency translation difference on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
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Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents
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 (1,620,572)
 336 

 1,286,490 
 2,095 
 (4,462)

 (336,113)

 (595,223)
 31,207 

 (8,587,439)
 5,479,613 

 29,300 
 2,413 

 374,149 
 (3,265,980)

 372,788 
 (814)
 -   

 491,076 
 863,050 

 (2,739,043)

 3,700,531 
 35,360 

 996,848 

 (453,645)
 (130)

 1,128,700 
 (1,306)

 -   
 673,619 

 (604,586)
 26,877 

 (10,419,963)
 10,358,811 

 18,061 
 7,962 

 41,624 
 (571,214)

 257,982 
 -   
 700 

 656,441 
 915,123 

 1,017,528 

 2,667,225 
 15,778 

 3,700,531 
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Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year ended 30 June 2020
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1. LEGAL STATUS AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS   

1.1 The Citizens Foundation ("the Foundation") was incorporated in Pakistan as a Company Limited by Guarantee on 24 
September 1996 under section 42 of the repealed Companies Ordinance, 1984 (now Companies Act, 2017). The 
Foundation is principally engaged in establishing schools to promote education. The Foundation receives funds from 
across sections of society within and outside Pakistan for building of schools as well as for its operations. These 
donations are made by organisations, institutions and individuals.

 
 The registered address of the Foundation is Plot 20, Sector 14, Korangi Industrial Area, Karachi, Pakistan. The Foundation 

also has a branch office in Dubai located at building no. 4, office no. 118, International Humanitarian City, Dubai Industrial 
City Headquarters which is registered with International Humanitarian City - Free Zone, Dubai, United Arab Emirates. The 
principal activity of the branch is to help fundraising to support the school operations in Pakistan.

 School Network
    
 The Foundation school units are present across the country in the following territories:    

  No. of units %

 Punjab  716 43%

 Sindh  768 47%

 Balochistan  84 5%

 Khyber Pakhtunkhwa 74 4%

 Azad Jammu Kashmir 10 1%  

 1,652 100%

1.2 COVID-19 impact on operations         
          
 A novel strain of coronavirus (COVID-19) was classified as a pandemic by the World Health Organization on 11 March 

2020, impacting countries globally. Measures taken to contain the spread of the virus, including travel bans, quarantines, 
social distancing, and closures of non-essential services and factories have triggered significant disruptions to businesses 
worldwide, resulting in an economic slowdown. The potential impacts from COVID-19 remain uncertain, including, among 
other things, on economic conditions, businesses and consumers. However, the impact varies from industry to industry in 
respective jurisdictions. The main operations of the Foundation is to build and operate schools. The operations were 
disrupted during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2020 as the government announced closure of schools to contain the 
spread of the virus. The restriction continues and was in place as at 30 June 2020. 

 However, the Foundation appropriately responded to the change in circumstances and also contributed by developing 
and airing programmes for children based on its thematic early year’s courses via television, as its student body is 
characterized by negligible household and child access to internet/digital platforms, low level of literacy amongst parents 
and limited space and financial means.          

        
 The Foundation also launched COVID-19 Response Appeal to provide relief to the most impacted segment of the society 

as elaborated in Note 13.4. Based on management’s assessment, considering continued support of donors, availability of 
sustainability fund and no external borrowings of the Foundation, COVID-19 does not have a significant impact on the 
Foundation and supports the appropriateness of its going concern assumption.
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2020
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION         
          
2.1 Statement of compliance         
          
 These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting and reporting standards as applicable 

in Pakistan. The approved accounting and reporting standards applicable in Pakistan comprise of:

 - International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS Standards) issued by the International Accounting Standards Boards 
(IASB) as notified under the Companies Act, 2017;        

          
 - Accounting Standard for Not for Profit Organisations (Accounting Standard for NPOs) issued by the Institute of 

Chartered Accountants of Pakistan as notified under the Companies Act, 2017; and     
         

 - Provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017.

 Where provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017 differ from the IFRS Standards or the 
Accounting Standards for NPOs, the provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017 have been 
followed.

       
2.2 Basis of measurement         
          
 These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except for certain investments which 

are stated at fair value.

2.3 Functional and presentation currency         
          
 These financial statements are presented in Pakistan Rupees, which is the Foundation's functional and presentation 

currency. All financial information presented in Pakistan Rupees has been rounded to the nearest thousand of rupees.

2.4 Use of estimates and judgements         
          
 The preparation of financial statements in conformity with approved accounting standards requires management to make 

estimates, assumptions and use judgments that affect the application of the Foundation's accounting policies and the 
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.

 
 The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed 

to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about the 
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from 
these estimates.

      
 The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 

recognised in the year in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that year, or in the year of the revision 
and future years if the revision affects both current and future years.

 Judgments made by the management in the application of approved accounting standards, as applicable in Pakistan, 
that have significant effect on the financial statements and assumptions and estimation uncertainties with significant risk 
of material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the next year are described in the following 
notes:

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION         
          
2.1 Statement of compliance         
          
 These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting and reporting standards as applicable 

in Pakistan. The approved accounting and reporting standards applicable in Pakistan comprise of:

 - International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS Standards) issued by the International Accounting Standards Boards 
(IASB) as notified under the Companies Act, 2017;        

          
 - Accounting Standard for Not for Profit Organisations (Accounting Standard for NPOs) issued by the Institute of 

Chartered Accountants of Pakistan as notified under the Companies Act, 2017; and     
         

 - Provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017.

 Where provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017 differ from the IFRS Standards or the 
Accounting Standards for NPOs, the provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017 have been 
followed.

       
2.2 Basis of measurement         
          
 These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except for certain investments which 

are stated at fair value.

2.3 Functional and presentation currency         
          
 These financial statements are presented in Pakistan Rupees, which is the Foundation's functional and presentation 

currency. All financial information presented in Pakistan Rupees has been rounded to the nearest thousand of rupees.

2.4 Use of estimates and judgements         
          
 The preparation of financial statements in conformity with approved accounting standards requires management to make 

estimates, assumptions and use judgments that affect the application of the Foundation's accounting policies and the 
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.

 
 The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed 

to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about the 
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from 
these estimates.

      
 The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 

recognised in the year in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that year, or in the year of the revision 
and future years if the revision affects both current and future years.

 Judgments made by the management in the application of approved accounting standards, as applicable in Pakistan, 
that have significant effect on the financial statements and assumptions and estimation uncertainties with significant risk 
of material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the next year are described in the following 
notes:

 TCF - Annual Report 2020  |  79



 - Property and equipment and Intangible assets (notes 3.2 and 3.3).
 - Investments and impairment of financial assets (note 3.6 and 3.8)
 - Impairment of non-financial assets (note 3.4)
 - Provisions (note 3.18)
 - Contingent Liability (note 3.19)
 - Financial Assets (note 3.5)
 - Leases (note 3.13)      
          
2.5 Standards, Interpretations and Amendments which became effective during the year

 The Foundation has initially adopted IFRS 16 'Leases' from 01 July 2019. The impact of the adoption of this standard and 
the new accounting policies are disclosed in note 3.1.

 
 Apart from above, certain amendments to the approved accounting standards and interpretations became effective 

during the year which were not relevant to the Foundation's accounting policies.

2.6 Amendments to existing Approved Accounting Standards and Interpretations that are not yet effective 

 The following International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS Standards) as notified under the Companies Act, 2017 
and the amendments and interpretations thereto will be effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 01 July 
2020:

       
 - Amendment to IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’ – Definition of a Business (effective for business combinations for which 

the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2020). The IASB has 
issued amendments aiming to resolve the difficulties that arise when an entity determines whether it has acquired a 
business or a group of assets.  The amendments clarify that to be considered a business, an acquired set of activities 
and assets must include, at a minimum, an input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to the 
ability to create outputs. The amendments include an election to use a concentration test. The standard is effective for 
transactions in the future and therefore would not have an impact on past financial statements.

 - Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 
Estimates and Errors (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 01 January 2020). The amendments are 
intended to make the definition of material in IAS 1 easier to understand and are not intended to alter the underlying 
concept of materiality in IFRS Standards. In addition, the IASB has also issued guidance on how to make materiality 
judgments when preparing their general purpose financial statements in accordance with IFRS Standards.

 - On 29 March 2018, the International Accounting Standards Board (the IASB) has issued a revised Conceptual 
Framework for Financial Reporting which is applicable immediately, it contains changes that will set a new direction for 
IFRS in the future. The Conceptual Framework primarily serves as a tool for the IASB to develop standards and to assist 
the IFRS Interpretations Committee in interpreting them. It does not override the requirements of individual IFRSs and 
any inconsistencies with the revised Framework will be subject to the usual due process – this means that the overall 
impact on standard setting may take some time to crystallize. The companies may use the Framework as a reference 
for selecting their accounting policies in the absence of specific IFRS requirements. In these cases, companies should 
review those policies and apply the new guidance retrospectively as of 01 January 2020, unless the new guidance 
contains specific scope outs.

   
 - Interest Rate Benchmark Reform which has amended IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 is applicable for annual financial 

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020. The G20 asked the Financial Stability Board (FSB) to undertake a 
fundamental review of major interest rate benchmarks. Following the review, the FSB published a report setting out its 
recommended reforms of some major interest rate benchmarks such as IBORs. Public authorities in many jurisdictions  
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  have since taken steps to implement those recommendations. This has in turn led to uncertainty about the long-term 
viability of some interest rate benchmarks. In these amendments, the term 'interest rate benchmark reform' refers to the 
market-wide reform of an interest rate benchmark including its replacement with an alternative benchmark rate, such as 
that resulting from the FSB's recommendations set out in its July 2014 report 'Reforming Major Interest Rate 
Benchmarks' (the reform). The amendments made provide relief from the potential effects of the uncertainty caused by 
the reform. A company shall apply the exceptions to all hedging relationships directly affected by interest rate 
benchmark reform. The amendments are not likely to affect the financial statements of the Foundation.

 - Amendments to IFRS-16- IASB has issued amendments to IFRS 16 (the amendments) to provide practical relief for 
lessees in accounting for rent concessions. The amendments are effective for periods beginning on or after 1 June 
2020, with earlier application permitted. Under the standard’s previous requirements, lessees assess whether rent 
concessions are lease modifications and, if so, apply the specific guidance on accounting for lease modifications. This 
generally involves remeasuring the lease liability using the revised lease payments and a revised discount rate. In light of 
the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, and the fact that many lessees are applying the standard for the first time in their 
financial statements, the Board has provided an optional practical expedient for lessees. Under the practical expedient, 
lessees are not required to assess whether eligible rent concessions are lease modifications, and instead are permitted 
to account for them as if they were not lease modifications. Rent concessions are eligible for the practical expedient if 
they occur as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and if all the following criteria are met:

 - the change in lease payments results in revised consideration for the lease that is substantially the same as, or less 
than, the consideration for the lease immediately preceding the change; any reduction in lease payments affects 
only payments originally due on or before 30 June 2021; and

  
 - there is no substantive change to the other terms and conditions of the lease.

 - Classification of liabilities as current or non-current (Amendments to IAS 1) effective for the annual period beginning on 
or after 1 January 2022. These amendments in the standards have been added to further clarify when a liability is 
classified as current. The standard also amends the aspect of classification of liability as non-current by requiring the 
assessment of the entity’s right at the end of the reporting period to defer the settlement of liability for at least twelve 
months after the reporting period. An entity shall apply those amendments retrospectively in accordance with IAS 8.

 - Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract (Amendments to IAS 37) effective for the annual period beginning on 
or after 1 January 2022 amends IAS 1 by mainly adding paragraphs which clarifies what comprise the cost of fulfilling a 
contract. Cost of fulfilling a contract is relevant when determining whether a contract is onerous. An entity is required to 
apply the amendments to contracts for which it has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at the beginning of the annual 
reporting period in which it first applies the amendments (the date of initial application). Restatement of comparative 
information is not required, instead the amendments require an entity to recognise the cumulative effect of initially 
applying the amendments as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings or other component of equity, 
as appropriate, at the date of initial application. 

   
 - Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use (Amendments to IAS 16) effective for the annual period 

beginning on or after 1 January 2022. Clarifies that sales proceeds and cost of items produced while bringing an item of 
property, plant and equipment to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner 
intended by management e.g. when testing etc., are recognised in statement of income and expenditure in accordance with 
applicable Standards. The entity measures the cost of those items applying the measurement requirements of IAS 2. The 
standard also removes the requirement of deducting the net sales proceeds from cost of testing. An entity shall apply those 
amendments retrospectively, but only to items of property, plant and equipment that are brought to the location and 
condition necessary for them to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management on or after the beginning of 
the earliest period presented in the financial statements in which the entity first applies the amendments. The entity shall 
recognise the cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained 
earnings (or other component of equity, as appropriate) at the beginning of that earliest period presented. 
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 - The following annual improvements to IFRS standards 2018-2020 are effective for annual reporting periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2022.

     
 - IFRS 9 – The amendment clarifies that an entity includes only fees paid or received between the entity (the borrower) 

and the lender, including fees paid or received by either the entity or the lender on the other’s behalf, when it applies 
the ‘10 per cent’ test in paragraph B3.3.6 of IFRS 9 in assessing whether to derecognise a financial liability.

 - IFRS 16 – The amendment partially amends Illustrative Example 13 accompanying IFRS 16 by excluding the 
illustration of reimbursement of leasehold improvements by the lessor. The objective of the amendment is to resolve 
any potential confusion that might arise in lease incentives. 

 
 - IAS 41 – The amendment removes the requirement in paragraph 22 of IAS 41 for entities to exclude taxation cash 

flows when measuring the fair value of a biological asset using a present value technique.

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

 The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial 
statements, except for as disclosed below.

3.1 Change in accounting policy  
   
 The details of new significant accounting policies and the nature and effect of the changes to previous accounting 

policies are set out below:

3.1.1 IFRS 16 'Leases'

 The Foundation has adopted IFRS 16 "Leases" from 1 January 2019 as notified by the Securities and Exchange 
Commission of Pakistan vide its SRO 434 (I)/2018 dated 09 April 2018. The standard replaces the existing guidance on 
leases, including IAS 17 "Leases”, IFRIC 4 "Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease”, SIC 15 “Operating 
Leases – Incentives” and SIC 27 “Evaluating the Substance of Transactions in the Legal Form of a Lease”. 

 IFRS 16 introduced a single, on-balance sheet accounting model for lessees. It requires lessee to recognise right-of-use 
assets representing its rights to use the underlying assets and lease liabilities representing its obligation to make lease 
payments. Lessor accounting remains similar to previous accounting policies.

 As per IFRS 16, the Foundation is required to recognise a right-of-use asset (RoU asset) and a lease liability at the lease 
commencement date. The right-of-use asset has to be initially measured at cost, and subsequently at cost less any 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for certain re-measurements of the lease liability. 

 The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement 
date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Foundation's 
incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Foundation uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate. The 
weighted average lessee’s incremental borrowing rate applied to the lease liabilities on 1 July 2019 is 10%.

      
 The lease liability is subsequently increased by the interest cost on the lease liability and decreased by lease payment 

made. It is re-measured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an  index or rate, a 
change in the estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or as appropriate, 
changes in the assessment of whether a purchase or extension option is reasonably certain to be exercised or a 
termination option is reasonably certain not to be exercised.
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 IFRS 16 introduced a single, on-balance sheet accounting model for lessees. It requires lessee to recognise right-of-use 
assets representing its rights to use the underlying assets and lease liabilities representing its obligation to make lease 
payments. Lessor accounting remains similar to previous accounting policies.

 As per IFRS 16, the Foundation is required to recognise a right-of-use asset (RoU asset) and a lease liability at the lease 
commencement date. The right-of-use asset has to be initially measured at cost, and subsequently at cost less any 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for certain re-measurements of the lease liability. 

 The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement 
date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Foundation's 
incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Foundation uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate. The 
weighted average lessee’s incremental borrowing rate applied to the lease liabilities on 1 July 2019 is 10%.

      
 The lease liability is subsequently increased by the interest cost on the lease liability and decreased by lease payment 

made. It is re-measured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an  index or rate, a 
change in the estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or as appropriate, 
changes in the assessment of whether a purchase or extension option is reasonably certain to be exercised or a 
termination option is reasonably certain not to be exercised.
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 In determining whether a contract is, or contains, a lease the management assesses whether the contract conveys the 
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

 To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time, management 
shall assess whether both the below conditions are met:

  
 a)  it has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the identified asset; and

 b) it has the right to direct the use of the identified asset.
  
 The Foundation is required to apply judgments to determine the lease term for some lease contracts in which it is a lessee 

that include renewal options. The assessment of whether the Foundation is reasonably certain to exercise such options 
impacts the lease term which significantly affects the amount of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets recognised.

 Generally, Right of Use asset (RoU) asset would be equal to the lease liability. However, if there are additional costs such 
as site preparation, non-refundable deposits, application money, other expenses related to transaction etc. need to be 
added to the RoU asset value.

 The Foundation is required to determine the lease term as the non-cancellable period of a lease, together with both:

 (a) periods covered by an option to extend the lease if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

 (b) periods covered by an option to terminate the lease if the lessee is reasonably certain not to exercise that option.

 Short Term Lease is a lease that, at the commencement date, has a lease term of twelve months or less. A lease that 
contains a purchase option is not a short-term lease.

  
 The Foundation has applied IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach, under which the cumulative effect of 

initial application is recognised in retained earnings at 1 July 2019. Accordingly, the comparative information presented 
for 2019 has not been restated – i.e. it is presented, as previously reported, under IAS 17 and related interpretations.

 The Foundation has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases of properties 
that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. The Foundation recognises the lease 
payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

 The Foundation has various lease agreements for regional offices, area offices and garages which were previously 
classified by the Foundation based on its assessment of whether the lease transferred substantially all of the risks and

 rewards of ownership. Under IFRS 16, the Foundation recognises right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for all the leases
 - i.e. these leases are on statement of financial position.

 Impact on transition

 The impact of adoption of IFRS 16 on the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2020 is as follows:

 Right-of-use assets  
 Lease liabilities  
 Advances and prepayments

 In determining whether a contract is, or contains, a lease the management assesses whether the contract conveys the 
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

 To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time, management 
shall assess whether both the below conditions are met:

  
 a)  it has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the identified asset; and

 b) it has the right to direct the use of the identified asset.
  
 The Foundation is required to apply judgments to determine the lease term for some lease contracts in which it is a lessee 

that include renewal options. The assessment of whether the Foundation is reasonably certain to exercise such options 
impacts the lease term which significantly affects the amount of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets recognised.

 Generally, Right of Use asset (RoU) asset would be equal to the lease liability. However, if there are additional costs such 
as site preparation, non-refundable deposits, application money, other expenses related to transaction etc. need to be 
added to the RoU asset value.

 The Foundation is required to determine the lease term as the non-cancellable period of a lease, together with both:

 (a) periods covered by an option to extend the lease if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

 (b) periods covered by an option to terminate the lease if the lessee is reasonably certain not to exercise that option.

 Short Term Lease is a lease that, at the commencement date, has a lease term of twelve months or less. A lease that 
contains a purchase option is not a short-term lease.

  
 The Foundation has applied IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach, under which the cumulative effect of 

initial application is recognised in retained earnings at 1 July 2019. Accordingly, the comparative information presented 
for 2019 has not been restated – i.e. it is presented, as previously reported, under IAS 17 and related interpretations.

 The Foundation has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases of properties 
that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. The Foundation recognises the lease 
payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

 The Foundation has various lease agreements for regional offices, area offices and garages which were previously 
classified by the Foundation based on its assessment of whether the lease transferred substantially all of the risks and

 rewards of ownership. Under IFRS 16, the Foundation recognises right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for all the leases
 - i.e. these leases are on statement of financial position.

 Impact on transition

 The impact of adoption of IFRS 16 on the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2020 is as follows:

 Right-of-use assets  
 Lease liabilities  
 Advances and prepayments
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(Rupees in '000)

 42,723 
 (47,552)

 114,608 

 49,482 
 (48,366)

 106,690 

30 June 2020 1 July 2019



 On transition to IFRS 16, the Foundation made the following adjustments to its surplus of income over expenditure at
 1 July 2019:

 Recognition of lease liability at initial adoption 
 Recognition of right-of-use asset at initial adoption  
 Adjustment for prepaid rent 
 Net impact on surplus of income over expenditure

3.2 Property and equipment

 These are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any, except for freehold 
and leasehold land and donated land and buildings. Cost includes expenditure directly attributable to the acquisition of an 
asset. The cost of self-constructed asset includes the cost of materials, direct labour and any other costs directly 
attributable to bring the asset to a working condition for its intended use. 

 Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or are recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only 
when it is probable that future benefits associated with the item will flow to the Foundation and the cost of the item can 
be measured reliably.

     
 The value assigned to the leasehold land is not depreciated as cost of renewing lease is nominal and realizable value is 

higher than cost.
      
 Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate. 

The effect of any adjustments to residual values and useful lives is recognised prospectively as a change in estimate in 
statement of income and expenditure.

   
 Donated / contributed lands are stated at fair value at the date of contribution / donation. Fair value of donated / 

contributed lands are measured at valuation determined by the management. Donated buildings are initially measured at 
valuation determined by the management and subsequently carried at valuation less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment, if any.

    
 Depreciation is charged to statement of income and expenditure under the straight-line basis at rates specified in the 

respective note to these financial statements. Depreciation is charged on operating fixed assets from the date asset is 
available for intended use up to the date the asset is disposed off. Normal repairs and maintenance are charged to 
statement of income and expenditure as and when incurred. Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property and 
equipment are taken to statement of income and expenditure.

 
 Capital work-in-progress is stated at cost less impairment loss, if any, and consists of expenditure incurred in the course 

of their construction and installation. Assets are transferred to operating fixed assets when they are available for intended use.

3.3 Intangible assets         
          
 Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. Intangible 

assets are amortised on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives. Amortisation on additions to intangible 
assets is charged from the day on which an item is acquired or capitalized.

 Costs that are directly associated with identifiable software products controlled by the Foundation and have probable 
economic benefit beyond one year are recognised as intangible assets.

 On transition to IFRS 16, the Foundation made the following adjustments to its surplus of income over expenditure at
 1 July 2019:

 Recognition of lease liability at initial adoption 
 Recognition of right-of-use asset at initial adoption  
 Adjustment for prepaid rent 
 Net impact on surplus of income over expenditure

3.2 Property and equipment

 These are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any, except for freehold 
and leasehold land and donated land and buildings. Cost includes expenditure directly attributable to the acquisition of an 
asset. The cost of self-constructed asset includes the cost of materials, direct labour and any other costs directly 
attributable to bring the asset to a working condition for its intended use. 

 Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or are recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only 
when it is probable that future benefits associated with the item will flow to the Foundation and the cost of the item can 
be measured reliably.

     
 The value assigned to the leasehold land is not depreciated as cost of renewing lease is nominal and realizable value is 

higher than cost.
      
 Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate. 

The effect of any adjustments to residual values and useful lives is recognised prospectively as a change in estimate in 
statement of income and expenditure.

   
 Donated / contributed lands are stated at fair value at the date of contribution / donation. Fair value of donated / 

contributed lands are measured at valuation determined by the management. Donated buildings are initially measured at 
valuation determined by the management and subsequently carried at valuation less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment, if any.

    
 Depreciation is charged to statement of income and expenditure under the straight-line basis at rates specified in the 

respective note to these financial statements. Depreciation is charged on operating fixed assets from the date asset is 
available for intended use up to the date the asset is disposed off. Normal repairs and maintenance are charged to 
statement of income and expenditure as and when incurred. Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property and 
equipment are taken to statement of income and expenditure.

 
 Capital work-in-progress is stated at cost less impairment loss, if any, and consists of expenditure incurred in the course 

of their construction and installation. Assets are transferred to operating fixed assets when they are available for intended use.

3.3 Intangible assets         
          
 Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. Intangible 

assets are amortised on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives. Amortisation on additions to intangible 
assets is charged from the day on which an item is acquired or capitalized.

 Costs that are directly associated with identifiable software products controlled by the Foundation and have probable 
economic benefit beyond one year are recognised as intangible assets.
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(Rupees in '000)

 (48,366)
 49,482 
 (2,158)
 (1,042)

2019



 Costs associated with maintaining computer software products are recognised as expense as and when incurred.

 Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate. 
The effect of any adjustments to residual values and useful lives is recognised prospectively as a change in estimate in 
statement of income and expenditure.

    
3.4 Impairment of non-financial assets
   
 The carrying amount of the Foundation's non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether 

there is any objective evidence that an asset or group of assets may be impaired. If any such evidence exists, the assets 
or group of assets may be impaired. An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds 
its recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of value in use and fair value less cost to sell. Impairment 
losses are recognised in the statement of income and expenditure.

 
3.5 Financial assets         
          
 Initial Measurement         
          
 The Foundation classifies its financial assets in to the following three categories:

 - fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)
 - fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL); and        
 - amortised cost        
          
 A financial asset is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not measured at FVTPL, transaction costs that are 

directly attributable to its acquisition.

 Subsequent Measurement         
          
 Debt Investment at FVOCI These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest/ markup income 

calculated using the effective interest method, foreign exchange gains and losses 
and impairment are recognised in other comprehensive income. On de-recognition, 
gains and losses accumulated in other comprehensive income are reclassified to 
the statement of income and expenditure.

 Equity Investments at FVOCI These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognised as 
income in the statement of income and expenditure unless the dividend clearly 
represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Other gains and losses 
are recognised in other comprehensive income and are never reclassified to the 
statement of income and expenditure.

 Financial assets at FVTPL These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, 
including any interest/ markup or dividend income, are recognised in statement of 
income and expenditure.

 
 Financial assets measured These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
 at amortised cost interest method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest/ 

markup income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised 
in the statement of income and expenditure

 Costs associated with maintaining computer software products are recognised as expense as and when incurred.

 Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate. 
The effect of any adjustments to residual values and useful lives is recognised prospectively as a change in estimate in 
statement of income and expenditure.

    
3.4 Impairment of non-financial assets
   
 The carrying amount of the Foundation's non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether 

there is any objective evidence that an asset or group of assets may be impaired. If any such evidence exists, the assets 
or group of assets may be impaired. An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds 
its recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of value in use and fair value less cost to sell. Impairment 
losses are recognised in the statement of income and expenditure.

 
3.5 Financial assets         
          
 Initial Measurement         
          
 The Foundation classifies its financial assets in to the following three categories:

 - fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)
 - fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL); and        
 - amortised cost        
          
 A financial asset is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not measured at FVTPL, transaction costs that are 

directly attributable to its acquisition.

 Subsequent Measurement         
          
 Debt Investment at FVOCI These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest/ markup income 

calculated using the effective interest method, foreign exchange gains and losses 
and impairment are recognised in other comprehensive income. On de-recognition, 
gains and losses accumulated in other comprehensive income are reclassified to 
the statement of income and expenditure.

 Equity Investments at FVOCI These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognised as 
income in the statement of income and expenditure unless the dividend clearly 
represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Other gains and losses 
are recognised in other comprehensive income and are never reclassified to the 
statement of income and expenditure.

 Financial assets at FVTPL These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, 
including any interest/ markup or dividend income, are recognised in statement of 
income and expenditure.

 
 Financial assets measured These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
 at amortised cost interest method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest/ 

markup income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised 
in the statement of income and expenditure
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3.6 Investments

 Investments in PIBs, treasury bills and term deposit receipts are classified as amortised cost and are initially measured at fair 
value. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition are included in the carrying amount. Subsequently these 
investments are measured at amortised cost using effective interest method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment 
losses. Interest/ markup income, losses and impairment are recognised in statement of income and expenditure.

       
 Investments in equity securities and units/ certificates of open and closed end mutual funds are classified at fair value 

through profit or loss and is initially measured at fair value and subsequently at fair value determined on the basis of 
year-end-bid prices obtained from stock exchange quotations and the relevant redemption prices for open end mutual 
fund units. Net gains and losses are recognised in the statement of income and expenditure. 

3.7 Accrued income and other receivables

 These are classified at amortised cost and are initially recognised when they are originated and measured at fair value of 
consideration receivable. These assets are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Actual credit 
loss experience over past years is used to base the calculation of expected credit loss.     
  

3.8 Impairment of financial assets         
          
 The Foundation recognises loss allowances for expected credit loss (ECLs) in respect of financial assets measured at 

amortised cost.

 The Foundation measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the following, which are 
measured at 12-month ECLs:

 - debt securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and 

 - other debt securities and bank balances for which credit (i.e. the risk of default occurring over the expected life of the 
financial instrument) has not increased significantly since initial recognition.

 Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

 When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and when 
estimating ECLs, the Foundation considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without 
undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Foundation's 
historical experience and information. 

    
 The Foundation assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more than past due for a 

reasonable period of time. Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of
 a financial instrument. 12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible within the 

12 months after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months). The 
maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the Foundation is 
exposed to credit risk.

 Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount of the assets.
       
 The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Foundation has no reasonable expectations of 

recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. The Foundation individually makes an assessment with 
respect to the timing and amount of write-off based on whether there is a reasonable expectation of recovery. The

3.6 Investments

 Investments in PIBs, treasury bills and term deposit receipts are classified as amortised cost and are initially measured at fair 
value. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition are included in the carrying amount. Subsequently these 
investments are measured at amortised cost using effective interest method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment 
losses. Interest/ markup income, losses and impairment are recognised in statement of income and expenditure.

       
 Investments in equity securities and units/ certificates of open and closed end mutual funds are classified at fair value 

through profit or loss and is initially measured at fair value and subsequently at fair value determined on the basis of 
year-end-bid prices obtained from stock exchange quotations and the relevant redemption prices for open end mutual 
fund units. Net gains and losses are recognised in the statement of income and expenditure. 

3.7 Accrued income and other receivables

 These are classified at amortised cost and are initially recognised when they are originated and measured at fair value of 
consideration receivable. These assets are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Actual credit 
loss experience over past years is used to base the calculation of expected credit loss.     
  

3.8 Impairment of financial assets         
          
 The Foundation recognises loss allowances for expected credit loss (ECLs) in respect of financial assets measured at 

amortised cost.

 The Foundation measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the following, which are 
measured at 12-month ECLs:

 - debt securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and 

 - other debt securities and bank balances for which credit (i.e. the risk of default occurring over the expected life of the 
financial instrument) has not increased significantly since initial recognition.

 Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

 When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and when 
estimating ECLs, the Foundation considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without 
undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Foundation's 
historical experience and information. 

    
 The Foundation assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more than past due for a 

reasonable period of time. Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of
 a financial instrument. 12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible within the 

12 months after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months). The 
maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the Foundation is 
exposed to credit risk.

 Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount of the assets.
       
 The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Foundation has no reasonable expectations of 

recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. The Foundation individually makes an assessment with 
respect to the timing and amount of write-off based on whether there is a reasonable expectation of recovery. The
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 Foundation expects no significant recovery from the amount written off. However, financial assets that are written off 
could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Foundation's procedures for recovery of 
amounts due.

      
3.9 De-recognition          
          
 Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have 

been transferred and the Foundation has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

3.10 Books, copies, uniforms and other school supplies
  
 Books, copies, uniforms and other school supplies are valued principally at the lower of cost and current replacement 

cost using weighted average cost method.
   
 Materials in transit are stated at cost comprising invoice value plus other charges incurred thereon. 

3.11 Other payables

 Other payables are recognised initially at fair value less directly attributable cost, if any, and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost.

3.12 Financial instruments         
          
 All the financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised at the time when the Foundation becomes a party to the 

contractual provisions of the instrument. The Foundation derecognises the financial assets when the contractual rights to 
the cash flows from the asset expires or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in 
which substantially all of the risk and rewards of ownership of the financial assets are transferred or it neither transfers nor 
retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and does not retain control over the transferred asset. The 
Foundation derecognises financial liabilities at the time when they are extinguished, that is, when the obligation specified 
in the contract is discharged, cancelled, or expired. Any gain or loss on derecognition of the financial assets and financial 
liabilities is taken to statement of income and expenditure.

 
 Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the financial statements only when the 

Foundation has currently legally enforceable right to set-off the recognised amounts and the Foundation intends either to 
settle on a net basis or to realize the assets and to settle the liabilities simultaneously.

3.13 Leases

 Policy applicable after 1 July 2019

 A contract is, or contains a lease if the contract conveys a right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of 
time in exchange for consideration. The entity mainly leases properties for its operations. The entity recognises a

 right-of-use asset and lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost,
 and subsequently at cost less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses if any, and adjusted for certain 

remeasurements of the lease liability. The right-of-use asset is depreciated using the straight line method over the shorter 
of the lease term and the asset's useful life. The estimated useful lives of assets are determined on the same basis as that 
for owned assets. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any.

 The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement 
date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the entity's 

 Foundation expects no significant recovery from the amount written off. However, financial assets that are written off 
could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Foundation's procedures for recovery of 
amounts due.

      
3.9 De-recognition          
          
 Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have 

been transferred and the Foundation has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

3.10 Books, copies, uniforms and other school supplies
  
 Books, copies, uniforms and other school supplies are valued principally at the lower of cost and current replacement 

cost using weighted average cost method.
   
 Materials in transit are stated at cost comprising invoice value plus other charges incurred thereon. 

3.11 Other payables

 Other payables are recognised initially at fair value less directly attributable cost, if any, and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost.

3.12 Financial instruments         
          
 All the financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised at the time when the Foundation becomes a party to the 

contractual provisions of the instrument. The Foundation derecognises the financial assets when the contractual rights to 
the cash flows from the asset expires or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in 
which substantially all of the risk and rewards of ownership of the financial assets are transferred or it neither transfers nor 
retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and does not retain control over the transferred asset. The 
Foundation derecognises financial liabilities at the time when they are extinguished, that is, when the obligation specified 
in the contract is discharged, cancelled, or expired. Any gain or loss on derecognition of the financial assets and financial 
liabilities is taken to statement of income and expenditure.

 
 Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the financial statements only when the 

Foundation has currently legally enforceable right to set-off the recognised amounts and the Foundation intends either to 
settle on a net basis or to realize the assets and to settle the liabilities simultaneously.

3.13 Leases

 Policy applicable after 1 July 2019

 A contract is, or contains a lease if the contract conveys a right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of 
time in exchange for consideration. The entity mainly leases properties for its operations. The entity recognises a

 right-of-use asset and lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost,
 and subsequently at cost less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses if any, and adjusted for certain 

remeasurements of the lease liability. The right-of-use asset is depreciated using the straight line method over the shorter 
of the lease term and the asset's useful life. The estimated useful lives of assets are determined on the same basis as that 
for owned assets. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any.

 The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement 
date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the entity's 



 incremental borrowing rate. The lease liability is subsequently increased by the interest cost on the lease liability and 
 decreased by lease payments made. It is re-measured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a 

change in an index or rate, a change in assessment of whether extension option is reasonably certain to be exercised or a 
termination option is reasonably certain not to be exercised.

 
 The Foundation has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases that have a 

lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. The Foundation recognises the lease payments 
associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

 Policy applicable before 1 July 2019
 
 Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
 rewards of ownership to the Foundation. All other leases are classified as operating leases.
 
 Assets held under finance leases along with corresponding lease liabilities are initially recognised at their fair
 value at the inception of the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease
 payments are apportioned between finance costs and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant
 rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance costs are recognised in statement of income and
 expenditure, unless they are directly attributable to qualifying assets.
 
 Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to statement of
 income and expenditure on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.
 
 In the context of sale and leaseback transactions, where a sale and leaseback transaction is classified as a
 finance lease, any excess of the sale proceeds over the carrying values is deferred and recognised in statement of
 income and expenditure over the lease term. Any loss representing the excess of the carrying values over the sale 
 proceeds is recognised immediately in statement of income and expenditure.

3.14 Income recognition 

 Donations for school operations are recognised as income as and when received.

 Donations related to operating fixed assets e.g. for building schools etc. received in cash are recognised as deferred 
income and amortised over the useful lives of asset from the date the asset is available for intended use.

 Donations received for school support and education of a child till matriculation are deferred and recognised as income 
on a systematic basis to match them with the related costs that they are intended to compensate.

 Donations received in kind exceeding the capitalization limit are recognised as deferred income and amortised over the 
useful life of asset from the date the asset is available for intended use. Donations received in kind which are below the 
capitalization limit are recognised as income for the year.

 
 Restricted and other contributions for the purchase of capital assets / contribution of capital assets, which will not 
 be amortised are recognised as income upon purchase of capital assets / contribution of capital assets.

 Gain or losses on sale of investments are included in statement of income and expenditure on the date at which the 
transaction takes place.

 Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive dividend is established.

 incremental borrowing rate. The lease liability is subsequently increased by the interest cost on the lease liability and 
 decreased by lease payments made. It is re-measured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a 

change in an index or rate, a change in assessment of whether extension option is reasonably certain to be exercised or a 
termination option is reasonably certain not to be exercised.

 
 The Foundation has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases that have a 

lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. The Foundation recognises the lease payments 
associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

 Policy applicable before 1 July 2019
 
 Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
 rewards of ownership to the Foundation. All other leases are classified as operating leases.
 
 Assets held under finance leases along with corresponding lease liabilities are initially recognised at their fair
 value at the inception of the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease
 payments are apportioned between finance costs and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant
 rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance costs are recognised in statement of income and
 expenditure, unless they are directly attributable to qualifying assets.
 
 Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to statement of
 income and expenditure on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.
 
 In the context of sale and leaseback transactions, where a sale and leaseback transaction is classified as a
 finance lease, any excess of the sale proceeds over the carrying values is deferred and recognised in statement of
 income and expenditure over the lease term. Any loss representing the excess of the carrying values over the sale 
 proceeds is recognised immediately in statement of income and expenditure.

3.14 Income recognition 

 Donations for school operations are recognised as income as and when received.

 Donations related to operating fixed assets e.g. for building schools etc. received in cash are recognised as deferred 
income and amortised over the useful lives of asset from the date the asset is available for intended use.

 Donations received for school support and education of a child till matriculation are deferred and recognised as income 
on a systematic basis to match them with the related costs that they are intended to compensate.

 Donations received in kind exceeding the capitalization limit are recognised as deferred income and amortised over the 
useful life of asset from the date the asset is available for intended use. Donations received in kind which are below the 
capitalization limit are recognised as income for the year.

 
 Restricted and other contributions for the purchase of capital assets / contribution of capital assets, which will not 
 be amortised are recognised as income upon purchase of capital assets / contribution of capital assets.

 Gain or losses on sale of investments are included in statement of income and expenditure on the date at which the 
transaction takes place.

 Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive dividend is established.
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 Grants are recognised in statement of income and expenditure on a systematic basis to match them with the related 
 costs that they are intended to compensate. For detail policy for Grants, refer note 3.25.

 Income on Pakistan Investment Bonds is recognised using the effective yield basis.

 Income on deposit accounts, term deposits receipts and treasury bills are recognised on time proportion basis taking in 
to account the effective yield.

 Parental contribution are recognised on receipt basis.

 The occasional voluntary services from professionals and organisations are not recorded in the financial statements due 
to impracticality of its measurement.

 Contributions from the Government under the Partnership Schools programme are recognised on receipt basis. 
Contributions from the Government are also recognised as revenue on receivable basis, when the inflows can be reliably 
measured and the collection is reasonably assured.

 Management fees from Government under Sindh Basic Education Programme are also recognised as revenue on 
receivable basis, when the inflows can be reliably measured and the collection is reasonably assured.

 Miscellaneous income, if any, is recognised on receipt basis.

3.15 Provision for compensated absences 

 The Foundation accounts for all accumulated compensated absences when employees render services that increase their 
entitlement to future compensated absences. The Foundation provides for its estimated liability towards leaves 
accumulated by employees on an accrual basis using current salary levels.

3.16 Expenses         
          
 All expenses are recognised in the statement of income and expenditure on accrual basis. 

3.17 Taxation
       
 The Foundation enjoys exemption from income tax under sub-clause (xxx) of clause (66) of Part I of Second Schedule to 

the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001, consequently no provision for taxation is made in these financial statements. Further, by 
virtue of sub-clause (i)(a) of clause (61) of Part I of the Second Schedule of the said Ordinance, any donation made to the 
Foundation by any person shall be allowed as admissible deduction. The exemption clauses became applicable from 01 
July 2012. 

  
3.18 Provisions 
      
 Provisions are recognised in the statement of financial position when the Foundation has a legal or constructive obligation 

as a result of past event and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. However, provisions are 
reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect current best estimate.

3.19 Contingent Liability           
            
 A contingent liability is disclosed when the Foundation has a possible obligation as a result of past events, whose 

 Grants are recognised in statement of income and expenditure on a systematic basis to match them with the related 
 costs that they are intended to compensate. For detail policy for Grants, refer note 3.25.

 Income on Pakistan Investment Bonds is recognised using the effective yield basis.

 Income on deposit accounts, term deposits receipts and treasury bills are recognised on time proportion basis taking in 
to account the effective yield.

 Parental contribution are recognised on receipt basis.

 The occasional voluntary services from professionals and organisations are not recorded in the financial statements due 
to impracticality of its measurement.

 Contributions from the Government under the Partnership Schools programme are recognised on receipt basis. 
Contributions from the Government are also recognised as revenue on receivable basis, when the inflows can be reliably 
measured and the collection is reasonably assured.

 Management fees from Government under Sindh Basic Education Programme are also recognised as revenue on 
receivable basis, when the inflows can be reliably measured and the collection is reasonably assured.

 Miscellaneous income, if any, is recognised on receipt basis.

3.15 Provision for compensated absences 

 The Foundation accounts for all accumulated compensated absences when employees render services that increase their 
entitlement to future compensated absences. The Foundation provides for its estimated liability towards leaves 
accumulated by employees on an accrual basis using current salary levels.

3.16 Expenses         
          
 All expenses are recognised in the statement of income and expenditure on accrual basis. 

3.17 Taxation
       
 The Foundation enjoys exemption from income tax under sub-clause (xxx) of clause (66) of Part I of Second Schedule to 

the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001, consequently no provision for taxation is made in these financial statements. Further, by 
virtue of sub-clause (i)(a) of clause (61) of Part I of the Second Schedule of the said Ordinance, any donation made to the 
Foundation by any person shall be allowed as admissible deduction. The exemption clauses became applicable from 01 
July 2012. 

  
3.18 Provisions 
      
 Provisions are recognised in the statement of financial position when the Foundation has a legal or constructive obligation 

as a result of past event and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. However, provisions are 
reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect current best estimate.

3.19 Contingent Liability           
            
 A contingent liability is disclosed when the Foundation has a possible obligation as a result of past events, whose 
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 existence will be confirmed only by occurrence or non-occurrence, of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
 within the control of the Foundation; or the Foundation has a present legal or constructive obligation that arises from past 

events, but it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation, or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

 
3.20 Transactions and balances           
            
 Foreign currency transactions are translated to Pakistan Rupees at exchange rates prevailing on the date of transaction. 

All monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated into Pakistan Rupees at the 
rates of exchange prevailing on the reporting date. Exchange differences, if any, are included in statement of income and 
expenditure.

        
 The results and financial position of foreign operations are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

 - assets and liabilities are translated into Pak Rupees at the exchange rate at the reporting date;

 - income and expenses for statement of income and expenditure are translated at average exchange rate (unless this 
average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in 
which case income and expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of the transactions); and

 - all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in foreign currency 
translation reserves.

      
3.21 Cash and cash equivalents

 Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash in hand, balances with banks and other short term highly liquid investments 
with original maturities of three months or less.

3.22 Transfer to general fund

 The Foundation transfers (deficit) / surplus of income over expenditure to general fund in the year in which it is approved.

3.23 Restricted contributions           
            
 A restricted contribution is a contribution subject to externally imposed stipulations that specify the purpose for which the 

contributed asset or fund is to be used. Endowment contributions are accumulated in the net assets balance. Externally 
restricted contributions for expenses of one or more future periods are accumulated in the statement of financial position

 as deferred contributions and recognised as revenue in the statement of income and expenditure in the same period or
 periods as the related expenses are recognised. Restricted contributions for the purchase of capital assets that will be
 depreciated are deferred and recognised as revenue in the statement of income and expenditure on the same basis as
 the depreciation expense related to the acquired capital assets. The net investment income earned, to the extent 

attributable to restricted contributions including endowment contribution / fund, are recognised as increase or decrease in 
the deferred contribution balance and endowment fund as the case may be.

 
3.24 Contribution receivable
       
 A contribution receivable is recognised as an asset only if the amounts to be received can be reasonably estimated and 

ultimate collection is reasonably assured. Because of the non-reciprocal nature of contributions, there may be 
considerable uncertainty surrounding collectability. When this uncertainty exists, the Foundation does not recognise a 
contribution until the contributed assets has been received. The Foundation views that, the further in the future the 
contributed assets are expected to be received the greater is the uncertainty associated with collectability.

 existence will be confirmed only by occurrence or non-occurrence, of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
 within the control of the Foundation; or the Foundation has a present legal or constructive obligation that arises from past 

events, but it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation, or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

 
3.20 Transactions and balances           
            
 Foreign currency transactions are translated to Pakistan Rupees at exchange rates prevailing on the date of transaction. 

All monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated into Pakistan Rupees at the 
rates of exchange prevailing on the reporting date. Exchange differences, if any, are included in statement of income and 
expenditure.

        
 The results and financial position of foreign operations are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

 - assets and liabilities are translated into Pak Rupees at the exchange rate at the reporting date;

 - income and expenses for statement of income and expenditure are translated at average exchange rate (unless this 
average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in 
which case income and expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of the transactions); and

 - all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in foreign currency 
translation reserves.

      
3.21 Cash and cash equivalents

 Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash in hand, balances with banks and other short term highly liquid investments 
with original maturities of three months or less.

3.22 Transfer to general fund

 The Foundation transfers (deficit) / surplus of income over expenditure to general fund in the year in which it is approved.

3.23 Restricted contributions           
            
 A restricted contribution is a contribution subject to externally imposed stipulations that specify the purpose for which the 

contributed asset or fund is to be used. Endowment contributions are accumulated in the net assets balance. Externally 
restricted contributions for expenses of one or more future periods are accumulated in the statement of financial position

 as deferred contributions and recognised as revenue in the statement of income and expenditure in the same period or
 periods as the related expenses are recognised. Restricted contributions for the purchase of capital assets that will be
 depreciated are deferred and recognised as revenue in the statement of income and expenditure on the same basis as
 the depreciation expense related to the acquired capital assets. The net investment income earned, to the extent 

attributable to restricted contributions including endowment contribution / fund, are recognised as increase or decrease in 
the deferred contribution balance and endowment fund as the case may be.

 
3.24 Contribution receivable
       
 A contribution receivable is recognised as an asset only if the amounts to be received can be reasonably estimated and 

ultimate collection is reasonably assured. Because of the non-reciprocal nature of contributions, there may be 
considerable uncertainty surrounding collectability. When this uncertainty exists, the Foundation does not recognise a 
contribution until the contributed assets has been received. The Foundation views that, the further in the future the 
contributed assets are expected to be received the greater is the uncertainty associated with collectability.



(Rupees in '000)

4.1
4.2

 10,478,925 
 236,038
 18,657 
 9,723 

 10,743,343 

 10,308,809 
 293,814 

 9,600 
 2,682 

 10,614,905 

Note 2020 2019

 TCF - Annual Report 2020  |  91

3.25 Grants

 Grants are recognised as the fair value of the consideration received. A grant without specified future performance 
conditions is recognised as income when the grant proceeds are received.  A grant that imposes specified future 
performance condition is deferred and recognised as income when all those conditions are met. The Foundation does not 
recognise those forms of assistance for which a reasonable value cannot be placed on them.

3.26 Allocation of expenses

 Expenses incurred by regional offices are allocated to supervision and monitoring of education programme.

 Expenses incurred by quality assurance (QA), HR schools, partnership schools, community development unit (CDU) and 
operation departments are allocated to supervision and monitoring of education programme.

 Expenses incurred by training department are allocated to supervision and monitoring of education programme.

 Expenses incurred by engineering department are allocated to capital work in progress projects on pro-rata basis per 
additional amount incurred on each project.

 Remuneration of Executive Vice-President - Operations is allocated to supervision and monitoring of education 
programme and capital work in progress projects at 80% and 20% respectively. Allocation to capital work in progress 
projects is on pro-rata basis per additional amount incurred on each project.

 80% remuneration of Executive Vice President - Outcomes is allocated to supervision and monitoring of education 
programme.

 Remuneration of Chief Executive Officer is allocated to supervision and monitoring of education programme and capital 
work in progress projects at 24% and 10% respectively. Allocation to capital work in progress projects is on pro-rata 
basis per additional amount incurred on each project.

4. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 
  
  
 Operating fixed assets 
 Capital work in progress 
 Advance for construction 
 Advance against purchase of operating fixed assets         

   
            
            

3.25 Grants

 Grants are recognised as the fair value of the consideration received. A grant without specified future performance 
conditions is recognised as income when the grant proceeds are received.  A grant that imposes specified future 
performance condition is deferred and recognised as income when all those conditions are met. The Foundation does not 
recognise those forms of assistance for which a reasonable value cannot be placed on them.

3.26 Allocation of expenses

 Expenses incurred by regional offices are allocated to supervision and monitoring of education programme.

 Expenses incurred by quality assurance (QA), HR schools, partnership schools, community development unit (CDU) and 
operation departments are allocated to supervision and monitoring of education programme.

 Expenses incurred by training department are allocated to supervision and monitoring of education programme.

 Expenses incurred by engineering department are allocated to capital work in progress projects on pro-rata basis per 
additional amount incurred on each project.

 Remuneration of Executive Vice-President - Operations is allocated to supervision and monitoring of education 
programme and capital work in progress projects at 80% and 20% respectively. Allocation to capital work in progress 
projects is on pro-rata basis per additional amount incurred on each project.

 80% remuneration of Executive Vice President - Outcomes is allocated to supervision and monitoring of education 
programme.

 Remuneration of Chief Executive Officer is allocated to supervision and monitoring of education programme and capital 
work in progress projects at 24% and 10% respectively. Allocation to capital work in progress projects is on pro-rata 
basis per additional amount incurred on each project.

4. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 
  
  
 Operating fixed assets 
 Capital work in progress 
 Advance for construction 
 Advance against purchase of operating fixed assets         

   
            
            



4.1 Operating Fixed Assets

 At 1 July 2019
 Cost 
 Accumulated depreciation
 Net book value 
 

 Additions / transfers from
  capital work in progress
 
 Disposals / write-offs
 Cost
 Accumulated depreciation
 
 
 Depreciation for the year
 Closing net book value
 
 At 30 June 2020
 Cost / fair value
 Accumulated depreciation
 Net book value
 
 Depreciation rates (% per annum)
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 At 1 July 2018
 Cost 
 Accumulated depreciation
 Net book value 
 
 Fair value of contributed /
    Donated lands
 
 Additions / transfers from
  capital work in progress
 
 Disposals
 Cost
 Accumulated depreciation
 
 
 Depreciation for the year
 Closing net book value
 
 At 30 June 2019
 Cost 
 Accumulated depreciation
 Net book value 
 
 Depreciation rates (% per annum)

 At 1 July 2019
 Cost 
 Accumulated depreciation
 Net book value 
 

 Additions / transfers from
  capital work in progress
 
 Disposals / write-offs
 Cost
 Accumulated depreciation
 
 
 Depreciation for the year
 Closing net book value
 
 At 30 June 2020
 Cost / fair value
 Accumulated depreciation
 Net book value
 
 Depreciation rates (% per annum)
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 At 1 July 2018
 Cost 
 Accumulated depreciation
 Net book value 
 
 Fair value of contributed /
    Donated lands
 
 Additions / transfers from
  capital work in progress
 
 Disposals
 Cost
 Accumulated depreciation
 
 
 Depreciation for the year
 Closing net book value
 
 At 30 June 2019
 Cost 
 Accumulated depreciation
 Net book value 
 
 Depreciation rates (% per annum)

  
13,646,036 
 (3,337,227)
 10,308,809 

 633,959 

 49,772 
 (49,079)

 693 

 (463,150)
 10,478,925 

 14,230,223 
 (3,751,298)
 10,478,925 

 
 13,125,496 
 (2,938,665)

 10,186,831 

 122,525 

 583,703 

 185,688 
 (46,859)

 138,829 

 (445,421)
 10,308,809 

 13,646,036 
 (3,337,227)

 10,308,809 

   175,816 
 (117,151)

 58,665 

 21,926 

 1,684 
 (1,645)

 39 

 (21,322)
 59,230 

 196,058 
 (136,828)

 59,230 

20 

    146,090 
 (98,790)
 47,300 

 -   

 30,310 

 584 
 (521)

 63 

 (18,882)
 58,665 

 175,816 
 (117,151)

 58,665 

 20 

   69,809 
 (40,661)
 29,148 

 15,271 

 879 
 (879)
 - 

 (11,063)
 33,356 

 84,201 
 (50,845)
 33,356 

20 

   53,138 
 (32,001)
 21,137 

 -   

 17,393 

 722 
 (721)

 1 

 (9,381)
 29,148 

 69,809 
 (40,661)
 29,148 

 20 

   715,597 
 (608,258)
 107,339 

 12,059 

 46,389 
 (45,739)

 650 

 (54,567)
 64,181 

 681,267 
 (617,086)

 64,181 

 20 

 738,701 
 (576,703)
 161,998 

 -   

 21,680 

 44,784 
 (44,744)

 40 

 (76,299)
 107,339 

 715,597 
 (608,258)
 107,339 

 20 

   590,383 
 (327,086)
 263,297 

 72,153 

 820 
 (816)

 4 

 (46,338)
 289,108 

 661,716 
 (372,608)
 289,108 

10 

  
 538,118 
 (285,252)
 252,866 

 -   

 53,163 

 898 
 (873)

 25 

 (42,707)
 263,297 

 590,383 
 (327,086)
 263,297 

 10 

   5,625,800 
 (2,154,009)
 3,471,791 

 399,894 

 -   
 -   
 -   

 (297,143)
 3,574,542 

 6,025,694 
 (2,451,152)

 3,574,542 

5 

  5,262,327 
 (1,882,376)
 3,379,951 

 -   

 363,473 

 -   
 -   
 -   

 (271,633)
 3,471,791 

 5,625,800 
 (2,154,009)
 3,471,791 

 5 

   568,266 
 (90,062)
 478,204 

 92,262 

 -   
 -   
 -   

 (32,717)
 537,749 

 660,528 
 (122,779)
 537,749 

5 

  
 488,560 
 (63,543)
 425,017 

 -   

 79,706 

 -   
 -   
 -   

 (26,519)
 478,204 

 568,266 
 (90,062)

 478,204 

 5 

 2,954,125 
 -   

 2,954,125 

 20,263 

 -   
 -   
 -   

 -   
 2,974,388 

 2,974,388 
 -   

 2,974,388 

-   

 
 2,935,094 

 -   
 2,935,094 

 114,374 

 17,457 

 112,800 
 -   

 112,800 

 -   
 2,954,125 

 2,954,125 
 -   

 2,954,125 

 -   

 2,946,240 
 -   

 2,946,240 

 131 

 -   
 -   
 -   

 -   
 2,946,371 

 2,946,371 
 -   

 2,946,371 

-   

 2,963,468 
 -   

 2,963,468 

 8,151 

 521 

 25,900 
 -   

 25,900 

 -   
 2,946,240 

 2,946,240 
 -   

 2,946,240 

 -   

TotalFurniture
and

fittings

Vehicles Electrical 
equipment

Office and
other

equipment
leasehold

land
freehold

land
leasehold freehold

Land Building on

(Rupees in '000)

2020

TotalFurniture
and

fittings

Vehicles Electrical 
equipment

Office and
other

equipment
leasehold

land
freehold

land
leasehold freehold

Land Building on

(Rupees in '000)

2019
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4.1.1  Land includes school lands acquired by the Foundation as well as received as donations.

4.1.2 As of 30 June 2020, the documentation and transfer proceedings of 144 donated / contributed lands by various donors in 
favour of Foundation was not fully completed for which transfer proceeding are in process as at the reporting date.

4.1.3 The book value of building on leasehold land includes:

4.3 Depreciation has been allocated as follows:
 
 Education programme
 Programme administration

4.3 Depreciation has been allocated as follows:
 
 Education programme
 Programme administration

  440,592 
 22,558 

 463,150 

  416,551 
 28,870 

 445,421 

5.1.1

  

49,482 
 -   

 (6,759)
 42,723 

 
6,759 

 Building on 
 leasehold land 

 (Rupees in '000) 

2020
5 LEASES
 
5.1 Right-of-use assets
 
 
 
 As at July 1, 2019
 Additions
 Depreciation expense
 As at June 30, 2020
 
5.1.1 The depreciation charge on right-of-use assets for the year has been allocated as follows:
 
 Education programme

5 LEASES
 
5.1 Right-of-use assets
 
 
 
 As at July 1, 2019
 Additions
 Depreciation expense
 As at June 30, 2020
 
5.1.1 The depreciation charge on right-of-use assets for the year has been allocated as follows:
 
 Education programme

4.2.1 This represents civil works and related cost for the construction of schools and head office building.

 School buildings
 Head Office building 
 
 

4.2 Capital work in progress
 
 Balance as at 01 July 
 Additions during the year
 
 Transferred during the year to:
 School buildings
 Office building 
 Balance as at 30 June

 School buildings
 Head Office building 
 
 

4.2 Capital work in progress
 
 Balance as at 01 July 
 Additions during the year
 
 Transferred during the year to:
 School buildings
 Office building 
 Balance as at 30 June

   454,457 
 83,292 

 537,749   

  293,814 
 434,380 
 728,194 

 (482,238)
 (9,918)

 236,038 

    398,550 
 79,654 

 478,204 

 
  279,890 
 457,103 
 736,993 

 (431,599)
 (11,580)

 293,814 

(Rupees in '000)
2020 2019

4.2.1

Note
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5.2 Lease liabilities       
        
 Rental contracts are made for a fixed period subject to renewal upon mutual consent of Foundation and lessor. Wherever 

practicable the Foundation seeks to include extension option to provide operational flexibility. Lease terms are negotiated 
on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. Management exercises significant 
judgement in determining whether these extension and termination options are reasonably certain to be exercised. The 
future lease payments have been discounted using weighted average incremental borrowing rate as at 01 July 2019.

 Set out below the carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements during the year:

5.3 The expenses relating to short term lease amount to Rs. 3.24 million and has been classified under supervision and 
monitoring expenses as these leases pertains to Area and Regional offices.

 48,366 
 - 

 4,462 
 (5,276)
 47,552 

 2,691 
 44,861 
 47,552 

 

2,691 
 16,686 
 28,175 
 47,552 

 

4,547 
 14,460 
 6,109 

 25,116 

 
 7,238 

 31,146 
 34,284 
 72,668 

(Rupees in '000) 

Present value 
of minimum 

lease payments

Finance
cost

Minimum 
lease

payments

2020 
 
    
 As at July 01, 2019
 Additions
 Interest expense
 Payments
 As at June 30, 2020
 
 Current
 Non - current
 
 Lease liabilities are payable as follows:
 
 

 

 Not later than one year
 Later than one year but not later than 5 years
 Later than five years

 
 
    
 As at July 01, 2019
 Additions
 Interest expense
 Payments
 As at June 30, 2020
 
 Current
 Non - current
 
 Lease liabilities are payable as follows:
 
 

 

 Not later than one year
 Later than one year but not later than 5 years
 Later than five years

6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
 
 Software programmes
 Advance against purchase of software programmes
  
6.1 Software programmes
 
 Net carrying value basis
 Opening net book value (NBV)
 Additions (at cost)
 Amortisation charge
 Closing net book value
 
 Gross carrying value
 Cost
 Additions (at cost)
 Accumulated amortisation
 Net book value
 
 Amortisation rate ( % per annum)

6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
 
 Software programmes
 Advance against purchase of software programmes
  
6.1 Software programmes
 
 Net carrying value basis
 Opening net book value (NBV)
 Additions (at cost)
 Amortisation charge
 Closing net book value
 
 Gross carrying value
 Cost
 Additions (at cost)
 Accumulated amortisation
 Net book value
 
 Amortisation rate ( % per annum)

6.1  7,353 
 -   

 7,353 

 5,856 
 3,929 

 (2,432)
 7,353 

 17,143 
 3,929 

 (13,719)
 7,353 

 20 

   5,856 
 987 

 6,843 

 4,878 
 2,571 
 (1,593)
 5,856 

 14,572 
 2,571 

 (11,287)
 5,856 

 20 

(Rupees in '000) 

(Rupees in '000)
2020 2019Note
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7. LONG TERM INVESTMENTS7. LONG TERM INVESTMENTS

 Financial asset at amortised cost 
 Term deposit receipts 
  Bank Al Habib Limited
  
 Government securities 
  Pakistan Investment Bonds
  
 Financial asset at FVTPL 
 Certificates of closed end funds 
  HBL Growth Fund 
  HBL Investment Fund 

 Financial asset at amortised cost 
 Term deposit receipts 
  Bank Al Habib Limited
  
 Government securities 
  Pakistan Investment Bonds
  
 Financial asset at FVTPL 
 Certificates of closed end funds 
  HBL Growth Fund 
  HBL Investment Fund 

 500,000 

 2,783,438 

 104,189 
 8,457 

 112,646 

 3,396,084 

 -   

 826,897 

 143,503 
 12,781 

 156,284 

 983,181 

(Rupees in '000)
2020 2019

8. ADVANCES AND PREPAYMENTS
 
 Advances to staff for expenses - considered good
 Advances to suppliers - considered good
 Prepayments 

8. ADVANCES AND PREPAYMENTS
 
 Advances to staff for expenses - considered good
 Advances to suppliers - considered good
 Prepayments 

  80,662 
 14,392 
 19,554 

 114,608 

 
  76,133 

 1,793 
 30,922 

 108,848 

9. ACCRUED INCOME AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
 
 Accrued income on:
  - Pakistan Investment Bonds
  - Treasury Bills
  - Term Deposit Receipts
  - Dividend
 
 Tax deducted at source
 Receivable against Sindh Basic Education Programme (SBEP)
 Other receivables

9. ACCRUED INCOME AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
 
 Accrued income on:
  - Pakistan Investment Bonds
  - Treasury Bills
  - Term Deposit Receipts
  - Dividend
 
 Tax deducted at source
 Receivable against Sindh Basic Education Programme (SBEP)
 Other receivables

    100,166 
 42,879 
 25,363 

 71 
 168,479 
 38,488 
 49,073 
 35,326 

 291,366 

 

   35,133 
 695 

 17,969 
 -   

 53,797 
 40,583 

 -   
 16,582 

 110,962 

8.1 This represents the advance given to various suppliers and vendors in respect of purchase of stationery, uniforms and 
other study material. 

7.1 This represents investment in local currency term deposits maturing on 19 September 2024 and carrying profit rate of 
12.5% per annum.

7.2 These represents investments in Pakistan Investment Bonds (PIBs) having maturities between 12 July 2021 and 19 Sept 
2029 (2019: Maturities between 12 July 2021 and 12 July 2028) and carrying yield between 9.11% and 14.02% per 
annum (2019: between 13.61% and 13.76% per annum). The PIBs have market value of Rs. 3,154.74 million (2019: Rs. 
827.3 million) as at 30 June 2020 determined using PKRV sheet available from Financial Markets Association (Reuters).

9.1 The Foundation has entered into an agreement with School Education and Literacy Department, Government of Sindh for 
implementation of SBEP which is an integrated programme towards improvement of education in Sindh. The Foundation 
has been awarded management of schools located in the districts of Qamber Shahdad Kot and Dadu. As per the terms of 
the contract the Foundation has incurred expenses for operation of schools which are reimburseable. The Foundation is 
also entilied to management fee for operation of these schools. This includes unbilled receivable amounting to Rs. 40.71 
million (2019: Rs. Nil).

9.1 The Foundation has entered into an agreement with School Education and Literacy Department, Government of Sindh for 
implementation of SBEP which is an integrated programme towards improvement of education in Sindh. The Foundation 
has been awarded management of schools located in the districts of Qamber Shahdad Kot and Dadu. As per the terms of 
the contract the Foundation has incurred expenses for operation of schools which are reimburseable. The Foundation is 
also entilied to management fee for operation of these schools. This includes unbilled receivable amounting to Rs. 40.71 
million (2019: Rs. Nil).

8.1

7.1

7.2

9.1
9.2 & 9.3

Note

(Rupees in '000)
2020 2019Note

(Rupees in '000)
2020 2019Note
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9.2 This includes return on security deposit amounting to Rs. 12.06 million (2019: 6.96 million). The security deposits are 
obtained mainly from teachers in order to discourage them from leaving the Foundation without notice and is refunded to 
them at the time of cessation of employment from Foundation. The security deposits are kept in a separate bank account 
as per the requirement of the Companies Act, 2017 and are not available for utilization for the Foundation's operations. 
The fund available in separate bank account amounting of Rs. 106 million has been invested in term deposits (refer note 
10.3) (2019: Rs. 89.81 million).

9.3 This also includes Rs. Nil (2019: Rs. 5.7 million) receivable from a related party in respect of funded school project.

9.2 This includes return on security deposit amounting to Rs. 12.06 million (2019: 6.96 million). The security deposits are 
obtained mainly from teachers in order to discourage them from leaving the Foundation without notice and is refunded to 
them at the time of cessation of employment from Foundation. The security deposits are kept in a separate bank account 
as per the requirement of the Companies Act, 2017 and are not available for utilization for the Foundation's operations. 
The fund available in separate bank account amounting of Rs. 106 million has been invested in term deposits (refer note 
10.3) (2019: Rs. 89.81 million).

9.3 This also includes Rs. Nil (2019: Rs. 5.7 million) receivable from a related party in respect of funded school project.

10. SHORT TERM INVESTMENTS
 
 Financial asset at amortised cost
 Term deposit receipts
 
 Local currency
 Al Baraka Bank (Pakistan) Limited
 Dubai Islamic Bank Pakistan Limited
 Askari Bank Limited
 BankIslami (Pakistan) Limited
 MCB Bank Limited
 Faysal Bank Limited
 
 Foreign currency
 Habib Bank AG Zurich
 Bank Alfalah Limited
 Al Baraka Bank (Pakistan) Limited
 Dubai Islamic Bank Pakistan Limited
 MCB Bank Limited (formerly NIB bank Limited)
 
 Government securities
 Treasury Bills
 
 Financial asset at FVTPL
 Units of open end mutual funds   
 ABL Stock Fund
 HBL Growth Fund
 HBL Investment Fund
 Meezan Balanced Fund
 ABL Islamic Financial Planning Fund
 ABL Financial Planning Fund
 Alfalah GHP Stock Fund
 AKD Opportunity Fund
 Meezan Islamic Fund
 Atlas Stock Market Fund
 Alfalah GHP Value Fund
 First Habib Income Fund
 Atlas Islamic Stock Fund
 HBL Equity Fund
 UBL Stock Advantage Fund

10. SHORT TERM INVESTMENTS
 
 Financial asset at amortised cost
 Term deposit receipts
 
 Local currency
 Al Baraka Bank (Pakistan) Limited
 Dubai Islamic Bank Pakistan Limited
 Askari Bank Limited
 BankIslami (Pakistan) Limited
 MCB Bank Limited
 Faysal Bank Limited
 
 Foreign currency
 Habib Bank AG Zurich
 Bank Alfalah Limited
 Al Baraka Bank (Pakistan) Limited
 Dubai Islamic Bank Pakistan Limited
 MCB Bank Limited (formerly NIB bank Limited)
 
 Government securities
 Treasury Bills
 
 Financial asset at FVTPL
 Units of open end mutual funds   
 ABL Stock Fund
 HBL Growth Fund
 HBL Investment Fund
 Meezan Balanced Fund
 ABL Islamic Financial Planning Fund
 ABL Financial Planning Fund
 Alfalah GHP Stock Fund
 AKD Opportunity Fund
 Meezan Islamic Fund
 Atlas Stock Market Fund
 Alfalah GHP Value Fund
 First Habib Income Fund
 Atlas Islamic Stock Fund
 HBL Equity Fund
 UBL Stock Advantage Fund

 

300,000 
 150,000 
 106,000 
 100,000 
 11,000 

 -   
 667,000 

 641,060 
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 641,060 

 958,111 

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 46,071 
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 47,707 
 46,895 

 140,673 

 2,406,844 

 -   
 175,000 
 106,000 

 -   
 131,000 
 480,000 
 892,000 

 -   
 351,560 
 479,400 
 882,847 
 878,900 

 2,592,707 

 199,162 

 32,046 
 223,507 

 26,533 
 10,954 

 1,118 
 23,687 
 33,759 

 9,096 
 11,992 
 28,020 

 8,394 
 3,329 

 16,069 
 16,900 
 16,473 

 461,877 

 4,145,746 

10.1
10.2

10.3 & 9.2
10.4
10.5

10.6

10.7

(Rupees in '000)
2020 2019Note
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10.1 This represents investment in a shariah compliant local currency term deposit receipt maturing on 30 October 2020 and 
carrying profit rate of 7.95% per annum respectively.

10.2 This represents investment in a shariah compliant local currency term deposit receipt maturing on 23 September 2020 
(2019: maturing on 28 July 2019) and carries expected profit rate of 13.25% per annum respectively (2019: 13.00% per 
annum).

10.3 This represents investment in one local currency term deposit maturing on 30 September 2020 (2019: maturing on 30 
September 2019) and carrying profit rate of 6% per annum (2019: 11% per annum).

10.4 This represents investment in a shariah compliant term deposit receipt maturing on 31 January 2021 and carrying profit of 
13% per annum.

10.5 This represents investment in a local currency term deposit receipt maturing on 12 March 2021 (2019: maturing on 28 
July 2019, 28 December 2019 and 22 February 2020) and carrying profit rate of 11.90% per annum (2019: between 
10.20% and 12% per annum). This Term deposit receipt is pledged against performance guarantees issued to School 
Education and Literacy Department, Government of Sindh.

10.6 This represents investment in a term deposit receipt amounting to AED 14 million maturing on 30 September 2020 and 
carry profit of 0.10% per annum.

10.7 This represents Treasury Bills having maturities between 10 September 2020 and 11 March 2021 (2019: maturity on 12 
September 2019) and carrying profit between 7.48% and 13.83% per annum (2019: 12.74% per annum). The Treasury 
bills have market value of Rs. 1,009.96 million (2019: Rs. 199.83 million) as at 30 June 2020 determined using PKRV sheet 
available from Financial Markets Association (Reuters).

11.1 Profit rate on deposit accounts ranges from 0.10% to 0.30% (2019: 0.10% to 0.30%) per annum for foreign currency 
deposit accounts and 3.50% to 6.00% (2019: 4.00% to 11.00%) per annum for local currency deposit accounts.

11.1 Profit rate on deposit accounts ranges from 0.10% to 0.30% (2019: 0.10% to 0.30%) per annum for foreign currency 
deposit accounts and 3.50% to 6.00% (2019: 4.00% to 11.00%) per annum for local currency deposit accounts.

11. CASH AND BANK BALANCES11. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

 Cash in hand - local currency  
                      - foreign currency  
   
 Cash at bank:  
 - in current accounts - local currency  
   - foreign currency  
 - in deposit accounts - local currency  
   - foreign currency  

 Cash in hand - local currency  
                      - foreign currency  
   
 Cash at bank:  
 - in current accounts - local currency  
   - foreign currency  
 - in deposit accounts - local currency  
   - foreign currency  

 100 
 481 
 581 

 66,699 
 33,987 

 148,426 
 95 

 249,207 

 249,788 

 100 
 439 
 539 

 8,838 
 351,825 
 183,752 

 17,108 
 561,523 

 562,062 

(Rupees in '000)
2020 2019

11.1

Note
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12. DEFERRED INCOME RELATING TO OPERATING FIXED ASSETS
 
 Opening balance
 Donations received during the year
 Amortisation for the year
 Closing balance

 
13. DEFERRED INCOME RELATING TO SCHOOL SUPPORT, GRANTS AND CHILDREN EDUCATION
 
 This includes Grants, Sustainability fund, Community Development Programmes and Zakat Fund. The movement 

of these balances is as follows:

12. DEFERRED INCOME RELATING TO OPERATING FIXED ASSETS
 
 Opening balance
 Donations received during the year
 Amortisation for the year
 Closing balance

 
13. DEFERRED INCOME RELATING TO SCHOOL SUPPORT, GRANTS AND CHILDREN EDUCATION
 
 This includes Grants, Sustainability fund, Community Development Programmes and Zakat Fund. The movement 

of these balances is as follows:

   5,004,154 
 491,076 

 (342,225)
 5,153,005  

    4,687,134 
 656,441 
 (339,421)

 5,004,154  

(Rupees in '000)
2020 2019

13.1 Details of grant received during the year is as follows:

 Description of Grantors
 
 
 DFID
 YourCause LLC
 Western Union Foundation
 Target Foundation
 Merck Family Foundation 
 Jochnick Foundation
 UBS Optimus Foundation
 TCF - UK (Sir Ernest Cassel Educational Trust)
 Citi Foundation
 Australian High Commission

 Description of Grantors
 
 
 DFID
 YourCause LLC
 Western Union Foundation
 Target Foundation
 Merck Family Foundation 
 Jochnick Foundation
 UBS Optimus Foundation
 TCF - UK (Sir Ernest Cassel Educational Trust)
 Citi Foundation
 Australian High Commission

 335 
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 7,942 
 17,695 

 -   
 5,170 
 3,600 

 34,742 

 215,815 
 59 

 1,155 
 1,548 

 17,784 
 15,885 
 22,460 
 28,700 
 20,650 
 2,400 

 326,456 

 211,796 
 59 

 -   
 1,548 

 -   
 -   

 40,155 
 28,700 
 25,820 
 6,000 

 314,078 

 4,354 
 -   

 1,155 
 -   

 17,784 
 23,827 

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 47,120 

(Rupees in '000)

Grants as at
30 June

2020

Amortisation 
for the year

2020

Grants 
Received 

during the year

Grants as at 
01 July
2019

 Opening balance
 Donations received during the year
 Amortisation for the year
 Reclassification to endowment fund
 Reclassification to deferred income 
    relating to operating fixed assets
 
 Less: Current portion of deferred
  income relating to school support,
  grants and children education
 
 Closing balance

 Opening balance
 Donations received during the year
 Amortisation for the year
 Reclassification to endowment fund
 Reclassification to deferred income 
    relating to operating fixed assets
 
 Less: Current portion of deferred
  income relating to school support,
  grants and children education
 
 Closing balance

 1,036,925 
 1,128,700 

 (734,289)
 (12,559)

 (2,883)
 1,415,894 

 (402,714)

 1,013,180 

 1,029,502 
 836,462 
 (481,748)
 (12,559)

 (2,883)
 1,368,774 

 (361,550)

 1,007,224 

 7,423 
 292,238 
 (252,541)

 -   

 -   
 47,120 

 (41,164)

 5,956 

 1,415,894 
 1,286,490 

 (979,290)
 (178,968)

 (12,500)
 1,531,626 

 (436,750)

 1,094,876 

 1,368,774 
 972,412 

 (652,834)
 (178,968)

 (12,500)
 1,496,884 

 (404,559)

 1,092,325 

 47,120 
 314,078 

 (326,456)
 -   

 -   
 34,742 

 (32,191)

 2,551 

Total

2020 2019

OthersGrants TotalOthersGrants
(Rupees in '000)
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 Description of Grantors
 
 
 
 United States Institute of Peace
 Educate a Child
 New Zealand Embassy
 Citibank Foundation
 DFID
 The Education and Diversity Foundation
 YourCause LLC
 Western Union Foundation
 Target Foundation
 Wal - Mart Global Sourcing Foundation
 Merck Family Foundation 
 The Trafigura Foundation
 Jochnick Foundation

 Description of Grantors
 
 
 
 United States Institute of Peace
 Educate a Child
 New Zealand Embassy
 Citibank Foundation
 DFID
 The Education and Diversity Foundation
 YourCause LLC
 Western Union Foundation
 Target Foundation
 Wal - Mart Global Sourcing Foundation
 Merck Family Foundation 
 The Trafigura Foundation
 Jochnick Foundation

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 4,354 
 -   
 -   

 1,155 
 -   
 -   

 17,784 
 -   

 23,827 
 47,120 

 579 
 191,574 

 1,050 
 1,755 

 15,751 
 5,368 

 518 
 1,617 
 1,385 

 420 
 5,928 
 2,768 

 23,828 
 252,541 

 579 
 191,574 

 750 
 -   

 20,105 
 -   
 518 

 2,772 
 1,385 

 420 
 23,712 
 2,768 

 47,655 
 292,238 

 -   
 -   
 300 

 1,755 
 -   

 5,368 
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 7,423 

(Rupees in '000)

Grants as at
30 June

2019

Amortisation 
for the year

2019

Grants 
Received 

during the year

Grants as at 
01 July
2018

13.2 Sustainability Fund balance is Rs. 622.77 million (2019: Rs. 534.89 million) to meet cash shortfall in the operational 
support of the schools in the future.

13.3 Community Development Programme balance is Rs. 58.64 million (2019: Rs. 31.38 million) representing funds for overall 
community welfare. 

13.4 During the year, the Foundation has embarked on Rs. 500 million COVID-19 Response Appeal Fund to battle the 
devastating impact of Coronavirus crisis. The Fund aims to provide relief to families facing extreme economic hardship, 
ensure continuity of the learning process, support frontline healthcare professionals and volunteers as well as support 
towards faculty staff salaries. The movement of COVID-19 fund is as follows:

 Movement of COVID-19 Fund Movement of COVID-19 Fund

 Opening balance

 Donations received during the year

 Foundation's contribution during the year

 

 Utilized during the year

 Closing balance

 Opening balance

 Donations received during the year

 Foundation's contribution during the year

 

 Utilized during the year

 Closing balance

 -   

 92,148 

 121,077 

 213,225 

 (114,459)

 98,766 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

(Rupees in '000)
2020 2019
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14. ACCRUED AND OTHER LIABILITIES
 
 Accrued liabilities
 Security deposit
 Retention money
 Provision for compensated absences
 Withholding taxes payable
 Other liabilities

 

15. CAPITAL FUND
 
 Opening balance
 Additions during the year
 Closing Balance

14. ACCRUED AND OTHER LIABILITIES
 
 Accrued liabilities
 Security deposit
 Retention money
 Provision for compensated absences
 Withholding taxes payable
 Other liabilities

 

15. CAPITAL FUND
 
 Opening balance
 Additions during the year
 Closing Balance

15.1 This represents contribution by the members when they joined the Foundation in terms of Article "8" of Articles of 
Association of the Foundation. In prior year the Foundation made amendments in clause VII of the Memorandum of 
Association in pursuance to the requirements of the Associations with Charitable and Not for Profit Objects Regulations, 
2018 thereby increasing the liability of each of its members to Rs. 0.1 million. Further, in the prior year seven new 
members joined the Foundation and each member contributed Rs. 0.1 million to the capital fund.

16. GENERAL FUND           
            
 This comprises of contributed lands (refer note 4.1) and amounts mainly invested in capital assets which are internally 

restricted.           
            
17. ENDOWMENT FUND           
            
 This represents contribution received from the donors with the stipulation of principal amount to be kept intact while the 

income earned on related investments could be used for specific or general purpose as per arrangements with the donors.

15.1 This represents contribution by the members when they joined the Foundation in terms of Article "8" of Articles of 
Association of the Foundation. In prior year the Foundation made amendments in clause VII of the Memorandum of 
Association in pursuance to the requirements of the Associations with Charitable and Not for Profit Objects Regulations, 
2018 thereby increasing the liability of each of its members to Rs. 0.1 million. Further, in the prior year seven new 
members joined the Foundation and each member contributed Rs. 0.1 million to the capital fund.

16. GENERAL FUND           
            
 This comprises of contributed lands (refer note 4.1) and amounts mainly invested in capital assets which are internally 

restricted.           
            
17. ENDOWMENT FUND           
            
 This represents contribution received from the donors with the stipulation of principal amount to be kept intact while the 

income earned on related investments could be used for specific or general purpose as per arrangements with the donors.

 342,569
 118,193 
 44,137 
 74,765 
 8,473 

 94,608 
 682,745 

 3,100 
 -   

 3,100 

 263,382 
 96,770 
 32,624 
 54,503 

 2,384 
 1,835 

 451,498 

 2,400 
 700 

 3,100 

 Movement of Zakat Movement of Zakat

 Opening Balance
 Amount received during the year
 
 Amount utilised during the year
 Closing Balance

 Opening Balance
 Amount received during the year
 
 Amount utilised during the year
 Closing Balance

 197,466 
 1,179,749 
 1,377,215 

 (1,194,827)
 182,388 

 231,202 
 994,632 

 1,225,834 
 (1,028,368)

 197,466 

(Rupees in '000)
2020 2019

(Rupees in '000)
2020 2019

13.5 As at 30 June 2020, Zakat Fund balance is Rs. 182.39 million (2019: Rs. 197.47 million). Movement of Zakat Fund is
 as follows:

14.1 This mainly includes an amount of Rs. 88.5 million from Department for International Development (DFID) against school 
construction and rehabilitation in Punjab under Punjab Education Support Programme. The fund is kept in a separate 
bank account. 

14.2 This includes an amount of Rs. 4.91 million as advance from a related party in respect of a funded school project.

Note

10.3 & 9.2

14.1 & 14.2
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17.1 Names of Endowment Donors
 
 
 Adnan Husain Family
 AKU Class of '94 Group
 Ateed Ameed and Naveed Riaz
 Austin Group
 Aziza Noorani
 Chicago Chapter
 Connecticut Group
 Crescent Steel & Allied Products Limited
 CV Booster
 Dallas Fort - Worth Supporters
 Ejaz Shameem
 Eternity
 Friends and Wellwishers of Sultan Mowjee
 Ghulam Fatima School
 HBL Foundation
 Houston Group
 Indus Motor Company Limited
 Interloop Welfare Trust
 Kansas Donors
 Keith Dunleavy
 Los Angeles Group
 M. I. Naseem
 Microsoft Ever Green Campus
 Munib & Kamila Islam     
 Murtaza Hussain
 National Bank of Pakistan Limited
 New Orleans Chapter      
 New York Youngs Professional Chapter
 Noorani Family
 Masood A. Sheikh Qarz-e-Hasna for Higher Education
 Pakistan State Oil Company Limited
 Pennsylvania Chapter
 Radiant Way Endowment Fund
 Rashid & Zarfeshan Sharaf
 Saeeda Mazhar Mahmood
 Safdar Feroze Nana
 Sajid Salman
 Salman Rashid
 San Antonio Supporters
 Seattle Group
 Seeds of Learning
 Shahid Jalal
 Shiraz Rehmani
 TCF USA
 The Shirin Sultan Dossa Foundation
 USA Austin Chapter
 Uzma Arif Scholarship
 Wahid Maskatiya
 Westchester Chapter       
 Zainab Bai, HA Suraiya, Humaira Bai, H Moosa Ch.
 Dr. Asma Saleem
 Others 

17.1 Names of Endowment Donors
 
 
 Adnan Husain Family
 AKU Class of '94 Group
 Ateed Ameed and Naveed Riaz
 Austin Group
 Aziza Noorani
 Chicago Chapter
 Connecticut Group
 Crescent Steel & Allied Products Limited
 CV Booster
 Dallas Fort - Worth Supporters
 Ejaz Shameem
 Eternity
 Friends and Wellwishers of Sultan Mowjee
 Ghulam Fatima School
 HBL Foundation
 Houston Group
 Indus Motor Company Limited
 Interloop Welfare Trust
 Kansas Donors
 Keith Dunleavy
 Los Angeles Group
 M. I. Naseem
 Microsoft Ever Green Campus
 Munib & Kamila Islam     
 Murtaza Hussain
 National Bank of Pakistan Limited
 New Orleans Chapter      
 New York Youngs Professional Chapter
 Noorani Family
 Masood A. Sheikh Qarz-e-Hasna for Higher Education
 Pakistan State Oil Company Limited
 Pennsylvania Chapter
 Radiant Way Endowment Fund
 Rashid & Zarfeshan Sharaf
 Saeeda Mazhar Mahmood
 Safdar Feroze Nana
 Sajid Salman
 Salman Rashid
 San Antonio Supporters
 Seattle Group
 Seeds of Learning
 Shahid Jalal
 Shiraz Rehmani
 TCF USA
 The Shirin Sultan Dossa Foundation
 USA Austin Chapter
 Uzma Arif Scholarship
 Wahid Maskatiya
 Westchester Chapter       
 Zainab Bai, HA Suraiya, Humaira Bai, H Moosa Ch.
 Dr. Asma Saleem
 Others 

 17,214 
 21,023 
 36,028 
 20,676 
 17,754 
 24,003 
 12,007 
 59,994 
 16,913 

 104,058 
 51,514 
 13,205 
 56,233 
 37,528 
 51,586 
 76,587 
 92,000 

 318,000 
 12,280 
 15,951 
 18,556 
 19,500 
 18,374 
 44,040 
 20,860 
 17,800 
 18,748 
 21,918 
 17,093 
 50,000 
 17,500 
 20,863 
 80,943 
 21,903 
 33,100 
 79,595 
 44,314 
 20,000 
 21,924 
 17,935 
 92,284 
 26,287 
 14,220 
 49,050 

 1,053,574 
 20,638 
 14,725 
 10,130 
 22,665 
 11,869 
 24,291 

 234,309
 3,233,562 

  13,583 
 21,023 
 34,850 
 20,000 
 17,754 
 24,003 
 12,007 
 54,625 
 15,923 
 86,684 
 51,514 
 13,094 
 56,233 
 29,985 
 46,969 
 76,587 
 64,000 

 318,000 
 12,280 
 15,951 
 18,556 
 19,500 
 18,374 
 44,040 
 20,860 
 17,500 
 18,748 
 21,918 
 17,093 
 50,000 
 17,500 
 20,863 
 80,943 
 21,903 
 33,100 
 79,595 
 19,222 
 20,000 
 21,924 
 17,935 
 92,284 
 26,287 
 14,220 
 49,050 

 873,450 
 20,638 
 11,605 
 10,130 
 22,665 
 11,869 

 -   
 163,937 

 2,860,774 

(Rupees in '000)
2020 2019

17.2

Note
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17.2 This represents Endowment Fund of donors not exceeding Rs. 10 million and also includes donors who have requested 
for anonymity.

17.3 Movement of Endowment Fund
 
 Opening balance
 Addition during the year
 Balance available for investment           
 Net return used for accumulation of endowment fund
 Closing balance

18. FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION RESERVE
 
 This represents the translation of Dubai branch. The assets and liabilities of Dubai branch are translated into presentation 

currency at the exchange rate prevailing at the reporting date. The donation income and expenses of Dubai operation are 
translated into presentation currency at the exchange rate at the dates of the transaction. Foreign currency differences are 
recognised in other comprehensive income.

19. CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS
 
 Contingent liabilities
       
19.1 The Foundation received a notice in June 2003 from Sindh Employees’ Social Security Institution (SESSI) demanding a payment 

of Rs. 0.48 million as arrears of social security contribution for the year from May 2003 to September 2003 vide Sindh 
Government Gazette Notification No. L-II-5-9/2002 dated 8 February 2003. The Foundation filed a petition with Honourable High 
Court of Sindh challenging SESSI’s application of Social Security Scheme on Educational Units. The High Court of Sindh on 25 
April 2008 adjudicated the case against the Foundation on the ground that the services of the employees should be secured in 
case of sickness, maternity, employment injury or death and for matters ancillary thereto. The Foundation filed an appeal with the 
Honourable Supreme Court of Pakistan against High Court of Sindh's dismissal of the petition which was admitted by the 
Supreme Court on 26 September 2008. On 16 June 2010, the Supreme Court of Pakistan up-held the decision of the High Court 
of Sindh and dismissed the petition. The Foundation filed a review petition on 04 November 2010 with the Supreme Court of 
Pakistan against its Judgement and has booked the provision there against.

 Further, the SESSI demanded a payment of Rs. 35.47 million on 2 February 2011 including an increase amounting to
 Rs. 11.82 million. The Foundation has filed an appeal on 16 April 2011 against the said increase with the Commissioner of SESSI. 

However, on prudent basis, Foundation has maintained a provision in the financial statements against the alleged demand. 
Similarly, the Foundation has also made a provision of Rs. 35.97 million in the financial statements against PESSI contribution on 
the basis of SESSI's demand as the number of employees eligible for PESSI contribution were approximately the same as in the 
case of SESSI.

19.2 On 15 March 2013 the Foundation received a notice from Inland Revenue Officer of Federal Board of Revenue (FBR) reference 
no. Unit-06/WHT/RTO-II/Khi/2012- 2013/438 under section 161(1A) of the Income Tax Ordinance , 2001 on account of non / 
short deduction of Withholding Tax relating to Tax Year 2012 amounting to Rs. 64.19 million. The Foundation through its tax 
advisor submitted detailed explanations, paid challans and various communications to FBR from time to time. Resultantly, 
Officer Inland Revenue (OIR) through its letter reference Unit -06/WHT/RTO-II/ 'Khi/2012-2013/140 dated 10 October 2013 and 
letter reference Unit -06/WHT/RTO-II/Khi/2012-2013/241 dated 12 November 2013 accepted the Foundation's justifications for 
all the line items of non / short deduction of withholding tax mentioned in previous notice except for the withholding tax on 
construction work on Head Office Building of Rs. 77.55 million with the corresponding withholding tax amount of Rs. 4.65 million 
and construction work on other buildings of Rs. 359.65 million with the corresponding withholding tax amount of Rs. 21.58 
million, aggregating the total short fall of withholding tax to Rs. 19.71 million (net of withholding tax deducted on the above 
construction work amounting to Rs. 6.52 million). Further default surcharge, under section 205 of Income Tax Ordinance 2001, 
amounting to Rs. 3.55 million was also levied by OIR making a total demand of Rs. 23.26 million. The Foundation through its tax 
advisor filed an appeal to Commissioner Inland Revenue against the demand and submitted all the relevant supports and 
evidences. The Commissioner in his order reference no. 34 dated 27 February 2015 disposed off the appeal and remanded back 
the recovery order under section 129 of Income Tax Ordinance 2001 to the concerned department for re-assessment of the 
same taking into account the supports provided by the Foundation. The Foundation is confident of favorable outcome and hence 
no provision has been made in these financial statements.

 2,860,774 
 355,292 

 3,216,066 
 17,496 

 3,233,562 

 2,602,792 
 181,810 

 2,784,602 
 76,172 

 2,860,774 

(Rupees in '000)
2020 2019

21

Note

102  |  Keeping dreams alive  



 Furthermore on 29 May 2017, the Foundation also received a notice for tax year 2016 from Deputy Commissioner Inland 
Revenue (DCIR) Federal Board of Revenue (FBR) reference no. OIR/E&C-Unit-04 / Zone-1/  CRTO/KHI/2017/811 under 
section 161(A) of the Income Tax Ordinance 2001. The notice sets out a show cause on short deduction of withholding tax 
of Rs. 356 million. The Foundation through its tax advisor submitted detailed explanations and reconciliations to FBR. 
During the year, DCIR vide order dated 7 September 2017 raised demand amounting to Rs. 7.32 million. The Foundation 
through its tax advisor has filed an appeal against the order of Rs. 7.32 million with Commissioner Inland Revenue 
Appeals - CIR (A). The CIR (A) has remanded back the order passed by the DCIR. The Foundation through its tax advisor 
have submitted all information requested under remand back proceeding, however, no order has been passed by the tax 
authorities. The Foundation is confident of a favourable outcome of the same, therefore, no provision has been recognised 
in this respect.

19.3 The Foundation received a notice from Employees' Old age Benefit Institution (EOBI) dated 21 March 2016 raising an 
additional demand of EOBI contribution amounting to Rs. 30.04 million on the basis of enhancement of Minimum Wages 
by Government of Pakistan through Minimum Wages for Unskilled Workers (Amendment) Act, 2016 at enhanced rates 
with retrospective effect. The Foundation along with Employers' Federation of Pakistan and 101 other Petitioner 
companies filed a constitutional petition bearing number 2085/2016 in the Honorable High Court of Sindh challenging the 
demand. The Learned Division Bench of Honorable High Court of Sindh heard the petition on 14 April 2016 and has 
passed an injunctive order whereby EOBI has been restrained from resorting to coercive measures. From 1 July 2015, the 
Foundation is paying the contribution as per the latest minimum wages. The Foundation is confident of a favourable 
outcome of the same based on legal opinion, therefore, no provision has been made in this regard.

 Commitments
         
19.4 Commitment in respect of capital expenditure amounts to Rs. 113.92 million (2019: Rs. 170.13 million).
 
19.5 Guarantees by bank on behalf of the Foundation, amounting to Rs. 11 million (2019: Rs. 11 million) were issued in favor of 

School Education and Literacy Department of Government of Sindh.

 Furthermore on 29 May 2017, the Foundation also received a notice for tax year 2016 from Deputy Commissioner Inland 
Revenue (DCIR) Federal Board of Revenue (FBR) reference no. OIR/E&C-Unit-04 / Zone-1/  CRTO/KHI/2017/811 under 
section 161(A) of the Income Tax Ordinance 2001. The notice sets out a show cause on short deduction of withholding tax 
of Rs. 356 million. The Foundation through its tax advisor submitted detailed explanations and reconciliations to FBR. 
During the year, DCIR vide order dated 7 September 2017 raised demand amounting to Rs. 7.32 million. The Foundation 
through its tax advisor has filed an appeal against the order of Rs. 7.32 million with Commissioner Inland Revenue 
Appeals - CIR (A). The CIR (A) has remanded back the order passed by the DCIR. The Foundation through its tax advisor 
have submitted all information requested under remand back proceeding, however, no order has been passed by the tax 
authorities. The Foundation is confident of a favourable outcome of the same, therefore, no provision has been recognised 
in this respect.

19.3 The Foundation received a notice from Employees' Old age Benefit Institution (EOBI) dated 21 March 2016 raising an 
additional demand of EOBI contribution amounting to Rs. 30.04 million on the basis of enhancement of Minimum Wages 
by Government of Pakistan through Minimum Wages for Unskilled Workers (Amendment) Act, 2016 at enhanced rates 
with retrospective effect. The Foundation along with Employers' Federation of Pakistan and 101 other Petitioner 
companies filed a constitutional petition bearing number 2085/2016 in the Honorable High Court of Sindh challenging the 
demand. The Learned Division Bench of Honorable High Court of Sindh heard the petition on 14 April 2016 and has 
passed an injunctive order whereby EOBI has been restrained from resorting to coercive measures. From 1 July 2015, the 
Foundation is paying the contribution as per the latest minimum wages. The Foundation is confident of a favourable 
outcome of the same based on legal opinion, therefore, no provision has been made in this regard.

 Commitments
         
19.4 Commitment in respect of capital expenditure amounts to Rs. 113.92 million (2019: Rs. 170.13 million).
 
19.5 Guarantees by bank on behalf of the Foundation, amounting to Rs. 11 million (2019: Rs. 11 million) were issued in favor of 

School Education and Literacy Department of Government of Sindh.

20. DONATIONS AND FEES
 
 Donations
 Donations received during the year
 Income on endowment fund utilized for support operations
 Contribution from Government
 Amortised - donations related to assets
 Amortised - donations related to school support, 
   grants and children education
 
 Fees
 Parental contribution
 Management fee - SBEP - net of Sindh sales tax
 

 
20.1 This includes Zakat amounting to Rs. 1,179.75 million (2019: Rs. 994.63 million). 
 
20.2 Major sources of donations
 
 -  By sector
  Donations from corporate sector
  Donations from other Not-for-Profit organisations
  Donations from individuals
 
 
 -  By origin
  Local
  Foreign
 

20.3 This represents income on investments from endowment fund utilized for support operations at the discretion of donor. 

20. DONATIONS AND FEES
 
 Donations
 Donations received during the year
 Income on endowment fund utilized for support operations
 Contribution from Government
 Amortised - donations related to assets
 Amortised - donations related to school support, 
   grants and children education
 
 Fees
 Parental contribution
 Management fee - SBEP - net of Sindh sales tax
 

 
20.1 This includes Zakat amounting to Rs. 1,179.75 million (2019: Rs. 994.63 million). 
 
20.2 Major sources of donations
 
 -  By sector
  Donations from corporate sector
  Donations from other Not-for-Profit organisations
  Donations from individuals
 
 
 -  By origin
  Local
  Foreign
 

20.3 This represents income on investments from endowment fund utilized for support operations at the discretion of donor. 

 
 2,157,632 

 261,820 
 249,417 
 342,225 

 979,290 
 3,990,384 

 403,572 
 10,833 

 4,404,789 

 
  2,282,593 

 352,678 
 226,300 
 339,421 

 734,289 
 3,935,281 

 439,309 
 -   

 4,374,590 

20.1 & 20.2
20.3
20.4
12

13

20.5
9.1

(Rupees in '000)
2020 2019

 566,102 
 638,071 
 953,459 

 2,157,632 

 1,183,877 
 973,755 

 2,157,632 

 521,772 
 1,059,461 

 701,360 
 2,282,593 

 1,077,195 
 1,205,398 
 2,282,593 

Note
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21.1 This represents income on investments from endowment fund utilized for supporting operations at the discretion of 
donor. The amount is transferred to donation as referred in note 20.3 to these financial statements.

21.2 This represents income on investments from endowment fund accumulated in endowment at the discretion of donor. The 
amount is transferred to endowment as referred in note 17 to these financial statements.

 
21.3 This represents income on investments from Endowment fund allocated to scholarship at the discretion of donor.

21.4 This represents income on investments from donor specific fund accumulated in donor specific fund at the discretion of  
donor.

21.5 This represents income on investments from sustainability fund accumulated in sustainability at the discretion of 
management. The amount is transferred to sustainability fund as referred in note 13.2 to these financial statements.

  123,292 
 112,539 
 294,826 
 29,300 

 2,413 
 (39,946)
 (41,825)
 (42,415)
 438,184 

 (261,820)
 (17,496)
 (4,739)

 -   
 (54,537)

 (338,592)

 99,592

  93,615 
 22,567 

 6,793 
 18,061 

 7,962 
 676,183 
 (104,670)

 (2,887)
 717,624 

 (352,678)
 (76,172)
 (15,898)
 (13,487)
 (74,736)

 (532,970)

 184,654 

21. INCOME ON INVESTMENTS - NET
 
 Income from: 
   - Term Deposit Receipts
   - Treasury Bills
   - Pakistan Investment Bonds
 Profit on bank accounts
 
 Dividend income
 Exchange (loss) / gain - net
 Unrealized loss on re-measurement of financial asset at FVTPL
 Net loss on disposal of investments
 Income on investments 
 
 Transferred during the year to:
 Support Donation
 Endowment Fund
 Scholarship Fund
 Current Account
 Sustainability Fund

 
 Income on investments - net

21. INCOME ON INVESTMENTS - NET
 
 Income from: 
   - Term Deposit Receipts
   - Treasury Bills
   - Pakistan Investment Bonds
 Profit on bank accounts
 
 Dividend income
 Exchange (loss) / gain - net
 Unrealized loss on re-measurement of financial asset at FVTPL
 Net loss on disposal of investments
 Income on investments 
 
 Transferred during the year to:
 Support Donation
 Endowment Fund
 Scholarship Fund
 Current Account
 Sustainability Fund

 
 Income on investments - net

21.1
21.2
21.3
21.4
21.5

20.4 Details of contribution from Government
 
 
 Punjab Education Foundation
 Sindh Education Foundation

20.4 Details of contribution from Government
 
 
 Punjab Education Foundation
 Sindh Education Foundation

   217,554 
 31,863 

 249,417 

      208,161 
 18,139 

 226,300 

(Rupees in '000)
2020 2019

(Rupees in '000)
2020 2019

 The above represent reimbursement received by the Foundation from the Provincial Governments or other Government 
Authorities for incurring expenses in running operational management of Government Schools. 

 
20.5 This represents concessional tuition fees received from parents of students enrolled in the schools managed by the 

Foundation as per agreed slabs keeping in view the affordability of the students.   

Note
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22. OTHER INCOME / (LOSS)
 
 Gain on disposal of operating fixed assets 
 Other income
 Value of lands returned to donors as not feasible to 
  build new schools at respective locations

23. SCHOOL EXPENDITURES
 
 Flagship Schools
 TCF College
 Partnership Schools
 Sindh Basic Education Programme (SBEP)

22. OTHER INCOME / (LOSS)
 
 Gain on disposal of operating fixed assets 
 Other income
 Value of lands returned to donors as not feasible to 
  build new schools at respective locations

23. SCHOOL EXPENDITURES
 
 Flagship Schools
 TCF College
 Partnership Schools
 Sindh Basic Education Programme (SBEP)

 30,514 
 3,739 

 -   
 34,253 

  2,259,477 
 36,670 

 358,268 
 1,119 

 2,655,534 

 
 26,748 

 2,516 

 (138,700)
 (109,436)

 2,073,594 
 42,471 

 341,599 
 4,621 

 2,462,285 

(Rupees in '000)
2020 2019

23.1

23.2

23.1 This represents expenses incurred by the Foundation for the Government Schools whose operational management has 
been taken over by the Foundation. The net deficit incurred by the Foundation on Partnership Schools is as follows:

23.2 This includes salaries and other benefits amounting to Rs. 2,541.45 million (2019: Rs. 2,284.83 million).

 School expenses
 Books, copies, uniforms and other school supplies
 School vehicle running and maintenance
 Repair and maintenance charges
 Teachers' training
 Depreciation on school assets
 Contribution received

 School expenses
 Books, copies, uniforms and other school supplies
 School vehicle running and maintenance
 Repair and maintenance charges
 Teachers' training
 Depreciation on school assets
 Contribution received

 358,268 
 7,800 

 11,594 
 2,681 
 2,263 

 15,266 
 (249,417)
 148,455  

 341,599 
 9,677 

 13,885 
 9,110 
 3,097 

 18,624 
 (226,300)
 169,692 

24. OTHER EXPENSES
 
 Schools - general insurance
 Ceremony functions and awards
 Freight charges - furniture and equipment
 Consultancy expenses
 Student activities
 Finance cost
 Other school expenses

24. OTHER EXPENSES
 
 Schools - general insurance
 Ceremony functions and awards
 Freight charges - furniture and equipment
 Consultancy expenses
 Student activities
 Finance cost
 Other school expenses

 3,155 
 21,161 

 88 
 1,320 
 7,763 
 4,462 
 4,501 

 42,450 

  3,569 
 14,560 

 113 
 1,719 

 11,328 
 -   

 12,196 
 43,485 

25. POST MATRIC SCHOLARSHIP
 
 Post matric scholarship - self funded
 Post matric scholarship - donor funded

25. POST MATRIC SCHOLARSHIP
 
 Post matric scholarship - self funded
 Post matric scholarship - donor funded

  61,781 
 50,479 

 112,260 

   57,978 
 24,107 
 82,085 

Note
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26.4 Staff Summary

 Management and Faculty staff as on 30 June

 Management and Faculty staff - average for the year

 Management and Faculty staff as on 30 June

 Management and Faculty staff - average for the year

  16,999

 17,095 
  16,516

 16,555 

2020 2019
(Number)

26.2 The Chief Executive Officer, Executive Vice Presidents, Vice Presidents, General Managers and Head of departments are 
provided with free use of Foundation's maintained cars in accordance with the prescribed limits.

26.3 The Foundation provide its employees with life insurance and medical insurance coverage in accordance with the 
prescribed limits.  

26. SALARIES AND OTHER BENEFITS

26.1 Remuneration of Chief Executive Officer and Executives 

26. SALARIES AND OTHER BENEFITS

26.1 Remuneration of Chief Executive Officer and Executives 

 Remuneration

 Number of person 

 Remuneration

 Number of person 

  12,619 11,038 180,027 137,169   12,619 11,038 180,027 137,169 

 1 1 53 40 1 1 53 40

(Rupees in '000)
20192020

 ExecutiveChief Executive Officer
2020 2019

27. OTHER EXPENSES27. OTHER EXPENSES

 Advertisement
 Amortisation of intangible assets
 Auditor's remuneration
 Bank charges
 Fees and subscriptions
 Insurance
 Office expenses
 Legal and professional charges
 Repairs and maintenance  
 
 
27.1 AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION
 
 Audit Services
 Audit fee
 Sindh sales tax
 Out of pocket cost
 
 
 Non Audit Services
 Other certifications

 Advertisement
 Amortisation of intangible assets
 Auditor's remuneration
 Bank charges
 Fees and subscriptions
 Insurance
 Office expenses
 Legal and professional charges
 Repairs and maintenance  
 
 
27.1 AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION
 
 Audit Services
 Audit fee
 Sindh sales tax
 Out of pocket cost
 
 
 Non Audit Services
 Other certifications

  155 
 2,432 

 917 
 6,855 
 8,055 

 225 
 3,872 

 11,413 
 6,135 

 40,059 

  600 
 55 
 84 

 739 

 178 
 917 

  691 
 1,593 

 724 
 4,325 
 1,608 

 219 
 3,103 
 8,332 
 2,603 

 23,198 

  500 
 44 
 72 

 616 

 108 
 724 

(Rupees in '000)
2020 2019

6.1
27.1

Note
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 182,653 

 89,217 
 8,992 

 28,483
 17,010
 3,132 

 

 184,875 

 49,079
 6,718

 28,748
 15,839 

2,868 

28. ALLOCATION OF EXPENSES

 Nature of Expense From To
 Regional office expenses Programme Administration Education programme
 QA, HR Schools, Partnership 
   Schools, CDU & Operations
  department expenses Programme Administration Education programme
 Training department expenses Programme Administration Education programme
 Engineering department expenses Programme Administration Property and equipment 

Key executive remuneration Programme Administration Education programme
 Key executive remuneration Programme Administration Property and equipment 

29.1 Working capital changes
 
 (Increase) / decrease in current assets
 Advances, deposits and prepayments 
 Accrued income and other receivables  
 Books, copies, uniforms and other school supplies  

 Increase in current liabilities 
 Accrued and other liabilities 

29.1 Working capital changes
 
 (Increase) / decrease in current assets
 Advances, deposits and prepayments 
 Accrued income and other receivables  
 Books, copies, uniforms and other school supplies  

 Increase in current liabilities 
 Accrued and other liabilities 

 (7,918)
 (67,816)

 (106,787)
 (182,521)

 231,247 
 48,726 

 (45,313)
 26,528 
 (47,730)
 (66,515)

 17,720 
 (48,795)

4.3
5.1.1
24
21
6.1

12 & 13

22
22

29.1

29. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS29. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

 (Deficit) / Surplus of income over expenditure for the year
 
 Adjustments for:
 Depreciation
 Depreciation on right-of-use assets
 Finance costs
 Net loss on disposal of investments
 Amortisation of intangible assets
 Amortisation of deferred income
 Income on investments
 Loss on value of lands returned to donors as not feasible  

 to build new schools at respective locations
 Gain on sale of fixed assets
 Impact of fair value of contributed / donated lands
 Working capital changes

 (Deficit) / Surplus of income over expenditure for the year
 
 Adjustments for:
 Depreciation
 Depreciation on right-of-use assets
 Finance costs
 Net loss on disposal of investments
 Amortisation of intangible assets
 Amortisation of deferred income
 Income on investments
 Loss on value of lands returned to donors as not feasible  

 to build new schools at respective locations
 Gain on sale of fixed assets
 Impact of fair value of contributed / donated lands
 Working capital changes

 (124,475)

 463,150 
 6,759 
 4,462 

 42,415 
 2,432 

 (1,512,983) 
(520,544)

 -   
 (30,514)

 -   
 48,726 

 (1,620,572)

 289,302 

 445,421 
 -   
 -   

 2,887 
 1,593 

 (1,089,152)
 (44,328)

 138,700 
 (26,748)

 (122,525)
 (48,795)

 (453,645)

29.2 Cash and cash equivalents
 
 Short term investments
 Cash and bank balances

29.2 Cash and cash equivalents
 
 Short term investments
 Cash and bank balances

   747,060 
 249,788 
 996,848 

   3,138,469 
 562,062 

 3,700,531 
11

(Rupees in '000)
2020 2019

(Rupees in '000)
2020 2019Note
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30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
 
 Related parties include associated undertakings having common directors and key management personnel. Details of 

transactions with related parties other than those disclosed else where in the financial statements are as follows:

30.1 Donation received from related parties
 
 The Family members of Mr. Ateed Riaz (Chairman of the Foundation) in concert have donated Rs. 0.03 million (2019: Rs. 

6.80 million) during the year

 First Imrooz Modaraba, in which Mr. Ateed Riaz (Chairman of the Foundation) is also a key management personnel, has 
donated Rs. Nil (2019: Rs. 0.04 million) during the year.

 Vending Machines Company (Private) Limited, in which Mr. Ateed Riaz (Chairman of the Foundation) is also a director, 
has donated Rs. 0.017 million (2019: Rs. 0.003 million) during the year.

 Tarseel (Private) Limited, in which Mr. Ateed Riaz (Chairman of the Foundation) is also a director, has donated Rs. Nil 
(2019: Rs. 3.50 million) during the year.

 The Family members of Mr. Ahsan M. Saleem (Director of the Foundation) in concert have donated Rs. 1.70 million (2019: 
Rs. 2.13 million) during the year.

 Crescent Steel and Allied Products Limited, in which Mr. Ahsan M Saleem (Director of the Foundation) is also a key 
management personnel, has donated Rs. 0.27 million (2019: Rs. 2.47 million) during the year.

 CSAP Foundation, in which Mr. Ahsan M Saleem (Director of the Foundation) is also a director, has donated Rs. 0.81 
million (2019: Rs. Nil) during the year. 

 The Family members of Mr. Mushtaq K. Chhapra (Director of the Foundation) in concert have donated Rs. 0.66 million 
(2019: Rs. 3.58 million) during the year.

 Gurmani Foundation, in which Ms. Saima Khawaja (Director of the Foundation till 13 April 2019) was also a director, has 
donated Rs. Nil (2019: Rs. 22.20 million) during the year.

 Interloop Welfare Trust, in which Mr. Musadaq Zulqarnain (Director of the Foundation till 13 April 2019) was also a 
chairman, has donated Rs. Nil (2019: Rs. 45.96 million) during the year.

 Interloop Limited, in which Mr. Musadaq Zulqarnain (Director of the Foundation till 13 April 2019) was also a chairman, 
has donated Rs. Nil (2019: Rs. 6.33 million) during the year.

 Port Qasim Authority, Karachi, in which Mr. Musadaq Zulqarnain (Director of the Foundation till 13 April 2019) was also a 
director, has donated Rs. Nil (2019: Rs. 0.10 million) during the year.

 The Searle Company Limited, in which Mr. Adnan Asdar and Mr. Rashid Abdulla (Directors of the Foundation) are also 
directors, has donated Rs. Nil (2019: Rs. 20.30 million) during the year.

 Hilton Pharma (Private) Ltd, in which Mr. Shahbaz Yasin Malik (Director of the Foundation) is also a director, has donated 
Rs. 82.58 million (2019: Rs. 5.00 million) during the year. (As director appointed w.e.f 13 April 2019).

 TCS (Private) Ltd, in which Ms. Nilofer Saeed (Director of the Foundation) is also a director, has donated Rs. 5.65 million 
(2019: Rs. 1.01 million) during the year. (As director appointed w.e.f 13 April 2019). 

 NECOS Naturals, in which Ms. Nilofer Saeed (Director of the Foundation) is also a founder, has donated Rs. Nil (2019: Rs. 
0.10 million) during the year. (As director appointed w.e.f 13 April 2019).

 The Family members of Ms. Nilofer Saeed (Director of the Foundation) in concert have donated Rs. 0.43 million (2019: Rs. 
Nil) during the year.

 TCF-UK, in which Mr. Tariq Raza Hussain and Mr. Imtiaz Sultan Ali Dossa (Directors of the Foundation) are also trustees, 
has donated Rs. 254.50 million (2019: Rs.184.58 million) during the year. (Mr. Tariq Raza Hussain has retired as director 
w.e.f 13 April 2019).            
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   797,370 

 171,450 

 271 

 -   

 254,497 

 -   

 68,550 

 1,345,062 

 197,881 

 32,111 

 2,983 

 184,588 

 7,538 

 22,113 

(Rupees in '000)
2020 201930.2 Donations from Country Partners of TCF (Refer note 31)

 TCF-USA

 TCF-Canada

 TCF-Italy

 TCF-Australia

 TCF-UK

 TCF-Norway

 Others

30.2 Donations from Country Partners of TCF (Refer note 31)

 TCF-USA

 TCF-Canada

 TCF-Italy

 TCF-Australia

 TCF-UK

 TCF-Norway

 Others

    3,400 

 10 

 -   

 50 

 4,100 

 200 

 1,001 

 200 

  6,728 

 360 

 2 

 30 

 11,300 

 103 

 12,988 

 1,123 

30.3 Donations from Directors

 Mr. Ahsan M Saleem

 Mr. Ateed Riaz 

 Ms. Bushra Afzal (Director till 13 April 2019)

 Mr. Mushtaq K. Chhapra

 Mr. Riyaz Ali Towfiq Chinoy

 Ms. Nilofer Saeed

 Mr. Ishaque Noor

 Syed Asaad Ayub Ahmad

30.3 Donations from Directors

 Mr. Ahsan M Saleem

 Mr. Ateed Riaz 

 Ms. Bushra Afzal (Director till 13 April 2019)

 Mr. Mushtaq K. Chhapra

 Mr. Riyaz Ali Towfiq Chinoy

 Ms. Nilofer Saeed

 Mr. Ishaque Noor

 Syed Asaad Ayub Ahmad

30.4 Payments made to related parties
       
 Ms. Seema Chhapra, relative of Mr. Mushtaq K. Chhapra (Director of the Foundation), has provided services under 

employment contract to the Foundation amounting to Rs. 0.86 million (2019: Rs. Nil) during the year. 

 Multinet Pakistan (Private) Limited, in which Mr. Adnan Asdar (Director of the Foundation till 13 April 2019) was also a 
director, has provided IT related services to the Foundation amounting to Rs. Nil (2019: Rs. 0.96 million) during the year.

 MyCart (Private) Limited, in which Mr. Adnan Asdar (Director of the Foundation till 13 April 2019) was also a director, has 
provided office supplies to the Foundation amounting to Rs. Nil (2019: Rs. 0.28 million) during the year.

     

 Multinet Pakistan (Private) Limited, in which Mr. Adnan Asdar (Director of the Foundation till 13 April 2019) was also a 
CEO, has donated Rs. Nil (2019: Rs. 0.60 million) during the year. 

 The Family members of Mr. Riyaz Ali Towfiq Chinoy (Director of the Foundation) in concert have donated Rs. 0.5 million 
(2019: Rs. Nil) during the year. (As director appointed w.e.f 13 April 2019).

 International Industries Limited, in which Mr. Riyaz Ali Towfiq Chinoy (Director of the Foundation) is also a director, has 
donated Rs. Nil (2019: Rs. 5.1 million) during the year. (As director appointed w.e.f 13 April 2019).

 Indus Motor Company Limited, in which Mr. Riyaz Ali Towfiq Chinoy (Director of the Foundation) is also a Director, has 
donated Rs. 0.71 million (2019: Rs. Nil) during the year. 

 The Family members of Ms. Farzana Zulqarnain (Director of the Foundation) in concert have donated Rs. 19.20 million 
(2019: Rs. 4 million) during the year. (As director appointed w.e.f 13 April 2019). 
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 Pakistan Centre for Philanthropy, in which Mr. Ahsan M. Saleem (Director of the Foundation) is also a director, charged for 
membership fee amounting to Rs. 0.03 million (2019: Rs. 0.03 million).

   
 TCS (Private) Limited, in which Ms. Nilofer Saeed (Director of the Foundation w.e.f 13 April 2019) is also a director, has 

provided courier related services to the Foundation amounting to Rs. 7.49 million (2019: Rs. 0.56 million) during the year.

 NECOS Naturals, in which Ms. Nilofer Saeed (Director of the Foundation w.e.f 13 April 2019) is also a founder, has 
provided supplies to the Foundation amounting to Rs. 0.07 million (2019: Rs. Nil) during the year.

 Management Association of Pakistan in which Mr. Riyaz Ali Towfiq Chinoy (Director of the Foundation) is also honorary 
treasurer, charged annual subscription fee amounting to Rs. 0.07 million (2019: Rs. Nil)

 
30.5 Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling 

the activities of the Foundation. The Foundation considers Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Executive Vice 
Presidents and Vice Presidents as its key management personnel. The remuneration / compensation paid or payable to 
key management for employee service amounts to Rs. 57.46 million (2019: Rs. 50.45 million) during the year. Key 
management personnel also donated to the Foundation from their salaries an amount of Rs. 1.03 million (2019: Rs. 1.78 
million) during the year. There are no transactions with the key management personnel other than the remuneration and 
benefits under their terms of employment.

     
31. ECONOMIC INTEREST IN OTHER NON-PROFIT ORGANISATIONS
   
 TCF - USA, TCF - Canada, TCF - UK and TCF - Italy are entities incorporated and registered as charitable organisations 

under the respective laws of USA, Canada, UK and Italy. The Foundation has an agreement with them, by virtue of which, 
they at their respective discretion, contribute financially and otherwise towards helping the Foundation to build and run 
educational projects for the less privileged children and communities across Pakistan.

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RELATED DISCLOSURES

 The Board of Directors of the Foundation has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the 
Foundation's risk management framework. The Board is also responsible for developing and monitoring the Foundation's 
risk management policies. The Foundation's risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the risk 
faced by the Foundation, to set appropriate risk limits and controls and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk 
management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Foundation's 
activities.

 The Foundation's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks such as:

 -  Market risk             
 -  Credit risk and            
 -  Liquidity risk

32.1 Market risk

 Market risk is the risk that changes in market price, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices will 
effect the Foundation's income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. 

 The Foundation manages market risk by monitoring exposure in marketable securities by following the investment 
guidelines approved by the Board of Directors (BOD). The Investment Committee is responsible for making investment 
decisions.

 Market risk comprises of three type of risks: currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk.

 Currency risk            
             
 Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 

foreign exchange rates. Foreign currency risk arises mainly where receivables and payables exist due to transactions with 
foreign supporters or volunteers. At reporting date, the Foundation holds foreign currency bank accounts and Term Deposit 
Receipts maintained with reputable financial institutions, amounting to Rs. 675.62 million (2019: Rs. 2,962.08 million) in 
aggregate, that expose the Foundation to currency risk. The currencies in which these bank accounts are denominated are 
Euro (EUR) Pound Sterling (GBP), United States Dollar (USD), Swiss Franc (CHF), United Arab Emirates Dirham (AED).  
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 Sensitivity Analysis
 
 A 10 percent strengthening / (weakening) of the Pakistan Rupee against various foreign currencies at 30 June 2020 would 

have (decreased) / increased the surplus by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in 
particular interest rates, remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis as for 2019.

 The following exchange rates were applied during the year:

189.11
207.05
168.25
176.83
45.79

180.24
201.97
159.80
161.89

43.49

175.63
199.58
158.79
162.72
43.22

156.29
176.88
136.94
137.87
37.28

 EUR to PKR
 GBP to PKR
 USD to PKR
 CHF to PKR
 AED to PKR

 EUR to PKR
 GBP to PKR
 USD to PKR
 CHF to PKR
 AED to PKR

20192020

Reporting date Spot rateAverage rate

2020 2019

 Interest rate risk
 
 Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 

changes in market interest rates.
      
 At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Foundation's significant interest bearing financial instruments were as 

follows:    

 
 1,883 

 7 
 1 
 8 

 65,663 

   269,811 
 9 

 19 
 1,552 

 24,816 

20192020

Effect on statement of income 
and expenditure

 Effect in:   
 US Dollar (USD)
 Euro (EUR)
 Pound Sterling (GBP)
 Swiss Franc (CHF)
 Dirham (AED)

 Effect in:   
 US Dollar (USD)
 Euro (EUR)
 Pound Sterling (GBP)
 Swiss Franc (CHF)
 Dirham (AED)

(Rupees in '000)

  

2,783,438 

 958,111

500,000

1,308,060 

     826,897 

 199,162

-

3,484,707 

20192020
Carrying amount

12.82

10.33

0.10

10.77

 

13.71

12.74 

-

6.03

 Financial Assets

 

 Fixed Rate Instruments

 Pakistan Investment Bonds

 Treasury Bills

 Foreign Currency Term Deposit Receipts

 Local Currency Term Deposit Receipts 

 Financial Assets

 

 Fixed Rate Instruments

 Pakistan Investment Bonds

 Treasury Bills

 Foreign Currency Term Deposit Receipts

 Local Currency Term Deposit Receipts 

Effective interest rate

(Rupees in '000)(in Percent)
2020 2019
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 Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments
     
 The Foundation does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. 

Therefore, any change in interest rates at the reporting date would not affect statement of income and expenditure.

 Price risk

 Price risk is the risk that the fair value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices 
(other than those rising from interest rate risk or currency risk). Price risk arises from the Foundation's investment in 
units of mutual funds classified as fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). To manage its price risk arising from 
aforesaid investments, the Foundation diversifies its portfolio and continuously monitors developments in capital 
markets.

 A 5% increase / decrease in redemption price at year end would have increased / decreased income on fair value of 
investments by Rs. 12.67 million (2019: Rs. 30.90 million) reported in statement of income and expenditure with 
corresponding effect on value of investments. The same basis is used for 2019.

32.2 Credit risk

 Credit risk arises from the inability of the issuers of the instruments, the relevant financial institutions or other 
counter parties to fulfil their contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Foundation. The credit risk of the 
Foundation mainly arises from its investments in debt securities representing failure of the investee companies in 
repayment of principal and / or the return due on such investments. The Foundation is also exposed to counterparty 
credit risk on bank balances, investment in units of mutual funds, long term deposits, accrued income and other 
receivable balances.

 Credit risk management

 The Foundation assesses all counterparties for credit risk before contracting with them. It is the Foundation's policy 
to enter into financial contracts with reputable and creditworthy counterparties. Credit risk relating to unsettled 
transactions in securities is considered to be minimal as the Foundation uses brokers with high creditworthiness and 
the transactions are settled or paid for only upon delivery.

   
 The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure at the reporting date, which is:

 None of the above financial assets were considered to be past due or impaired as at 30 June 2020.

 Long term investments

 Long term deposits

 Short term investments

 Accrued income and other receivables

 Bank balances 

 Long term investments

 Long term deposits

 Short term investments

 Accrued income and other receivables

 Bank balances 

  3,396,084 

 12,322 

 2,406,844 

 252,878 

 249,207 

 6,317,335 

  983,181 

 12,658 

 4,145,746 

 70,379 

 561,523 

 5,773,487 

(Rupees in '000)
2020 2019

7

10

9

11

Note
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 Investment in debt and equity securities

 At reporting date the Foundation has invested in Pakistan Investment Bonds, units of open and closed end mutual 
funds and term deposit receipts. The Foundation manages credit risk arising from term deposit receipts by making 
investments in financial institutions or counter parties having sound credit ratings. The Foundation assesses at each 
reporting date whether credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition by 
analyzing the changes in the risk of default and the expected life of the financial instrument. While making the 
estimate the management considers historical data and forward looking information with respect to the counterparty. 
The management considers that the financial instruments in which the Foundation has invested, are low risk and 
have not experienced a significant increase in credit risk (SICR), further, based on macro-economic factors and best 
estimate, the management does not expect any default events in respect of it's financial assets within 12 months 
after the reporting date. Accordingly, the probability of occurrence of default event is remote and the impairment 
calculated using the ECL method is minimal, hence, no impairment has been recognised in these financial 
statements. With respect to units of open end mutual funds the management manages credit risk by investing in 
Funds having good performance record and reviewing their performance and stability ratings assigned by the rating 
agencies.

 The management believes that investment in Pakistan Investment Bonds and Treasury bills does not expose the 
Foundation to credit risk as the counterparty to the instrument is Government of Pakistan, having very low risk of 
default and strong capacity to discharge it's obligation. Accordingly no expected credit loss (ECL) has been 
calculated on these investments.

 Bank balances

 The Foundation kept surplus liquidity with banks having long term credit rating from A- to AAA. The rating of the 
banks is monitored by the management.

 Long term deposits

 The Foundation has deposited various amounts as security to suppliers against provisioning of different services. 
The management does not expect to incur material losses on such deposits and consider such amount is receivable 
upon termination of service contract from respective suppliers.

      
 Concentration of credit risk 

 Concentration of credit risk exists when changes in economic or industry factors similarly affect groups of 
counterparties whose aggregate credit exposure is significant in relation to the Foundation's total credit exposure. 
The Foundation's portfolio of financial instruments is broadly diversified and transactions are entered into with 
diverse credit-worthy counterparties thereby mitigating any significant concentration of credit risk.

32.3 Liquidity risk

 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Foundation will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its 
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial assets. The Foundation's approach to 
managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities 
when due, without incurring losses or risking damage to the Foundation's reputation.
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32.4 Fair value of financial instruments

 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date.

 The fair value of financial assets and liabilities traded in active markets i.e. units of closed end mutual funds are 
based on the quoted market prices at the close of trading on the period end date. The quoted market prices used for 
financial assets held by the Foundation is current bid price.

 A financial instrument is regarded as quoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily and regularly available 
from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent 
actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis.

 IFRS 13, 'Fair Value Measurements' requires the Foundation to classify fair value measurements using a fair value 
hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has 
the following levels:

 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the 
measurement date (level 1).

 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 
or indirectly (level 2).

               
 - Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability (level 3).

 The following are the contractual maturities of the financial liabilities:

 -   
 34,284 
 34,284 

 Financial Liabilities
 
 Accrued and other liabilities
 Lease liabilities

 Financial Liabilities
 
 Accrued and other liabilities
 Lease liabilities

2020

 

546,559 
 47,552 

 594,111 

   
546,559 
 72,668 

 619,227

 546,559 
 7,238 

 553,797

 -   
 7,594 
 7,594 

 -   
 23,552 
 23,552 

Carrying
amount

Contractual
cash flows

Up to
one year

One to
two 

years

Two
to five
years

After
five

years

(Rupees in '000)

 Financial Liabilities
 
 Accrued and other liabilities

 Financial Liabilities
 
 Accrued and other liabilities

2019

 319,017  319,017  319,017  -    -    -   

Carrying
amount

Contractual
cash flows

Up to
one year

One to
two 

years

Two
to five
years

After
five

years

(Rupees in '000)
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 The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, including 
their levels in the fair value hierarchy.

 On-balance sheet financial instruments 

 On-balance sheet financial instruments 

2020

Total Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair value 
 through 

 other 
 comprehensive 

 income 

 Other 
 financial 
 liabilities 

Amortised 
 cost 

Note  Fair value 
 through 
 profit or 

loss 

Carrying amount Fair value

(Rupees in '000)

2019

Total Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair value 
 through 

 other 
 comprehensive 

 income 

 Other 
 financial 
 liabilities 

Amortised 
 cost 

 Fair value 
 through 
 profit or 

loss 

Carrying amount Fair value

(Rupees in '000)

 Financial assets measured at  
  fair value

 Units of open end funds   
 Certificates of closed end funds
 
 
 Financial assets not   

  measured at fair value
 Cash and Bank Balances
 Term deposit receipts
 Treasury Bills
 Pakistan Investment Bonds
 Accrued income and other   

  receivables
 Long term deposits
 
 Financial liabilities not   

  measured at fair value
 Lease liabilities
 Accrued and other liabilities
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 Financial assets 
  measured at fair value 
 Units of open end funds 
 Certificates of closed end funds 

  
 Financial assets not 
  measured at fair value 
 Cash and Bank Balances 
 Term deposit receipts 
 Treasury Bills 
 Pakistan Investment Bonds 
 Accrued income and other   

  receivables 
 Long term deposits 
   
 
 Financial liabilities not 
  measured at fair value 
 Accrued and other liabilities 

 Financial assets measured at  
  fair value

 Units of open end funds   
 Certificates of closed end funds
 
 
 Financial assets not   

  measured at fair value
 Cash and Bank Balances
 Term deposit receipts
 Treasury Bills
 Pakistan Investment Bonds
 Accrued income and other   

  receivables
 Long term deposits
 
 Financial liabilities not   

  measured at fair value
 Lease liabilities
 Accrued and other liabilities
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 Financial assets 
  measured at fair value 
 Units of open end funds 
 Certificates of closed end funds 

  
 Financial assets not 
  measured at fair value 
 Cash and Bank Balances 
 Term deposit receipts 
 Treasury Bills 
 Pakistan Investment Bonds 
 Accrued income and other   

  receivables 
 Long term deposits 
   
 
 Financial liabilities not 
  measured at fair value 
 Accrued and other liabilities 

 

 140,673 
 112,646 
 253,319 

 -   
 -   

 1,009,959 
 3,154,736 

 -   
 -   

 4,164,695

-   
-   
 - 

 -   
 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 
 -   
 -   
 -   

-   
-   

 -   

 -   
 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   

 1,009,959 
 3,154,736 

 
 -   
 -   

 4,164,695

 -   
-   

 -   

 

 140,673 
 112,646 
 253,319 

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   
 -   

-   
-   

 -    

 

140,673 
 112,646 
 253,319 

  249,207 
 1,808,060 

 958,111 
 2,783,438

 
 252,878 
 12,322 

 6,064,016 

 47,552 
 546,559
 594,111

  -   
 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 
 -   
 -   
 -   

 47,552 
546,559

 594,111

 -   
 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   
 -   

-   
-   

 -  

 140,673 
 112,646 
 253,319 

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   
 -   

-   
-   

 -   

 -   
 -   
 -   

  249,207 
 1,808,060 

 958,111 
 2,783,438 

 252,878 
 12,322 

 6,064,016 

-   
-   
 -   

32.5

32.5

32.5

32.5

   461,877 
 156,284 
 618,161 

 -   
 -   

 199,834 
 827,299 

 
-   
 -   

 1,027,133 

 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   
 -   

 -   
 -
 -
 -

 
 -
 -
 -

-   
 -   

  -   
 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   

  199,834 
 827,299 

 -   
 -   

  1,027,133 

 -   
 -     

 461,877 
 156,284 
 618,161  

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   

   461,877 
 156,284 
 618,161 

 561,523 
 3,484,707 

 199,162 
 826,897 

 70,379 
 12,658 

 5,155,326 

 319,017 
 319,017

  -   
 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 
-   

 -   
 -   

 319,017
 319,017

  -   
 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   
 -   

 
-   

 -   

   461,877 
 156,284 
 618,161 

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 
-   

 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   

  -   
 -   
 -   

 561,523 
 3,484,707 

 199,162 
 826,897 

 70,379 
 12,658 

 5,155,326 

 -   
 -   
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32.5 The Foundation has not disclosed the fair value for these financial assets and financial liabilities other than Treasury 
Bills and Pakistan Investment Bonds, as these are either short term in nature or re-priced periodically. Therefore, 
their carrying amounts are reasonable approximation of fair value.

 
 Management uses redemption value notified by respective asset management companies for valuing units of open 

ended mutual funds which are also quoted in stock exchange and quoted price from stock exchange for valuing 
units of closed ended mutual funds at the measurement date. Management  considers that it falls under level 1 in fair 
value hierarchy as the redemption value of open end fund is a proportionate of the net assets value of respective 
funds and value of closed end funds are quoted on stock exchange. For valuation of government securities, 
Foundation uses PKRV sheet available from Financial Markets Association (Reuters) and classifying it under Level 2 
in fair value measurement hierarchy.

 
32.6 Fund management
 
 The Foundation is funded by contributions received from its members and donors from different sections of society 

within and outside Pakistan. The Foundation is a Company limited by guarantee having no share capital and is not 
exposed to any externally imposed capital requirements.

 
32.7 Reconciliation of movements of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activities

 Balance as at 1 July 2019
 Reclassification to finance lease due to IFRS 16
 Balance as at 1 July 2019 Adjusted
 
 Changes from financing cash flows:
 Deferred receipts relating to build donations
 Additions in Endowment fund
 Investment income allocated to Endowment fund
 Payments of lease liabilities
 Total changes from financing activities
 
 Other Changes:
 Amortisation for the year
 Finance cost
 Finance cost paid
 Total other charges
 
 Balance as at 30 June 2020

 Balance as at 1 July 2019
 Reclassification to finance lease due to IFRS 16
 Balance as at 1 July 2019 Adjusted
 
 Changes from financing cash flows:
 Deferred receipts relating to build donations
 Additions in Endowment fund
 Investment income allocated to Endowment fund
 Payments of lease liabilities
 Total changes from financing activities
 
 Other Changes:
 Amortisation for the year
 Finance cost
 Finance cost paid
 Total other charges
 
 Balance as at 30 June 2020

 5,004,154 
 -   

 5,004,154 

 491,076 
 -   
 -   
 -   

 491,076 

 (342,225)
 -   
 -   

 (342,225)

 5,153,005 

 2,860,774 
 -   

 2,860,774 

 -   
 355,292 
 17,496 

 -   
 372,788 

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 3,233,562 

 7,864,928 
 48,366 

 7,913,294 

 491,076 
 355,292 

 (814)
 845,554 

 (342,225)
 4,462 
 (4,462)

 (342,225)

 8,416,623 

Lease 
liabilities

Deferred 
income relating 

to operating 
fixed assets

Endowment 
fund

Total

2020

 -   
 48,366 
 48,366 

 -   
 -   
 -   
 (814)
 (814)

 -   
 4,462 
 (4,462)

 -   

 47,552 

(Rupees in '000)
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33. EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

 The Board of Directors, in their meeting held on 31 August 2020, approved the transfer of Rs. (125.52) million
 (2019: Rs. 779.29 million) from accumulated surplus to general fund.

 The financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2020 do not include the effect of the proposed appropriation, 
which will be accounted for in the financial statements for the year ending 30 June 2021.

34. CORRESPONDING FIGURES

 Corresponding figures have been rearranged and reclassified, wherever necessary for the purpose of comparison 
and better presentation, the effects of which are not material.

   
35. DATE OF AUTHORISATION

 These financial statements were authorised for issue in the Board of Directors meeting held on 31 August 2020.  

Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial OfficerDirector

 Balance as at 1 July 2018
 
 Changes from financing cash flows:
 Deferred receipts relating to build donations
 Additions in Endowment fund
 Investment income allocated to Endowment fund
 Total changes from financing activities
 
 Other Changes:
 Amortisation for the year
 Total other changes
 
 Balance as at 30 June 2019

 Balance as at 1 July 2018
 
 Changes from financing cash flows:
 Deferred receipts relating to build donations
 Additions in Endowment fund
 Investment income allocated to Endowment fund
 Total changes from financing activities
 
 Other Changes:
 Amortisation for the year
 Total other changes
 
 Balance as at 30 June 2019

 4,687,134 

 656,441 
 -   
 -   

 656,441 

 (339,421)
 (339,421)

 5,004,154 

 2,602,792 

 -   
 181,810 
 76,172 

 257,982 

 -   
 -   

 2,860,774 

 7,289,926 

 656,441 
 181,810 

 76,172 
 914,423 

 (339,421)
 (339,421)

 7,864,928 

Deferred income 
relating to 

operating fixed 
assets

Endowment 
fund

Total

2019

(Rupees in '000)
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2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015% % % % % % 

 10,743,343 
 42,723 
 7,353 

 3,396,084 
 12,322 

 14,201,825 

 114,608 
 291,366 

 2,406,844 
 238,340 
 249,788 

 3,300,946 

 17,502,771 

 5,153,005 

 1,094,876 
 44,861 

 6,292,742 

 436,750 
 2,691 

 682,745 
 1,122,186 

 7,414,928 

 10,087,843 

 3,100 
 6,915,934 
 3,233,562 
 (125,517)

 60,764 

 - 
 10,087,843 

 4,404,789 
 - 

 99,592 
 34,253 

 4,538,634 

 2,655,534 
 313,843 
 78,788 

 102,307 
 10,520 

 261,883 
 440,592 

 6,759 
 42,450 

 3,912,676 

 112,260 
 36,207 

 114,459 
 262,926 

 329,025 
 56,309 
 11,921 
 9,476 
 5,539 
 7,250 
 5,370 

 22,558 
 40,059 

 487,507 

 4,663,109 

 (124,475)

61.4%
0.2%
0.0%

19.4%
0.1%

81.1%

0.7%
1.7%

13.8%
1.4%
1.4%

18.9%

100%

29.4%

6.3%
0.3%

36.0%

2.5%
0.0%
3.9%
6.4%

42.4%

57.6%

0.0%
39.5%
18.5%
-0.7%
0.3%

0.0%
57.6%

97.1%
0.0%
2.2%
0.8%
100%

56.9%
6.7%
1.7%
2.2%
0.2%
5.6%
9.4%
0.1%
0.9%

83.9%

2.4%
0.8%
2.5%
5.6%

7.1%
1.2%
0.3%
0.2%
0.1%
0.2%
0.1%
0.5%
0.9%

10.5%

100%

 10,614,905 
 - 

 6,843 
 983,181 
 12,658 

 11,617,587 

 108,848 
 110,962 

 4,145,746 
 131,553 
 562,062 

 5,059,171 

 16,676,758 

 5,004,154 

 1,013,180 
-

 6,017,334 

 402,714 
-

 451,498 
 854,212 

 6,871,546 

 9,805,212 

 3,100 
 6,136,635 
 2,860,774 

 779,299 
 25,404 

-
 9,805,212 

 4,374,590 
 122,525 
 184,654 
 (109,436)

 4,572,333 

 2,462,285 
 314,181 
 87,938 

 132,490 
 32,248 

 272,493 
 416,551 

-
 43,485 

 3,761,671 

 82,085 
 38,638 

-
 120,723 

 245,038 
 67,380 
 9,918 
 8,413 
 5,964 
 5,739 
 6,117 

 28,870 
 23,198 

 400,637 

 4,283,031 

 289,302 

63.7%
0.0%
0.0%
5.9%
0.1%

69.7%

0.7%
0.7%

24.9%
0.8%
3.4%

30.3%

100%

30.0%

6.1%
0.0%

36.1%

2.4%
0.0%
2.7%
5.1%

41.2%

58.8%

0.0%
36.8%
17.2%
4.7%
0.2%

0.0%
58.8%

95.7%
2.7%
4.0%

-2.4%
100%

57.5%
7.3%
2.1%
3.1%
0.8%
6.4%
9.7%
0.0%
1.0%

87.8%

1.9%
0.9%
0.0%
2.8%

5.7%
1.6%
0.2%
0.2%
0.1%
0.1%
0.1%
0.7%
0.5%
9.4%

100%

 10,475,388 
-

 5,092 
 478,910 
 12,528 

 10,971,918 

 63,535 
 159,502 

 3,796,355 
 83,823 

 324,154 
 4,427,369 

 15,399,287 

 4,687,134 

 696,561 
-

 5,383,695 

 340,364 
-

 433,778 
 774,142 

 6,157,837 

 9,241,450 

 2,400 
 5,543,078 
 2,602,792 

 971,194 
 9,626 

 112,360 
 9,241,450 

 3,979,976 
 519,742 
 52,823 
 29,765 

 4,582,306 

 2,393,040 
 183,068 
 46,324 

 130,864 
 31,353 

 266,549 
 425,895 

-
 40,419 

 3,517,512 

 43,285 
 40,298 

-
 83,583 

 172,231 
 78,458 
 5,976 
 6,764 
 5,064 
 5,675 
 4,219 

 20,480 
 23,595 

 322,462 

 3,923,557 

 658,749 

68.0%
0.0%
0.0%
3.1%
0.1%

71.2%

0.4%
1.0%

24.7%
0.5%
2.1%

28.8%

100%

30.4%

4.5%
0.0%

35.0%

2.2%
0.0%
2.8%
5.0%

40.0%

60.0%

0.0%
36.0%
16.9%
6.3%
0.1%

0.7%
60.0%

86.9%
11.3%
1.2%
0.6%

100%

61.0%
4.7%
1.2%
3.3%
0.8%
6.8%

10.9%
0.0%
1.0%

89.7%

1.1%
1.0%
0.0%
2.1%

4.4%
2.0%
0.2%
0.2%
0.1%
0.1%
0.1%
0.5%
0.6%
8.2%

100%

 9,862,453 
-

 6,544 
 525,739 
 12,666 

 10,407,402 

 110,636 
 117,537 

 2,850,472 
-

 570,280 
 3,648,925 

 14,056,327 

 4,464,479 

 597,408 
-

 5,061,887 

 217,086 
-

 395,231 
 612,317 

 5,674,204 

 8,382,123 

 2,400 
 667,019 

 2,378,663 
 5,188,504 

 (9)

 145,546 
 8,382,123 

 3,658,925 
 5,101,530 

 79,867 
 15,548 

 8,855,870 

 2,115,774 
 266,097 
 87,059 

 123,685 
 62,560 

 254,504 
 423,340 

-
 29,823 

 3,362,842 

 18,050 
 46,961 

-
 65,011 

 129,141 
 50,925 
 5,081 
 2,970 
 4,518 
 5,286 
 4,984 

 21,115 
 15,502 

 239,522 

 3,667,375 

 5,188,495 

70.2%
0.0%
0.0%
3.7%
0.1%

74.0%

0.8%
0.8%

20.3%
0.0%
4.1%

26.0%

100%

31.8%

4.3%
0.0%

36.0%

1.5%
0.0%
2.8%
4.4%

40.4%

59.6%

0.0%
4.7%

16.9%
36.9%
0.0%

1.0%
59.6%

41.3%
57.6%
0.9%
0.2%

100%

57.7%
7.3%
2.4%
3.4%
1.7%
6.9%

11.5%
0.0%
0.8%

91.7%

0.5%
1.3%
0.0%
1.8%

3.5%
1.4%
0.1%
0.1%
0.1%
0.1%
0.1%
0.6%
0.4%
6.5%

100%

 4,470,847 
-

 7,411 
 1,251,287 

 12,736 
 5,742,281 

 109,057 
 90,640 

 1,844,055 
-

 275,205 
 2,318,957 

 8,061,238 

 4,447,313 

 626,972 
-

 5,074,285 

-
-

 388,061 
 388,061 

 5,462,346 

 2,598,892 

 2,400 
 658,576 

 1,864,982 
 8,443 

-

 64,491 
 2,598,892 

 2,862,468 
-

 24,295 
 11,692 

 2,898,455 

 1,498,306 
 299,266 
 128,322 
 89,932 
 62,407 

 177,209 
 355,164 

-
 32,880 

 2,643,486 

 16,799 
-
-

 16,799 

 111,391 
 62,778 
 4,857 
 2,789 
 4,923 
 3,378 
 3,685 

 18,735 
 17,191 

 229,727 

 2,890,012 

 8,443 

55.5%
0.0%
0.1%

15.5%
0.2%

71.2%

1.4%
1.1%

22.9%
0.0%
3.4%

28.8%

100%

55.2%

7.8%
0.0%

62.9%

0.0%
0.0%
4.8%
4.8%

67.8%

32.2%

0.0%
8.2%

23.1%
0.1%
0.0%

0.8%
32.2%

98.8%
0.0%
0.8%
0.4%

100%

51.8%
10.4%
4.4%
3.1%
2.2%
6.1%

12.3%
0.0%
1.1%

91.5%

0.6%
0.0%
0.0%
0.6%

3.9%
2.2%
0.2%
0.1%
0.2%
0.1%
0.1%
0.6%
0.6%
7.9%

100%

 4,110,780 
-

 4,133 
 1,330,629 

 10,573 
 5,456,115 

 99,096 
 76,328 

 1,173,697 
-

 167,651 
 1,516,772 

 6,972,887 

 3,851,765 

 565,580 
-

 4,417,345 

-
-

 397,763 
 397,763 

 4,815,108 

 2,157,779 

 2,200 
 656,815 

 1,369,911 
 38,991 

-

 89,862 
 2,157,779 

 2,368,396 
-

 82,781 
 55,260 

 2,506,437 

 1,278,095 
 267,522 
 77,117 
 91,002 
 48,524 

 147,517 
 328,765 

-
 39,088 

 2,277,630 

-
-
-
-

 82,152 
 61,266 
 4,000 
 2,089 
 4,874 
 2,961 
 5,555 

 17,303 
 9,616 

 189,816 

 2,467,446 

 38,991 

59.0%
0.0%
0.1%

19.1%
0.2%

78.2%

1.4%
1.1%

16.8%
0.0%
2.4%

21.8%

100%

55.2%

8.1%
0.0%

63.4%

0.0%
0.0%
5.7%
5.7%

69.1%

30.9%

0.0%
9.4%

19.6%
0.6%
0.0%

1.3%
30.9%

94.5%
0.0%
3.3%
2.2%

100%

51.8%
10.8%
3.1%
3.7%
2.0%
6.0%

13.3%
0.0%
1.6%

92.3%

0.0%
0.0%
0.0%
0.0%

3.3%
2.5%
0.2%
0.1%
0.2%
0.1%
0.2%
0.7%
0.4%
7.7%

100%

Statement of Financial Position
ASSETS
Non-Current Assets
Property and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Intangible assets
Long term investments
Long term deposits
Total Non-Current Assets

Current Assets
Advances and prepayments
Accrued income and other receivables
Short term investments
Books, copies, uniforms and other school supplies 
Cash and bank balances
Total Current Assets

Total Assets

Non-Current Liabilities
Deferred income relating to operating fixed assets
Deferred income relating to school support, grants and
 children education
Lease liabilities
Total Non-Current Liabilities

Current Liabilities
Current portion of deferred income relating to school
 support, grants and children education
Current portion of lease liabilities
Accrued and other liabilities
Total Current Liabilities

Total Liabilities

Total Net Assets

FUNDS
Capital fund
General fund
Endowment fund
(Deficit) / Surplus of income over expenditure
Foreign currency translation reserve
Unrealized gain on remeasurement of available for
 sale investments
Total Funds

Statement of Income and Expenditure
INCOME
Donations and concessional tuition fees
Fair value of contributed land
Income on investments - net 
Other income / (loss)
Total income

OPERATING EXPENDITURE
Education Programme
School expenditures
Books, copies, uniforms and other school supplies
Repair and maintenance charges
School vehicle running and maintenance
Teachers' training
School supervision and monitoring
Depreciation on school assets
Depreciation on right-of-use assets
Other expenses
Total Education Programme Expenses

Other programmes
Post matric scholarship
Community development programmes
COVID-19 response appeal
Total Other Programme Expenses

Programme Administration
Salaries and other benefits
Marketing expense
Vehicle running and maintenance
Travelling and conveyance
Utilities
Communication
Printing and stationery
Depreciation
Other expenses
Total Programme Administration Expenses

Total Operating Expenditure

(Deficit) / Surplus of income over expenditure for the year

Statement of Financial Position
ASSETS
Non-Current Assets
Property and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Intangible assets
Long term investments
Long term deposits
Total Non-Current Assets

Current Assets
Advances and prepayments
Accrued income and other receivables
Short term investments
Books, copies, uniforms and other school supplies 
Cash and bank balances
Total Current Assets

Total Assets

Non-Current Liabilities
Deferred income relating to operating fixed assets
Deferred income relating to school support, grants and
 children education
Lease liabilities
Total Non-Current Liabilities

Current Liabilities
Current portion of deferred income relating to school
 support, grants and children education
Current portion of lease liabilities
Accrued and other liabilities
Total Current Liabilities

Total Liabilities

Total Net Assets

FUNDS
Capital fund
General fund
Endowment fund
(Deficit) / Surplus of income over expenditure
Foreign currency translation reserve
Unrealized gain on remeasurement of available for
 sale investments
Total Funds

Statement of Income and Expenditure
INCOME
Donations and concessional tuition fees
Fair value of contributed land
Income on investments - net 
Other income / (loss)
Total income

OPERATING EXPENDITURE
Education Programme
School expenditures
Books, copies, uniforms and other school supplies
Repair and maintenance charges
School vehicle running and maintenance
Teachers' training
School supervision and monitoring
Depreciation on school assets
Depreciation on right-of-use assets
Other expenses
Total Education Programme Expenses

Other programmes
Post matric scholarship
Community development programmes
COVID-19 response appeal
Total Other Programme Expenses

Programme Administration
Salaries and other benefits
Marketing expense
Vehicle running and maintenance
Travelling and conveyance
Utilities
Communication
Printing and stationery
Depreciation
Other expenses
Total Programme Administration Expenses

Total Operating Expenditure

(Deficit) / Surplus of income over expenditure for the year

The Citizens Foundation
Six Year's Vertical Analysis (Rs. In 000)
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2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 201520 Vs 19
%

19 Vs 18 
%

18 Vs 17
%

17 Vs 16 
%

16 Vs 15 
%

15 Vs 14 
%

 10,743,343 
 42,723 
 7,353 

 3,396,084 
 12,322 

 14,201,825 

 114,608 
 291,366 

 2,406,844 
 238,340 
 249,788 

 3,300,946 

 17,502,771 

 5,153,005 

 1,094,876 
 44,861 

 6,292,742 

 436,750 
 2,691 

 682,745 
 1,122,186 

 7,414,928 

 10,087,843 

 3,100 
 6,915,934 
 3,233,562 
 (125,517)

 60,764 

 - 
 10,087,843 

 4,404,789 
 - 

 99,592 
 34,253 

 4,538,634 

 2,655,534 
 313,843 
 78,788 

 102,307 
 10,520 

 261,883 
 440,592 

 6,759 
 42,450 

 3,912,676 

 112,260 
 36,207 

 114,459 
 262,926 

 329,025 
 56,309 
 11,921 
 9,476 
 5,539 
 7,250 
 5,370 

 22,558 
 40,059 

 487,507 

 4,663,109 

 (124,475)

1%
100%

7%
245%

-3%
22%

5%
163%
-42%
81%

-56%
-35%

5%

3%

8%
100%

5%

8%
100%
51%
31%

8%

3%

0%
13%
13%

-116%
139%

0%
3%

1%
-100%
-46%

-131%
-1%

8%
-0.1%
-10%
-23%
-67%
-4%
6%

100%
-2%
4%

37%
-6%

100%
118%

34%
-16%
20%
13%
-7%
26%

-12%
-22%
73%
22%

9%

-143%

 10,614,905 
 - 

 6,843 
 983,181 
 12,658 

 11,617,587 

 108,848 
 110,962 

 4,145,746 
 131,553 
 562,062 

 5,059,171 

 16,676,758 

 5,004,154 

 1,013,180 
-

 6,017,334 

 402,714 
-

 451,498 
 854,212 

 6,871,546 

 9,805,212 

 3,100 
 6,136,635 
 2,860,774 

 779,299 
 25,404 

-
 9,805,212 

 4,374,590 
 122,525 
 184,654 
 (109,436)

 4,572,333 

 2,462,285 
 314,181 
 87,938 

 132,490 
 32,248 

 272,493 
 416,551 

-
 43,485 

 3,761,671 

 82,085 
 38,638 

-
 120,723 

 245,038 
 67,380 
 9,918 
 8,413 
 5,964 
 5,739 
 6,117 

 28,870 
 23,198 

 400,637 

 4,283,031 

 289,302 

1%
0%

34%
105%

1%
6%

71%
-30%

9%
57%
73%
14%

8%

7%

45%
0%

12%

18%
0%
4%

10%

12%

6%

29%
11%
10%

-20%
164%

-100%
6%

10%
-76%
250%

-468%
0%

3%
72%
90%
1%
3%
2%

-2%
0%
8%
7%

90%
-4%
0%

44%

42%
-14%
66%
24%
18%
1%

45%
41%
-2%
24%

9%

-56%

 10,475,388 
-

 5,092 
 478,910 
 12,528 

 10,971,918 

 63,535 
 159,502 

 3,796,355 
 83,823 

 324,154 
 4,427,369 

 15,399,287 

 4,687,134 

 696,561 
-

 5,383,695 

 340,364 
-

 433,778 
 774,142 

 6,157,837 

 9,241,450 

 2,400 
 5,543,078 
 2,602,792 

 971,194 
 9,626 

 112,360 
 9,241,450 

 3,979,976 
 519,742 
 52,823 
 29,765 

 4,582,306 

 2,393,040 
 183,068 
 46,324 

 130,864 
 31,353 

 266,549 
 425,895 

-
 40,419 

 3,517,512 

 43,285 
 40,298 

-
 83,583 

 172,231 
 78,458 
 5,976 
 6,764 
 5,064 
 5,675 
 4,219 

 20,480 
 23,595 

 322,462 

 3,923,557 

 658,749 

6%
0%

-22%
-9%
-1%
5%

-43%
36%
33%

100%
-43%
21%

10%

5%

17%
0%
6%

57%
0%

10%
26%

9%

10%

0%
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9%
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-23%
10%

9%
-90%
-34%
91%

-48%

13%
-31%
-47%

6%
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5%
1%
0%

36%
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-14%

0%
29%

33%
54%
18%
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12%
7%

-15%
-3%
52%
35%

7%

-87%

 9,862,453 
-

 6,544 
 525,739 
 12,666 

 10,407,402 

 110,636 
 117,537 

 2,850,472 
-

 570,280 
 3,648,925 

 14,056,327 

 4,464,479 

 597,408 
-

 5,061,887 

 217,086 
-

 395,231 
 612,317 

 5,674,204 

 8,382,123 

 2,400 
 667,019 

 2,378,663 
 5,188,504 

 (9)

 145,546 
 8,382,123 

 3,658,925 
 5,101,530 

 79,867 
 15,548 

 8,855,870 

 2,115,774 
 266,097 
 87,059 

 123,685 
 62,560 

 254,504 
 423,340 

-
 29,823 

 3,362,842 

 18,050 
 46,961 

-
 65,011 

 129,141 
 50,925 
 5,081 
 2,970 
 4,518 
 5,286 
 4,984 

 21,115 
 15,502 
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 3,667,375 

 5,188,495 

 4,470,847 
-

 7,411 
 1,251,287 

 12,736 
 5,742,281 

 109,057 
 90,640 

 1,844,055 
-

 275,205 
 2,318,957 

 8,061,238 

 4,447,313 

 626,972 
-

 5,074,285 

-
-

 388,061 
 388,061 

 5,462,346 

 2,598,892 

 2,400 
 658,576 

 1,864,982 
 8,443 

-

 64,491 
 2,598,892 

 2,862,468 
-

 24,295 
 11,692 

 2,898,455 

 1,498,306 
 299,266 
 128,322 
 89,932 
 62,407 

 177,209 
 355,164 

-
 32,880 

 2,643,486 

 16,799 
-
-

 16,799 

 111,391 
 62,778 
 4,857 
 2,789 
 4,923 
 3,378 
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 17,191 

 229,727 

 2,890,012 

 8,443 
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0%

79%
-6%
20%
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10%
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57%
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64%
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15%

11%
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0%
0%
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9%
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36%
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-28%
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17%
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66%
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29%
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0%
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100%

36%
2%

21%
34%
1%

14%
-34%

8%
79%
21%

17%
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 4,110,780 
-

 4,133 
 1,330,629 

 10,573 
 5,456,115 

 99,096 
 76,328 

 1,173,697 
-

 167,651 
 1,516,772 

 6,972,887 

 3,851,765 

 565,580 
-

 4,417,345 

-
-

 397,763 
 397,763 

 4,815,108 

 2,157,779 

 2,200 
 656,815 

 1,369,911 
 38,991 

-

 89,862 
 2,157,779 

 2,368,396 
-

 82,781 
 55,260 

 2,506,437 

 1,278,095 
 267,522 
 77,117 
 91,002 
 48,524 

 147,517 
 328,765 

-
 39,088 

 2,277,630 

-
-
-
-

 82,152 
 61,266 
 4,000 
 2,089 
 4,874 
 2,961 
 5,555 

 17,303 
 9,616 

 189,816 

 2,467,446 

 38,991 

9%
0%

-2%
87%
12%
22%

52%
187%

-5%
0%

65%
6%

18%

12%

23%
0%

14%

0%
0%

66%
66%

17%
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0%
-6%
41%
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0%

-41%
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26%
0%

14%
17%
26%

27%
23%
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5%

15%
21%
15%
0%
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22%

0%
0%
0%
0%

8%
13%

-30%
-23%
15%

-29%
43%
15%

-18%
7%

21%

-189%

Statement of Financial Position
ASSETS
Non-Current Assets
Property and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Intangible assets
Long term investments
Long term deposits
Total Non-Current Assets

Current Assets
Advances and prepayments
Accrued income and other receivables
Short term investments
Books, copies, uniforms and other school supplies 
Cash and bank balances
Total Current Assets

Total Assets

Non-Current Liabilities
Deferred income relating to operating fixed assets
Deferred income relating to school support, grants and
 children education
Lease liabilities
Total Non-Current Liabilities

Current Liabilities
Current portion of deferred income relating to school
 support, grants and children education
Current portion of lease liabilities
Accrued and other liabilities
Total Current Liabilities

Total Liabilities

Total Net Assets

FUNDS
Capital fund
General fund
Endowment fund
(Deficit) / Surplus of income over expenditure
Foreign currency translation reserve
Unrealized gain on remeasurement of available for
 sale investments
Total Funds

Statement of Income and Expenditure
INCOME
Donations and concessional tuition fees
Fair value of contributed land
Income on investments - net 
Other income / (loss)
Total income

OPERATING EXPENDITURE
Education Programme
School expenditures
Books, copies, uniforms and other school supplies
Repair and maintenance charges
School vehicle running and maintenance
Teachers' training
School supervision and monitoring
Depreciation on school assets
Depreciation on right-of-use assets
Other expenses
Total Education Programme Expenses

Other programmes
Post matric scholarship
Community development programmes
COVID-19 response appeal
Total Other Programme Expenses

Programme Administration
Salaries and other benefits
Marketing expense
Vehicle running and maintenance
Travelling and conveyance
Utilities
Communication
Printing and stationery
Depreciation
Other expenses
Total Programme Administration Expenses

Total Operating Expenditure

(Deficit) / Surplus of income over expenditure for the year

Statement of Financial Position
ASSETS
Non-Current Assets
Property and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Intangible assets
Long term investments
Long term deposits
Total Non-Current Assets

Current Assets
Advances and prepayments
Accrued income and other receivables
Short term investments
Books, copies, uniforms and other school supplies 
Cash and bank balances
Total Current Assets

Total Assets

Non-Current Liabilities
Deferred income relating to operating fixed assets
Deferred income relating to school support, grants and
 children education
Lease liabilities
Total Non-Current Liabilities

Current Liabilities
Current portion of deferred income relating to school
 support, grants and children education
Current portion of lease liabilities
Accrued and other liabilities
Total Current Liabilities

Total Liabilities

Total Net Assets

FUNDS
Capital fund
General fund
Endowment fund
(Deficit) / Surplus of income over expenditure
Foreign currency translation reserve
Unrealized gain on remeasurement of available for
 sale investments
Total Funds

Statement of Income and Expenditure
INCOME
Donations and concessional tuition fees
Fair value of contributed land
Income on investments - net 
Other income / (loss)
Total income

OPERATING EXPENDITURE
Education Programme
School expenditures
Books, copies, uniforms and other school supplies
Repair and maintenance charges
School vehicle running and maintenance
Teachers' training
School supervision and monitoring
Depreciation on school assets
Depreciation on right-of-use assets
Other expenses
Total Education Programme Expenses

Other programmes
Post matric scholarship
Community development programmes
COVID-19 response appeal
Total Other Programme Expenses

Programme Administration
Salaries and other benefits
Marketing expense
Vehicle running and maintenance
Travelling and conveyance
Utilities
Communication
Printing and stationery
Depreciation
Other expenses
Total Programme Administration Expenses

Total Operating Expenditure

(Deficit) / Surplus of income over expenditure for the year

121%
0%

-12%
-58%
-1%
81%

1%
30%
55%
0%

107%
57%

74%

0.4%

-5%
0%
0%

100%
0%
2%

58%

4%

223%

0%
1%

28%
61353%
-100%

126%
223%

28%
100%
229%
33%

206%

41%
-11%
-32%
38%
0.2%
44%
19%
0%

-9%
27%

7%
100%

0%
287%

16%
-19%

5%
6%

-8%
56%
35%
13%

-10%
4%

27%

61353%

The Citizens Foundation
Six Year's Horizontal Analysis (Rs. In 000)
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Glossary of Selective Terms

AFS            Available For Sale

Board            Board of Directors

CDC            Central Depository Company of Pakistan

CCG            Code of Corporate Governance

ERP            Enterprise Resource Planning

FBR            Federal Board of Revenue

GoP            Government of Pakistan

IAS            International Accounting Standards

ICAP            Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan

ICMAP            Institute of Cost and Management Accountants of Pakistan

IFAC            International Federation of Accountants

IFRIC            International Financial Reporting Interpretation Committee

IFRS            International Financial Reporting Standards

KIBOR            Karachi Inter-Bank Offer Rate

NBV            Net Book Value

NRV            Net Realisable Value

SECP            Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan

TFC            Term Finance Certificate

Abbreviation Description

Financial Calendar

Incorporation of the Foundation           24 September 1996

1st Quarter Results

2nd Quarter Results

3rd Quarter Results

4th Quarter Results

24th Annual General Meeting

30 October 2019

06 February 2020

29 April 2020

31 August 2020

Scheduled on 29 October 2020

Financial Year 2019-20 Date of Issuance

1st Quarter Results

2nd Quarter Results

3rd Quarter Results

4th Quarter Results

23rd Annual General Meeting

31 October 2018

21 February 2019

30 April 2019

22 August 2019

15 October 2019

Financial Year 2018-19 Date of Issuance

Calendar of Major Events
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TCF O�ces - Pakistan

Karachi
Omaima Nadeem
Plot No. 20, Sector - 14, Korangi Industrial Area
Karachi - 74900
+92-21-111-823-823 | info@tcf.org.pk 

Lahore
Ali Safdar Raja
91-C Broadway Commercial Area, Phase-VIII DHA, Lahore
+92-42-37135871-76 | ali.safdar@tcf.org.pk

Islamabad
Syeda Mizhgan Kirmani
Service Road, Gangal West, Fazayia Colony 
(PO Fazayia), Rawalpindi
+92-51-4578228, +92-51-4578229

Australia

Sanam Thariani
42 Foxall Road, North Kellyville, NSW 2155, Sydney, Australia
+614-23331665 | www.tcfaustralia.org

Bahrain

Shahzadi Hussain
Palace Garden 4, Villa 46, Road 45, Gate 132, Block 545
Saar, Bahrain | +973-33055852

Canada

Sajid Salman
2010 Winston Park Drive, Suite 200, Oakville,
ON L6H 5R7, Canada
+1 289 291-7701 or 7702 / 7703  | www.tcfcanada.org

Italy

Gretchen Romig
Corso di Porta Nuova 38, 20121 Milan, Italy
+39 335 813 4309, +39 324 842 2289
www.italianfriends-tcf.org

CONTACT US

Norway

Nada Ahmed
Kirkeveien 90A, 0364 Oslo, Norway
+47 971 38 781 | www.tcfnorway.org

Switzerland

Azam Ali
Chemin de la Perche 11, 1217 Meyrin / Geneva
Switzerland
+41 22 785 5926,  | +41 76 585 5926

United Arab Emirates

Dubai
Sarah Sheeraz Siddiqui
Office No. 118, Building No 4 
International Humanitarian City, Dubai Industrial
City Headquarters, P.O. Box No. 506007
Dubai, UAE
+971-50-7084724, +971-43681096
info@tcfuae.org

Abu Dhabi
Shahab Haider
+971-4-3681096  | +971-4-2222126

United Kingdom

Sania Sufi
48 Charlotte Street
London W1T 2NS, UK
+44 (0) 20 3585 3011 / 12 | www.tcf-uk.org

United States of America

Fakhia Rashid
9494 Southwest Freeway, Suite 620, Houston
TX 77074, USA
+1 888 729-3022 | www.tcfusa.org



Notes Relat ed to Build-a-School  

Costs are for build cycle of 2019-20 and are subject to revision. Rates are calculated on average construction costs and may vary for different locations.

A school construction project can only be taken up with the provision of school support for a minimum of three years (included in the figures cited above).

All school construction projects in earthquake zones will take into account additional costs for special earthquake resistant architecture.

CREATE
LASTING CHANGE

Your gift of education 
for the world's most 
vulnerable individuals 
will give them the 
power to dream of a 
better future.

Educate-a-Child

PKR 1,600 (Monthly)
PKR 19,200 (Yearly)

Educate-a-Child
KG to Matric

PKR 210,000
(One Time)

Support-a-School 
Unit for a Year

PKR 255,000 (Monthly)
PKR 3,100,000 (Yearly)

Sponsor-a-Classroom 
for a Year

PKR 42,000 (Monthly)
PKR 500,000 (Yearly)

Build-a-School

PKR 28,000,000
(Build Cost – One Time)
+
PKR 18,500,000
(5–Year Support)

Alumni
Scholarships

PKR 18,000 for Intermediate Student (One Time)
PKR 1,400,000 for Tier A University Student (One Time)
PKR 600,000 for Tier B University Student (One Time)

Support Adult
Literacy Learner

PKR 2,600
(One Time)
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EASY WAYS
TO GIVE

TCF believes education is the best investment in peace, prosperity
and our shared future. Here are the ways you can make a meaningful 
contribution through your Zakat, Sadqah or general donations to
our work. 

Donate Online

The simplest way to support TCF is to make a one-time or a recurring gift online at www.tcf.org.pk. A monthly 
contribution will support our work year-round.

Call for a Collection

Call us at 0800 00 823 to have your donation cash or cheque picked up from your doorstep, anywhere in Pakistan. 

Send a Cheque

Please make your cheque in favour of “The Citizens Foundation” and then mail it to us at Plot 20, Sector 14, Korangi 
Industrial Area, Karachi, Pakistan.

Make Bank Transfer

You can donate by making a direct transfer to our bank accounts mentioned on our website 
www.tcf.org.pk/donation-information. If you wish to receive a receipt acknowledging your contribution, please email us 
at info@tcf.org.pk

Raise Funds Online

Raise invaluable funds for TCF by creating your own digital campaign at support.tcf.org.pk
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Financial Statements of this Annual 
Report are printed on recycled paper.

Publication of TCF Annual Report 2020
has been sponsored by a well wisher.

Head Office: Plot No. 20, Sector 14, Korangi Industrial Area, Karachi, Pakistan
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